
 

 
 

 
 

AGENDA PAPERS FOR 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 
 

Date: Thursday, 15 February 2024 
 

Time:  6.30 pm 
 

Place:  Committee Suite, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford,  
Manchester M32 0TH 

PLEASE NOTE: A link to the meeting can be found below: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjwbIOW5x0NSe38sgFU8bKg 

 
 

AGENDA    ITEM  

 

1.  ATTENDANCES   

 
To note attendances, including Officers and any apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 

Members to give notice of any Personal or Prejudicial Interest and the nature 
of that Interest relating to any item on the Agenda in accordance with the 
adopted Code of Conduct. 

 

 

3.  MINUTES   

 
To receive and, if so determined, to approve as a correct record the Minutes 
of the meeting held on 18th January, 2024.  

 

 

 
 

3 

4.  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   

 
A maximum of 15 minutes will be allocated to public questions submitted in 
writing to Democratic Services (democratic.services@trafford.gov.uk) by 4pm 

on the working day prior to the meeting. Questions must be within the remit of 
the Committee or be relevant to items appearing on the agenda and will be 

submitted in the order in which they were received. 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCjwbIOW5x0NSe38sgFU8bKg


Planning and Development Management Committee - Thursday, 15 February 2024 

   
 

 

5.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT   

 
To consider a report of the Head of Planning and Development, to be tabled 

at the meeting.  
 

 

6.  APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC   

 
To consider the attached reports of the Head of Planning and Development, 

for the following applications. 
 

Applications for Planning Permission 

Application Site Address/Location of Development 

107465  Regent Road Car Park, Altrincham 

111866  

Trafford General Hospital, Moorside Road, Flixton 

M41 5SL 

111870  Donnington, 32 Grange Road, Bowdon WA14 3EE 

112142  93 Stockport Road, Timperley WA15 7LH 

112242  Former 1-3, Old Crofts Bank, Davyhulme M41 7AA 

112327  

Land Adjacent To 24 Erlington Avenue, Old Trafford 

M16 0FW 

112334  203 Woodhouse Lane East Timperley WA15 6AS 
 

 

 
 

6 

7.  INFRASTRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENT IN NEW CARRINGTON - 

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS   

 

To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning and Development.  
 

 

 
 

7 

8.  PROPOSED ARTICLE 4(1) DIRECTION - FORMER STRETFORD 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL / BASFORD HOUSE, SEYMOUR GROVE, OLD 
TRAFFORD   

 
To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning and Development.  
 

 

 
 

 
8 

9.  URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)   

 

Any other item or items which by reason of special circumstances (to be 
specified) the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion should be considered at 
this meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 

SARA TODD 

Chief Executive 
 
Membership of the Committee 

 
Councillors B.G. Winstanley (Chair), L. Walsh (Vice-Chair), Babar, M. Cordingley, 

Z.C. Deakin, P. Eckersley, W. Hassan, D. Jerrome, S. Maitland, M. Minnis, T. O'Brien, 
S. Procter and M.J. Taylor. 
 

https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S2ZC16QLN0E00
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S3K4Z3QLFLD00
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S47LVNQLFU700
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S49V0EQLFVE00


Planning and Development Management Committee - Thursday, 15 February 2024 

   
 

 

Further Information 

For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact: 
 

Michelle Cody, Democratic Officer 
Tel: 0161 912 2775 
Email: michelle.cody@trafford.gov.uk  

 
This agenda was issued on 6th February, 2024 by the Legal and Democratic Services 

Section, Trafford Council, Trafford Town Hall, Talbot Road, Stretford, Manchester 
M32 0TH  
 

 
 

Members of the public may film or record this meeting. Any person wishing to 
photograph, film or audio-record a public meeting is requested to inform Democratic 
Services in order that necessary arrangements can be made for the meeting. Please 

contact the Democratic Services Officer 48 hours in advance of the meeting if you 
intend to do this or have any other queries. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

 
 18th JANUARY, 2024 

 
 PRESENT:  
 

 Councillor Winstanley (In the Chair),  
 Councillors Acton (Substitute), Babar, Cordingley, Deakin, Eckersley, Hassan, Leicester 

(Substitute), Maitland, Minnis, O’Brien, S. Procter and M. Taylor.  
 
 In attendance:  Head of Planning and Development (Ms. R. Coley),  

 Principal Highways & Traffic Engineer (Amey) (Mr. G. Evenson), 
 Planning Lawyer (Locum) (Mr. S. Moorhouse), 

 Governance Officer (Miss M Cody).  
 
 APOLOGIES 

 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jerrome and Walsh.  

  
56.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 No Declarations of Interest were made.  
   
57. MINUTES  
 

    RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 14th December, 2023, be 

approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 
58. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 No questions were submitted.  
 
59. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REPORT  

 

 The Head of Planning and Development submitted a report informing Members of 
additional information received regarding applications for planning permission to be 

determined by the Committee.  
 

   RESOLVED:  That the report be received and noted.  
 
60.  APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC 

 
 (a) Permission granted subject to standard conditions prescribed by statute, if any, and 

to any other conditions now determined  
 

 Application No., Address or Site 

 

 Description 

 109314/HHA/22 - 2 Vetchwood 

Gardens, Altrincham. 

 Erection of two single storey side extensions, 

three rooflights to the front elevation with 
other external alterations. 

Agenda Item 3



Planning and Development Management Committee 

18th January, 2024 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
  

 
 (b)  Application deferred 

 
  

 Application No., Address or Site 
 

 Description 

 98788/FUL/19 - Bowdon Lawn 
Tennis Club, Elcho Road, Bowdon. 

 Erection of 9 no. retractable floodlighting 
columns with a maximum height of 6.7 metres 
high supporting 11 no. luminaires with LED 

lamps; 3 no. luminaires to be attached to 
existing lighting columns to courts 9 and 10; 

all to provide lighting to courts 11-13. 
 

 [Note: Consideration of Application 98788/FUL/19 (above) was deferred to allow for 

further consultation with neighbours and with the Council’s Pollution and Licensing 
(Nuisance) Team to enable consideration of revised data and its impact.]  

 
61. VARIATION OF S106 AGREEMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH PLANNING 

APPLICATIONS 93171/FUL/17 AND 98607/VAR/19 BETWEEN TRAFFORD 

BOROUGH COUNCIL AND CITYBRANCH HEALTHCARE LIMITED  

 

 This item was deferred.   
 
 The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and concluded at 6:50 pm.  

 
 



 
 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15th FEBRUARY 2024  
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT  
 

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP, ETC.  
 

PURPOSE 

To consider applications for planning permission and related matters to be determined 

by the Committee.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

As set out in the individual reports attached. Planning conditions referenced in reports 
are substantially in the form in which they will appear in the decision notice. Correction of 
typographical errors and minor drafting revisions which do not alter the thrust or purpose 

of the condition may take place before the decision notice is issued. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

None unless specified in an individual report.  
 

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 

None unless specified in an individual report.  
 
PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

None unless specified in an individual report.  
 

Further information from: Planning Services  
Proper Officer for the purposes of the L.G.A. 1972, s.100D (Background papers): Head 
of Planning and Development  
 

Background Papers:  
In preparing the reports on this agenda the following documents have been used:  

1. The Trafford Local Plan: Core Strategy. 
2. The GM Joint Waste Development Plan Document. 
3. The GM Joint Minerals Development Plan Document. 
4. The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (2006). 
5. Supplementary Planning Documents specifically referred to in the reports.  
6. Government advice (National Planning Policy Framework, Circulars, practice guidance 

etc.).  
7. The application file (as per the number at the head of each report).  
8. The forms, plans, committee reports and decisions as appropriate for the historic 

applications specifically referred to in the reports.  
9. Any additional information specifically referred to in each report.   

 
These Background Documents are available for inspection on the Council’s website.  

Agenda Item 6



  
TRAFFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 15th FEBRUARY 2024  

 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development  

 
INDEX OF APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP etc. PLACED ON 
THE AGENDA FOR DECISION BY THE COMMITTEE 

 

Applications for Planning Permission  

Application 
Site Address/Location of 
Development 

Ward Page Recommendation 

107465 
Regent Road Car Park 
Altrincham 

Altrincham 1 Minded to Grant  

111866 
Trafford General Hospital 
Moorside Road, Flixton, 

M41 5SL 

Davyhulme 28 Grant 

111870 
Donnington, 32 Grange 

Road, Bowdon, WA14 3EE 
Bowdon 47 Refuse  

112142 
93 Stockport Road 
Timperley, WA15 7LH 

Timperley 
Central 

69 Grant 

112242 
Former 1-3, Old Crofts 
Bank, Davyhulme, M41 
7AA 

Urmston 82 Grant 

112327 

Land Adjacent To 24 

Erlington Avenue, Old 
Trafford, M16 0FW 

Longford 124 Grant 

112334 
203 Woodhouse Lane East 
Timperley, WA15 6AS 

Timperley 
North 

145 Grant 

 
Note: This index is correct at the time of printing, but additional applications may be 

placed before the Committee for decision. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S2ZC16QLN0E00
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S3K4Z3QLFLD00
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S47LVNQLFU700
https://pa.trafford.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S49V0EQLFVE00


WARD: Altrincham 107465/VAR/22 DEPARTURE: No 

Application for variation of condition 2 on planning permission 98607/VAR/19 
(Application for variation of condition 2 on planning permission 93171/FUL/17 
to vary the approved plans, to incorporate a glass roof on Block A atrium with 
associated minor amendments throughout Block A, Block B, Multi-Storey Car 
Park and external areas) for amendments to external materials and updates to 
elevations, landscaping and layout. 

Regent Road Car Park, Altrincham, 

APPLICANT:  Citybranch Healthcare Ltd 
AGENT:          Avison Young 

RECOMMENDATION:  MINDED TO GRANT 

The application has been reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as the Multi-Storey Car Park will on completion be transferred to the 
Council who will operate and manage the car park and thus the Council has an 
interest in the application. 

Executive Summary 

The application site relates to the former Regent Road surface level car park in 
Altrincham Town Centre.  The site has been redeveloped following planning approval in 
2019 under planning reference 93171/FUL/17 to provide a new multi-storey car-park 
along with residential and commercial units.  The development is now substantially 
completed.    

The multi-storey car-park will be operated and managed by Trafford Council once 
completed, the Council will become the effective freeholder (999 year lease). 

This application is made by the current owners under Section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 to vary condition 2 (Approved Plans) of planning approval 
98607/VAR/19.  The applicant proposes a number of minor changes to the buildings, 
including changes to some external materials.  A S106 legal agreement was attached to 
both previous planning approvals which secured a financial contribution towards public 
realm improvements in Altrincham and an affordable housing overage clause.  This 
application includes a proposal to remove the overage clause following a financial 
viability review by the applicant. 

The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the Development Plan, the NPPF 
and relevant local and national planning guidance.   

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 1



Officers are satisfied that the proposed development is acceptable in planning terms 
subject to the imposition of the recommended planning conditions.  As such the 
application is recommended for approval. 

SITE 

The application site is located within Altrincham Town Centre.  The site area is 
approximately 0.6ha comprising an irregular form with vehicular access to the site from 
New Street.  The site has historically been used as a surface level public car-park and 
also comprised a small two storey commercial office building (used by Shopmobility and 
Sale & Altrincham Chamber of Commerce) and public toilets.  

Planning permission was granted in January 2019 (Ref: 93171/FUL/17) for the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the site to provide 70 residential apartments across 
two new principle buildings referred to as Block A and Block B along with mixed 
commercial use at ground floor level within both buildings. A new multi-storey car-park 
is also included within the approved development which adjoins Block B.   

The application site is enclosed by predominantly commercial premises along Regent 
Road to the north and Railway Street and The Downs to the south.  To the south east 
side of the site is Lloyd Square which is accessed from Regent Road and provides 
delivery access and parking to commercial premises along the back of Railway Street, 
Regent Road and Kings Court (a development of commercial and retail units accessed 
from Railway Street). Lloyd Square is at a lower level to the Regent Road car park.  The 
Kings Court units can be accessed from Regent Road car park via a pedestrian 
stairway.  One of the Kings Court businesses, Ki Day Spa, has its main entrance onto 
Regent Road Car Park. 

To the north west and west side of the site accessed from New Street are four detached 
apartment blocks, three and four storeys in height with predominantly residential 
development beyond this side of the site.  At the junction of New Street and Regent 
Road are a number of commercial premises including an antiques shop; a window 
blinds business and a residential apartment block. 

To the south and south east of the site is the former Nicks Bar site.  This site along with 
land to the rear of 16-24 The Downs is currently being developed for residential and 
commercial use. 

Parts of the site at the northern corner with New Street and Regent Road and to the 
south east side within Lloyd Square are located within the Stamford New Road 
Conservation Area.  The site is also located close to a number of other conservation 
areas including The Downs Conservation Area; The Old Market Place Conservation 
Area and the George Street Conservation area. 

There are no listed buildings within the site, the nearest listed building is 32-34 Railway 
Street a three storey building (Grade II), in use as an art gallery.  A blue plaque is sited 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 2



 

 
 

on the side elevation of the Phanthong Thai restaurant which is situated along Regent 
Road and shares a boundary with the application site.  The blue plaque is in recognition 
of the men who volunteered to fight in World War One and who lived in Chapel Street 
which was demolished as part of post-war redevelopment of the site. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This application includes several requests for consideration by the Council: 
 

 an application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
vary condition 2 (Approved Plans) of planning approval 98607/VAR/19.   

 approval of submitted details: 
- soft and hard landscaping proposals in compliance with condition 7 of 

permission 98607/VAR/19  
- external materials in compliance with conditions 5 and 6 and  

 amendement to the S106 legal agreement to:  
- omit the affordable housing overage clause, citing viability reasons, further 

detail on this detailed under the Developer Contributions section of this 
report.   

 
The changes proposed to the consented scheme are summarised as follows:- 
 
Block A 
 

- Omission of natural stone to ground floor elevations in lieu of approved facing 
brick (Colorado Red Multi Wienerberger in Flemish bond) 

- Aluminium pressed band between ground and first floor around the entire 
building. 

- Metal Grillage/Screens omitted from the end of the recessed areas between 
blocks A, B and C and which extended from first floor to roof level on the side 
elevations in.  The grills have been removed for fire safety reasons to allow 
windows and AOVs (automated opening vents) to open unrestricted.  The 
windows serve the end of the communal corridors between wings B and C and 
also habitable room windows to wing A. 

- One of the two pairs of double doors serving the plant room area has been 
omitted from the New Street elevation and relocated on the south elevation 
facing towards the access road within the application site.  The plant room doors 
on the south elevation will be bronze coloured ppc coated steel doors (louvered) 
in lieu of the previous grill frame doors. Electricity North West have requested the 
change to the sub-station doors in order that they comply with their requirements. 

- It is proposed to have the brickwork return on the balcony reveals by 225mm and 
then continue with an aluminium panel which can be removed for easy 
maintenance access to the concealed rainwater pipes 

 
Block B & Multi-Storey Car Park  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 3



 

 
 

- Ground floor elevation of Block B was approved to have a fair faced concrete 
finish with brickwork to the upper floors.  In order to reflect the change to the 
ground floor elevations of Block A it is proposed to also finish the ground floor 
external elevations of Block B in the approved brick work for the upper floors of 
Block B (All White Bromo by Camtech stretcher bond). 

- Aluminium pressed band between ground and first floor around the entire 
building. 

- It is proposed to have the brickwork return on the balcony reveals by 225mm and 
then continue with an aluminium panel which can be removed for easy 
maintenance access to the concealed rainwater pipes. 

- The ground floor elevation to the car park was approved originally as fair faced 
concrete panels and then subsequently as large format tiles.  It is proposed to 
replace these with concrete render which is similar to the original external 
material as approved.  

 
Landscaping  
 

- Main square between Blocks A & B will have a number of changes to external 
levels with pedestrian steps introduced.  A level access is still provided to allow 
for wheelchairs and prams to access the site unrestricted. 

- Steps also provided to the northern boundary of the site at the junction with New 
Street and Regent Road. 

- Ramp access from Lloyd square realigned. 
 
Parking 
 

- The applicant has recently obtained approval of cycle and motorcycle details that 
had been submitted as part of a discharge of conditions application 
(108469/CND/22).   Reference to these approved details will be detailed within 
proposed condition 21 of this application. 

- The 14 accessible spaces within the MSCP shall all be located on the ground 
floor, 11 of which will be managed by Trafford Council and three of which will be 
allocated for the residents of Block A and also the commercial uses. 

- The residents of Block B will use the car-parking spaces within the panhandle 
external car-park area.  Minor amendments to this car park have been approved 
under planning reference 108613/FUL/22 which was a standalone application to 
the car-park only. 

 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 4



 

 
 

the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the LDF. Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L1 – Land for New Homes 
L2 – Meeting Housing Needs 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
W1 – Economy 
W2 – Town Centres and Retail 
 
Relevant Strategic Objectives  
SO1 – Meet Housing Needs 
SO3 – Meet Employment Need 
SO4 – Revitalise Town Centres 
SO6 – Reduce The Need To Travel 
SO8 – Protect the Historic Built Environment 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Town & District Shopping Centres 
Stamford New Road Conservation Area 
 
Adjacent to The Downs Conservation Area 
Adjacent to The Old Market Place Conservation Area 
Adjacent to George Street Conservation Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
ENV21 – Conservation Areas 
S6 – Development in Altrincham Town Centre 
T10 – Transport and Land Use in Town Centres 
T18 – New Facilities for Cyclists 
 
Altrincham Town Centre Neighbourhood Business Plan (ATCNBP) Adopted 
November 2017 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 5



 

 
 

Land Allocation Site F – Regent Road Car Park and adjoining land for mixed use 
purposes 
Policy R – New Retail Development  
Policy S – Main (Primary) Shopping and Mixed Use with Ground Floor Active Frontages 
Policy H – Town Centre Housing  
Policy CP – Town Centre Car Parking  
Policy D – Design and Quality 
Policy G – Green Infrastructure  

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 
SPD5.4 - Stamford New Road Conservation Area Appraisal - October 2014 
SPD5.4a - Stamford New Road Conservation Area Management Plan – March 2016   
Altrincham Business Neighbourhood Plan (November 2017) 
SPD1 – Planning Obligations – July 2014 
SPD3 – Parking Standards and Design – February 2012 
PG1 – New Residential Development – 2004 
CIL Charging Schedule 2014 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE 
 
Places for Everyone (PfE) is a Joint Development Plan Document being produced by 
nine Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and 
employment development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects 
environmental assets. PfE was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced on 02 
November 2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the Inspectors 
issued IN39 on 11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this stage of the 
examination that all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to make the Plan 
sound and/or legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard. Consultation on 
the Main Modifications started on 11 October 2023 and closed on 6 December 2023. 
Consequently the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making process and 
substantial weight can be attached to its policies. 
 
Emerging policies relevant to this application are: 

Policy JP-H 1 – Scale, Distribution and Phasing of New Development 
Policy JP-H 2 - Affordability of New Housing 
Policy JP-S 1 – Sustainable Development 
Policy JP-H 3 – Type, Size and Design of New Housing 
Policy JP-H 4 – Density of New Housing 
Policy JP-P1 – Sustainable Places 
Policy JP-P 2 - Heritage 
Policy JP-D2 – Developer Contributions 

 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 6



 

 
 

 
The DLUHC published the latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in December 2023.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 

 
DLUHC published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and was updated 
on 20th November 2023. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
111034/VLA/23 - Variation of the original Section 106 Agreement dated 8th November 
2019 between Trafford Borough Council and Citybranch Healthcare Limited linked with 
Planning Reference 93171/FUL/17 and the supplemental S106 Agreement dated 17th 
March 2020 between Trafford Borough Council and Citybranch Healthcare Limited 
linked to Planning Reference 98607/VAR/19, in order to amend the viability value 
contribution provisions referred to in these two agreements – Withdrawn 23rd January 
2024. 
 
108613/FUL/22 – Creation of new pedestrian and vehicular access to New Street for 
the external ground level ‘panhandle’ car park only with associated entrance barrier, 
amendments to floor levels, creation of two stepped flights of stairs with retaining wall, 
new lighting, landscaping and associated works – Approved 11th October 2022 
 
103340/FUL/21 - Use of Block B commercial unit as a flexible use within the E Use 
Class (Commercial, Business and Service) and C2 (Residential Institution) – Approved 
01/04/2021 
 
102310/NMA/20 – Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
98607/VAR/19 to allow minor changes to the wording of conditions 5, 6 and 23 – 
Approved 11/02/2021 
 
100721/NMA/20 – Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
93171/FUL/17 to allow for an alteration to the building line, change of direction of 2 
ramps, minor reorganisation of the lower ground floor plan and an extension  to the 
parapet wall – Approved 28/07/2020. 
 
98607/VAR/19 - Application for variation of condition 2 on planning permission 
93171/FUL/17 to vary the approved plans, to incorporate a glass roof on Block A atrium 
with associated minor amendments throughout Block A, Block B, Multi-Storey Car Park 
and external areas – Approved 17/03/2020 
 
97478/NMA/19 - Application for a non-material amendment to planning permission 
93171/FUL/17 to allow for the following amendments, Block A - Relocation of lift core, 
reconfiguration and increase to the internal residential and commercial floorspace and 
associated external alterations to the building.  Block B - Reconfiguration of ground floor 
layout including relocation of entrances and cycle store area; increase to the internal 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 7



 

 
 

residential and commercial floorspace through introduction of internal mezzanine floor 
and internal reconfiguration and associated external alterations to the building – 
Approved 29.07.2019 

93171/FUL/17 - Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide two 
buildings comprising 70no residential apartments (Use Class C3), flexible retail, 
restaurant and business (Use Classes A1-A5, D1 and B1), and a multi-storey car park, 
alongside new public realm, car parking and associated works – Approved 17/01/2019 

 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The following information has been submitted in support of the application and are 
referred to as appropriate in this report:- 
 

- Covering Letter 
- Updated Plans 
- Financial Viability Assessment 
- Draft Deed of Modification (S106A Agreement) 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Local Highway Authority (LHA) – No objections, comments detailed within 
Observations section of the report. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – No objections  
 
Heritage and Urban Design Manager – No objections, comments detailed within 
Observations section of the report. 
 
Trafford Council Tree Officer – No objections, comments detailed within Observations 
section of the report. 
 
United Utilities – No comments received at time of report preparation. 
 
Altrincham Town Centre Business Neighbourhood Forum - No comments received 
at time of report preparation. 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

None 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. A Section 73 application grants a new planning permission in its own right.  In 
terms of decision taking, regard should be had to any changes on site or in the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 8



 

 
 

surrounding area and any changes to planning policy that may have occurred in 
the interim.   
 

2. In the period since planning permission was originally granted (January 2019) 
and the subsequent Section 73 application (March 2020), it is not considered that 
there have been any material changes in this regard which would justify a 
different approach being taken in respect of any planning matter relevant to this 
development as a whole.  This conclusion also takes into account the publication 
of a revised NPPF in December 2023 and with subsequent updates to NPPG.  It 
is recognised that PfE is now a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications, however it is not considered that the PfE policies would 
have any significant implications for this application. 
 

3. The application proposes the variation to the approved plans condition (Condition 
2 of 98607/VAR/19) to facilitate the stated amendments to the approved 
development.  When having regard to these key revisions in this proposal relative 
to the approved scheme, it is considered the most relevant policies are Policy L7 
(Design) L8 (Planning Obligations); R1 (Historic Environment) and R3 (Green 
Infrastructure). 
 

4. Although some aspects of relevant development plan policy are out of date (e.g. 
the requirement to ‘enhance’ in Policy R1 having regard for this proposal), in 
relation to this particular application, when considering the overall list of ‘most 
important’ policies the development plan is considered to be up to date for 
decision making purposes.  

 
5. The main planning issues considered under the original application were:-   

 

 Principle of development  

 Housing Delivery  

 Residential Amenity 

 Highways 

 Trees & Ecology 

 Developer contributions 

 Heritage 

 Drainage/Flooding 
 

6. No further information has been submitted in support of the planning application, 
save for the submission of revised plans and drawings. Information submitted in 
support of planning applications 93171/FUL/17 and 98607/VAR/19 remain 
relevant to the determination of this application.  

 
7. There is no requirement to revisit these other issues through the determination of 

this application other than where they are affected by the proposed variation. The 
main change proposed under this application is the amendment to external 
materials as originally proposed to be used.   

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 9



 

 
 

 
8. There are a number of minor internal and external changes to the approved 

buildings as listed earlier in this report along with landscaping details. 
 

DESIGN & HERITAGE 
 

9. As the proposal has the potential to affect the setting of a listed building, the 
statutory requirement under Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which they possess must be taken into account.   

 
10. The NPPF identifies the setting of a heritage asset as ‘the surroundings in which 

a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the 
asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or 
negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to 
appreciate that significance or may be neutral’. 

 
11. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF calls on local planning authorities plans to take 

account of the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness. Furthermore paragraph 201 states that local 
planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development 
affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence 
and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise 
any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal. 
 

12. Paragraph 205 of the NPPF establishes that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be).  
 

13. Paragraph 206 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development 
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. 
 

14. Paragraph 208 sets out that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 

15. The NPPF sets out that harm can either be substantial or less than substantial 
and the NPPG advises that there will also be cases where development affects 
heritage assets but from which no harm arises.  Significance is defined in the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 10



 

 
 

NPPF as the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of 
its heritage interest, which includes any archaeological, architectural, artistic or 
historic interest.  The significance of a heritage asset also derives from an asset’s 
setting, which is defined in the NPPF as ‘the surroundings in which a heritage 
asset is experienced’.   
 

16. Policy R1 of the Core Strategy states that all new development must take 
account of surrounding building styles, landscapes and historic distinctiveness 
and that developers must demonstrate how their development will complement 
and enhance existing features of historic significance including their wider 
settings, in particular in relation to conservation areas, listed buildings and other 
identified heritage assets. The requirement to enhance is not contained within 
NPPF policy and in this regard R1 is Inconsistent with the NPPF. 
 

17. No less weight is to be given to the impact of the development on heritage assets 
as the statutory duties in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 are still engaged. Heritage policy in the NPPF can be given significant 
weight and is the appropriate means of determining the acceptability of the 
development in heritage terms. 

 
18. During the determination of the original application and subsequent Section 73 

application a number of designated heritage assets were identified in the context 
of the site, as follows:- 
 
Conservation Areas  

- The Stamford New Road Conservation Area -  (Part of the site is located within 
the SNRCA at the north-west side of the site, Apartment Block A is located in the 
SNRCA and part of Lloyd Square  to the south east of the site is also within the 
SNRCA) 

- The Downs Conservation Area - (A section of the application site to the 
south/south western extremity is adjacent to the boundary of the DCA) 

- The Old Market Place Conservation Area – (A section of the application site to 
the northern extremity of the site shares a boundary with the OMPCA) 

- The George Street Conservation Area – (The boundary of the George Street 
Conservation Area adjoins the boundary of the Stamford New Road 
Conservation directly opposite 9-15 Regent Road so it does not share an 
immediate boundary with the application site. 

 
Listed Buildings 

- 32-34 Railway Street – A three storey Grade II listed building, located in a south 
easterly direction from the application site, formerly a bank current in use as an 
art gallery.  This was the nearest listed building to the application site 

- 32-34 The Downs – A pair of Grade II listed dwellinghouses circa.1840 
- 2-8 Normans Place – A Grade II listed residential terrace, four properties which 

originate circa. 1810. 
- The Elms and Richmond House Normans Place – Two Grade II listed buildings 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 11



 

 
 

 
Scheduled Ancient Monument (Heritage Asset)  

- The Downs Conservation Appraisal identifies a monument at a site (12-14 The 
Downs) close to the application site.  The Aitkenites Chapel, the Historic 
Environment record states that the building has been destroyed, although the 
appraisal states that the building is still present with the top elevation still seen 
externally and internally. 

 
Archaeological Significance (Non-Designated Heritage Asset) 

 
- An archaeological desk based assessment was submitted during the 

determination of 93171/FUL/17.   The assessment identified the archaeological 
interest as relating to remains from the industrial period, in particular potential 
buried remains of early to late 19th century housing and industrial structures 
along Hope Square, Albert Street and parts of Chapel Street and the late 18th 
century Wesleyan Chapel.  A condition was attached on the original approval for 
submission of a written scheme of investigation (WSI), which was subsequently 
partly discharged.  A condition was also attached on the subsequent Section 73 
application 98607/VAR/19 requiring a completion report confirming the 
requirements of the WSI had been fulfilled.  This condition was discharged in 
December 2021 in agreement with GMAAS. 

 
19. It was concluded during the determination of 93171/FUL/17 that the proposed 

development would largely preserve the special architectural and historic interest 
and significance of the listed building.  Any harm (a degree of which is accepted 
inevitable in response to any development) to its setting was considered to be 
less than substantial.  With regards the Conservation areas it was considered 
that due to the scale and overall height of the development that there would be a 
degree of harm to the character and appearance and significance of the 
Stamford New Road Conservation Area, The Downs Conservation Area, The Old 
Market Place Conservation Area and the George Street Conservation Area.  The 
level of harm was considered to be ‘less than substantial harm’.   

 
20. In line with advice within the NPPF the identified harm had to be weighed against 

the public benefits of the proposal.  The public benefits identified included:- 
 

- Securing a number of objectives identified in the Core Strategy and ANBP 
- Redevelopment of a long term under used site which detracted from the 

character of the town 
- Deliver a sustainable development of 70 new apartments on a brownfield site 

and making a significant contribution to the Councils housing land supply and the 
target of 550 new residential units in Altrincham Town Centre. 

- Boost the town centre economy 
- Provide new retail and commercial floorspace 
- Providing a redeveloped car park as identified in the ANBP 
- Establish a commemorative public space in Chapel Street 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 12



 

 
 

- Improvement to the public realm within Lloyds Square as identified in the ANBP 
- Secures financial contributions towards public realm improvements in the wider 

town centre, New Homes Bonus and CIL contributions. 
 

21. The main changes to the scheme relate to the omission of the natural stone to 
the ground floor elevations of Block A, this is the only building within the 
development located within a Conservation Area (SNRCA).  The applicant had 
advised the LPA that they had encountered difficulties in sourcing materials and 
also securing the services of construction companies to undertake the work.  The 
issues related to Brexit and the pandemic have been highlighted as the two main 
difficulties leading to uncertainty, lengthy delivery dates, limited availability of 
materials and general erratic and uncertain pricing.  The applicant has sought to 
consider revised materials/design approach to avoid costly and disruptive delays 
in delivering the development.   
 

22. It was considered that the most appropriate material would be to finish the 
ground floor elevation in the previously approved facing brick for Block A 
(Colorado Red Multi Wienerberger) in Flemish bond.  A number of the upper floor 
windows had projecting surrounds in natural stone.  It is proposed to replace 
these surrounds with projecting aluminium stone effect, a sample of which was 
viewed by officers on site and considered an appropriate alternative, having 
rejected a number of other proposed cladding systems. 
 

23. Block B, which is not within a conservation area, but is adjacent to the SNRCA 
was approved with a fair faced concrete finish to ground floor elevations and 
facing brick to upper floors.  It is now proposed to also complete the ground floor 
elevations in the approved facing brick (All White Bromo by Camtech stretcher 
bond).  The multi-storey car park which is also located adjacent to the SNRCA 
was approved with fair face concrete finish to ground floor elevation 
(predominantly the north elevation of the car park).  It is proposed to change the 
material to a concrete render which has been viewed by officers on site and 
considered an acceptable alternative. 
 

24. The Councils Heritage and urban Design Manager has been consulted on the 
proposals and has stated ‘I note the revisions in comparison with the approved 
schemes 98607/VAR/19 & 93171/FUL/17. Whilst it is disappointing that the 
applicant is no longer pursuing the quality materials previously proposed, it is 
understood there have been detailed discussions regarding alternative materials. 
I am less convinced by the proposed cement panels to the carpark, however I 
would welcome landscaping to obscure this element of the building if possible.  I 
confirm I have no objections on heritage grounds.’ 
 

25. The additional minor changes (summarised earlier in this report) proposed 
across the development are not considered to result in any fundamental change 
to the scale, form and layout of the approved scheme. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 13



 

 
 

26. Given the previous conclusions reached on heritage assets, it is considered the 
proposed amendments would not change this position in regards to the nearest 
listed building at 32-34 Railway Street and the Conservation Areas.  The advice 
within the NPPF (Paragraph 207) in terms of the previously identified harm had 
to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal and these benefits 
would still therefore apply in terms of outweighing the identified harm for the 
reasons stated. 
 
External Materials  
 

27. Condition 5 of planning approval 98607/VAR/19 required details of each window 
and balcony type in the development and the cladding system of the multi-storey 
car-park.  The applicant as part of this application has provided a package of 
plans and information to address the requirements of the condition.  In addition 
condition 6 of planning approval 98607/VAR/19 requires details and samples of 
the materials to be used on the external elevations of the buildings.   
 

28. The applicant has provided a detailed materials schedule of all external materials 
along with relevant plans with samples of the materials viewed by officers both 
on site and a submitted materials sample plan.  The external materials are all 
considered acceptable and appropriate for the development. A condition is 
proposed to ensure development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 

LANDSCAPING & TREES 
 

29. Condition 7 of planning approval 98607/VAR/19 requires submission and 
approval of all soft and hard landscaping works prior to the first occupation of any 
part of the development.  The applicant as part of this current application has 
submitted the details of the landscaping to reflect the current layout iteration of 
the site. 
 

30. In terms of tree planting, 30 new trees are proposed and include as follows:- 
 

- 1x Oriental Plane (semi mature) 
- 6x Broad Leaved Cockspur Thorn (semi-mature) 
- 1x Tibetan Cherry (semi-mature) 
- 4x Callery Pear Chanticleer (semi mature pleached frame) 
- 3x Sweet Gum 
- 6x Apple serviceberry ‘Robin Hill’ (multi-stem) 
- 1 x River Birch (multi-stem) 
- 3x Cornelian Cherry (multi-stem) 
- 5x Tibetan Cherry (multi-stem) 

 
31. This level of tree planting reflects the suggested level of new tree planting 

anticipated at the time of the determination of the initial planning application 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 14



 

 
 

(circa.30 trees).  A total of 10 trees were removed from within the site as part of 
the development works with an additional four trees just outside the site 
boundary removed to facilitate development, these four trees on Trafford 
Housing Trust and Council owned land.   The applicant is also proposing 9 linear 
metres of common Alder hedgerow and 40 linear metres of Portuguese Laurel as 
part of the landscaping proposals. 
 

32. The applicant is also proposing a significant level of shrub and herbaceous 
planting throughout the site.  The landscaping plans also include a ‘rain garden 
area’ to the north side of Block B.  The Councils tree officer has considered the 
soft landscaping proposals and has raised no objections.  The new trees will be 
planted in a structural soil system (trees with hard landscaping surface above) 
which has been used in the public realm trees in Altrincham planted 
approximately seven years ago and thriving.  The tree officer has no objections 
to this method. 

 
33. The hard landscaping proposals includes natural stone paving around Block A 

and clay paving to the north side of Block B and extending up to Block A which 
will comprise a new public realm area referred to as Chapel square.  The scheme 
includes raised planters, benches, cycle stands and associated step access and 
ramps to account for changes in levels.  The area between Block A and the 
adjacent Thai restaurant will have a more formalised landscaped area by the 
existing memorial plaque commemorating the ‘bravest little street’.  The 
proposed soft and hard landscaping proposals are considered acceptable in this 
location and will contribute to a new vibrant public realm area as well as 
improving the visual amenity within the site.  The LHA had asked for clarification 
that the accessible parking space on the lower ground level to Lloyd Square 
would have a ramp access up to the ground level of Block B, the applicant has 
confirmed that the accessible ramp is still provided and is completed on site. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 

 
34. It is understood that within the multi-storey car park there has been a number of 

elements of the building construction that have been identified by the Councils 
Estates section as being below the quality and finish that would be expected.  
These matters are being pursued directly with the applicant outside of the 
planning process by the Estates team albeit if becomes apparent that it is 
appropriate to use planning enforcement powers then it is open to officers to do 
so.  The supporting drawings and plans submitted for consideration as part of 
this Section 73 application reflect how the development is proposed to appear 
when fully completed. Members should be mindful that they are making their 
decision based on the information on the submitted plans and not on the quality 
of the development on the ground.  
 

35. It is also relevant to note that the Councils Planning Enforcement team served a 
breach of condition notice upon the applicant in November 2023.  This was 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 15



 

 
 

specifically in relation to ensuring the applicant complete all the car parking, 
servicing and vehicular access arrangements within the development.  Much of 
this work had not been completed in full despite cars parking within the ground 
floor area of the car park.   

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

36. A Section 106 legal agreement was attached to both previous  Planning 
Permissions securing the following:- 

 
- Public Realm Contribution of £250,000.00 towards works in Altrincham 
Town Centre (This contribution has been paid in full to the Council); 
 
- An affordable housing overage clause (referred to as the viability value 
contribution VVC).  This was included within the S106 in the event that the sales 
values of the development increased over and above what was suggested when 
the application was originally submitted.  The applicant’s viability submission at 
the time of the original planning application was accepted, mainly due to the 
costs associated with delivering the multi-storey public car-park on behalf of the 
Council. At the time it was considered that the provision of affordable housing as 
part of the development would render the scheme unviable. The S106 includes a 
formula setting out how the VVC payment is to be calculated in the event that the 
clause is triggered and would be a proportion (50%) of any additional profit uplift 
over and above a defined sale value per square foot. The S106 sets out that any 
contribution would be allocated towards affordable housing provision in the 
Altrincham area.  

 
37. The applicant Citybranch Healthcare Ltd has advised that since the granting of 

Planning Permission there has been extreme economic turbulence and cost 
inflation in part caused by the Covid pandemic and other UK and global factors 
that have had a significant influence on the build programme and the costs 
attributed to the development.  The wording of the VVC clause within each of the 
earlier S106 Agreements associated with the original permission and the last 
variation (which is sought to be varied in this Application) does not allow for such 
factors to be taken into account and only takes account of sales values.  The 
applicant proposes therefore to amend the wording of the clause to allow for a 
review of the relevant viability inputs (to reflect the additional costs) through a 
refreshed viability assessment.  Whilst it is accepted that the development has 
been subject to a number of abnormal events and factors over its duration, the 
revised viability assessment includes a number of elements and inputs on which 
the Councils viability consultant and the applicant disagree.  In part there is some 
evidence of avoidable abortive costs however there is sufficient and compelling 
evidence that the economic climate, including the impact of the Covid 19 
pandemic nationally and globally has significantly affected the delivery timetable 
and costs associated with development to a point at which the development has 
made a significant loss. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 16



 

 
 

 
38. The updated revised viability assessment submitted sets out the actual sales 

values, with the development selling at values significantly above the values set 
out in the original viability assessment.   The S106 set out a hurdle rate or upper 
threshold of £390 per sq/ft. At an average of £470 per sq/ft the actual sales 
values trigger the VVC clause and generate a VVC payment of £1.9m.    
 

39. The applicant has set out that the VVC cannot be paid by this development, as 
the significant increased costs (including the cost of delays) of the development 
have cancelled out any additional profit borne from the increased sales values 
and has ultimately resulted in the scheme making a loss.  The VVC calculation is 
based solely on sales values and does not allow for any other changes in inputs 
i.e. costs to be considered.  Whilst the VVC calculation is based on only a 50% 
proportion of any uplift in sales values (in order to take account of other changes, 
such as cost inflation) in this case, this has not mitigated the impact of the 
uplifted costs and the scheme has made a loss even without the VVC payment 
being factored in. 

 
40. If The Council were to maintain its entitlement to receive the VCC it is likely that 

there would be a dispute following the applicants submission of viability review 
information advising of significant losses.  On that basis, it is highly unlikely that 
no agreement would be reached, or the result of that arbitration would decide in 
their favour taking into account the reality of the development values. This would 
impact on the long term delivery of the development and in particular the public 
car park.  Of relevance is that this development delivers a public car park on 
behalf of the Council.  This was recognised as a significant benefit (including 
income for the Council, provision of a public facility within the town centre and it 
was identified within the Altrincham Business Neighbourhood Plan) of the 
scheme when the planning application was originally considered.  It is a material 
consideration, at this time, that the Council has an interest in ensuring the 
development is completed and accords with the original planning permission 

 
41. Since the granting of Planning Permission L&Q Housing Association (who 

acquired Trafford Housing Trust in 2023) have acquired all the residential units 
within Block B (34 units) to form part of their portfolio of housing stock.  These 
units are currently being used to accommodate their tenants and are utilised as 
social housing in a social rent tenure. They have specifically been utilised to 
decant tenants of the neighbouring L&Q apartment blocks on New Street (Chapel 
Court/Albert Court/Lloyds Court) to facilitate L&Q’s proposals for the 
redevelopment of the New Street site.  More recently L&Q have successfully 
secured grant funding from Homes England for 26 of the 34 units to be social 
rent. This equates to a minimum affordable housing provision of approximately 
37% for the 26 grant funded units alone. This compares to a development plan 
policy requirement of 45% in the Altrincham area (Policy L2 of the Core 
Strategy).Of that 45% Policy L2 requires a 50/50 split between rented and 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 17



 

 
 

intermediate tenures.  The provision of all of the 26 units as social rent is over 
and above the policy requirement. 

 
42. The grant funding process through Homes England requires the affordable 

housing to be provided in perpetuity with the housing association having to pay a 
penalty should the units revert to the open market. This gives the Local Planning 
Authority confidence that the affordable housing on the site will remain available 
as such for at least the foreseeable future.  
 

43. These are located in the centre of Altrincham, in a sustainable location to the 
benefit of existing Altrincham and Trafford residents. Whilst it is noted that these 
units are currently being used to rehouse tenants from the blocks on New Street 
to make way for a redevelopment scheme, that development is also proposed to 
bring forward new affordable homes in the centre of Altrincham.  Officers 
consider it is unlikely that what has been delivered on site could have been 
secured through the planning permission given Homes England funding 
restrictions and is a more favourable outcome in terms of the affordable tenure of 
the units. The current situation on the ground is a positive addition to Altrincham 
giving comfort that affordable housing has been delivered. There is reference in 
the S106 to the VVC being used within the area of Altrincham specifically, and 
this provision of social rented units within the development aligns with this 
objective.  

 
44. The applicant’s proposal to rewrite the VVC section of the agreement to allow for 

viability to be reassessed in full at this time would not be appropriate in this case.  
The combined unique circumstances which are set out in this report are 
considered to demonstrate that the VVC cannot be paid, but the provision of 
affordable homes within the development is such that this offsets the harm.  It is 
therefore considered appropriate to modify the existing S106 Agreements by 
deleting all the relevant planning obligations which require the Viability Value 
Contribution (VVC).  The applicant has agreed to this alternative approach.  

 
45. If the VVC clauses are deleted, the only remaining planning obligation would be 

the Public Realm Contribution.  This contribution which totals £250,000.00 to be 
used specifically for public realm works in Altrincham which was payable prior to 
commencement of development.  The applicant has paid this figure in full and it 
is understood that a significant amount has been spent already on public realm 
improvements within Altrincham, with an amount of approximately £51,500.00 
still left to be committed or spent. The LPA considers there little or no chance of 
this money remaining unspent within the 10 years allowed for it to spend the 
contribution and as such the clause relating to the public realm contribution 
would no longer serve any useful purposes and in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 106a of the Town and Country Planning Act would be deemed to be 
discharged. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 18



 

 
 

46. The Applicant has agreed that the reciprocal obligation for the Council to repay 
any unspent contribution may be deleted and the proposed modification is 
agreed under S106a of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.   

 
47. Noting that the two main planning obligations are discharged or no longer serve a 

planning purpose it is agreed between the Applicant and the LPA that the S106 
overall would no longer serve a useful purpose. It is proposed that the agreement 
should be discharged by way of a Deed of Discharge under S106A Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
CONCLUSION 
 

48. The proposed amendments to the approved scheme are considered acceptable 
and would not fundamentally change the scale and form of the development as 
original approved. The conclusion reached on the original application was that 
‘less than substantial harm’ would arise to a number of designated heritage 
assets, however the public benefits identified on the original application 
assessment and listed earlier in this report  which were considered to outweigh 
that harm, are still applicable in relation to the current proposal.  No other 
significant issues are raised by the changes to the approved plans which would 
warrant a different outcome. The proposal complies with the relevant policies of 
the development plan.  
 

49. The applicant is considered to have demonstrated that the development is not 
capable of providing the VVC given the issues discussed above.  Officers 
conclude that whilst this is far from ideal the unique set of circumstances in this 
case, provide sufficient and compelling evidence to support the applicant’s 
position.  It is therefore proposed that the viability value contribution clause and 
other relevant sections of the S106, are deleted and that no Value Viability 
Contribution would be payable. This is considered to be counter balanced by the 
fact that 26 affordable homes within the social rented tenure (funded through 
Homes England grant) have been delivered on site which delivers the original 
planning purpose of the obligation to provide affordable housing within the 
Altrincham area. On balance, with the on-site provision of affordable housing 
(secured via Homes England funding) but without the VVC, the scheme is 
considered to comply with Policy L2 of the Core Strategy.  
 

50. Taking all the matters raised by the application into account, including the 
amendments to the approved plans, the discharge of the planning obligations 
and the submission of details previously secured by condition, the scheme is 
considered to comply with the development plan when taken as a whole. There 
are no material considerations which would suggest a decision should be taken 
other than in accordance with the development plan. The application is therefore 
recommended for approval. 

 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 19



 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
That Members resolve that they would be MINDED TO GRANT planning permission for 
the development and that the determination of the application hereafter be deferred and 
delegated to the Head of Planning and Development as follows:- 
 

(i) To agree to the formal discharge of S106 Agreements dated 8 November 
2019 and 17 March 2020 by way of a further Deed made under S106a of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (hereinafter 
known as a Deed of Discharge) 

(ii) To carry out minor drafting amendments to any planning condition. 
(iii) That upon satisfactory completion of the above legal agreement that 

planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions 
(unless amended by (ii) above): 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans:- 
 

- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-001-[A] - Site Location Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-200-[M] – Proposed Site Plan - Ground Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-201-[H] - Proposed Site Plan - First Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-202-[H] - Proposed Site Plan - Second Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-203-[H] - Proposed Site Plan - Third Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-204-[H] - Proposed Site Plan - Fourth Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-205-[G] - Proposed Site Plan - Fifth Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-206-[G] - Proposed Site Plan - Roof Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-207-[E] - Proposed Master Plan Mezzanine Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-210-[I] - Block A - Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-211-[G] - Block A -  Proposed First Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-212-[G] - Block A -  Proposed Second Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-213-[G] - Block A -  Proposed Third Floor Plan  
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-214-[G] - Block A -  Proposed Fourth Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-215-[F] - Block A -  Proposed Roof Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-220-[L] - Block B -  Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-221-[F] - Block B -  Proposed First Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-222-[F] - Block B -  Proposed Second Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-223-[F] - Block B -  Proposed Third Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-224-[F] - Block B -  Proposed Fourth Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-225-[F] - Block B -  Proposed Fifth Floor Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-226-[F] - Block B -  Proposed Roof Plan 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-227-[E] - Block B- Proposed Ground Mezzanine Floor  
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-250-[F] - Block A Proposed Cross section A-A and B-B 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-251-[F] - Block A Proposed Cross Section C-C 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-252-[G] - Block A Proposed Cross Section D-D & E-E 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-253-[F] - Block A Proposed Cross Section F-F &G-G 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-254-[G] - Block A Proposed Cross Section H-H and I-I 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 20



 

 
 

- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-260-[F] - Block B Proposed Section F-F and H-H 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-261-[G] - Block B Proposed Section A-A and G-G 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-262-[E] - Block B Proposed Section D-D and B-B 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-263-[F] - Block B Proposed Section E-E and C-C 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-280-[F] - Block A Proposed Elevations 01 and 03 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-281-[F] - Block A Proposed Elevations 02 and 04 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-285-[H] - Block B Proposed Elevations 01 and 03 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-286-[H] - Block B Proposed Elevations 02 and 04 
- Drawing No:- 485-al(05)-231-[D] – Existing & Proposed Site Elevations Regent 

Rd/New Street 
- Drawing No:-485-BA-AL(05)-R230-[P03] – Existing & Proposed Site Elevations 

Regent Road 
- Drawing No:- 485 SK-400-[B] - Proposed Emergency Vehicle Access  
 

Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policies L1, L2, L3, L4, L5, 
L7, L8, R2, R3, R4 and R5 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the requirements 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details approved under discharge of condition application 106542/CND/21 with 
regards Archaeological works. 
 
Reason - To protect the significance of any archaeological remains on the site 
having regard to Policy R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and to disseminate the results for public benefit. 

 
3. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

external materials and building details specification detailed within Appendix A 
and B of the Design and Access Statement Addendum (January 2022). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved landscaping plans as follows:- 
 

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0001 Rev: P13 – Landscape General 
Arrangement  

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-1000 Rev: P08 – Hardworks General 
Arrangement 

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-2000 Rev: P05 – Softworks General 
Arrangement 

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-3000 Rev: P07 – External Levels GA Sheet 1 
of 3 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 21



 

 
 

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-3001 Rev: P03 – External Levels GA Sheet 2 
of 3 

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-3002 Rev: P03 – External Levels GA Sheet 3 
of 3 

- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-4000 Rev: P05 – Furniture GA 
- Drwg No: 1669-PLA-XX-XX-DR-L-0001 Rev: P05 – Tree Retention and Removal 

Plan  
 
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner.  
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition 
which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or 
become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the 
next planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies 
L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
5. The landscape maintenance and management for the development shall be 

implemented and thereafter carried out in accordance with the timescales and 
specifications approved under condition discharge reference 109542/CND/22. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies 
L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
6. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details as approved under discharge of condition application 98608/CND/19 
(Contaminated Land Remediation Strategy) and discharge of condition 
application 112314/CND/23 (Intrusive Contaminated Land Site Investigation). 
 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Trafford Council Core Strategy Policies L5 and L7 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 

accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment Ref:' 884-01, Chapel 
Square, Regent Road' with a maximum surface water discharge of 37l/s 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 22



 

 
 

(Appendix C of FRA).  The development shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding having regard 
to Policy L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
8. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details as approved under discharge of conditions application 98717/CND/19 
with regards the sustainable drainage scheme. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented during the course of the development, and thereafter managed and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To prevent the risk of flooding by ensuring that surface water can be 
satisfactorily stored or disposed from the site having regard to Policies L4, L5 
and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
9. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details as approved under discharge of condition application 98978/CND/19 with 
regards the Construction Method Statement. 
 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site 
and to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and 
users of the highway, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Travel Plan as approved under discharge of condition reference 109542/CND/22 
and shall continue to be implemented throughout a period of 10 (ten) years 
commencing from the date of first occupation.  
 
Reason: To reduce car travel to and from the site in the interests of sustainability 
and highway safety, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. The development hereby approved shall be designed and constructed in 

accordance with the recommendations contained within section 3.3 of the 
submitted Crime Impact Statement (Ref:2017/0732/CIS/01). 
 
Reason: In the interests of crime reduction, residential amenity and public safety 
having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 23



 

 
 

12. Within three weeks from the date of this approval an external lighting scheme  
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the site shall only be lit in accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: In the interests of crime prevention, biodiversity and amenity and having 
regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
13. The car parking, servicing and vehicular access arrangements shown on the 

approved plans to serve the development hereby permitted shall be provided and 
made fully available for use at all times and shall be retained thereafter for their 
intended purpose only. 
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Trafford Core 
Strategy Policies L4 and L7 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
14. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

car park lighting scheme approved under discharge of condition reference 
108861/CND/22 and thereafter the car park shall only be lit in accordance with 
the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: In the interests of crime prevention and amenity, having regard to Policy 
L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
15. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details as approved under discharge of condition application 98717/CND/19 
(noise mitigation measures) and discharge of condition reference 
112314/CND/23 (noise mitigation completion report) and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the future occupiers of the apartments 
hereby approved, having regard to Trafford Core Strategy Policies L7 and L5.13 
and advice within the NPPF.   

 
16. Servicing, waste handling and deliveries relating to the commercial uses within 

the application site shall only take place between the hours of 0700 and 1900h 
on Mondays to Fridays and 0800 to 1700h on Saturdays only. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17. The ground floor commercial premises within Block A and B hereby approved 

shall only be open for trade or business between the hours of 0800hrs - 2400hrs 
inclusive. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 24



 

 
 

 
18.  Within three weeks from the date of this decision a scheme detailing any 

external plant or machinery, lift overruns, extraction flues (including those for 
filtration of cooking odours), central heating vents, air conditioning units or other 
vents to either residential and commercial units or the multi storey car park, or 
other mechanical or engineering equipment shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The schemes shall include full details 
of the appearance of any equipment, manufacturer's operating instructions and a 
programme of equipment servicing and maintenance. Thereafter development 
shall proceed in accordance with the approved scheme and shall remain 
operational thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure to ensure that any 
plant, equipment, ventilation flues/ducting and other mechanical or engineering 
equipment can be accommodated without detriment to character and 
appearance of the host buildings and the surrounding area having regard to 
Policies L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
19. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details as approved under discharge of condition application 100485/CND/20 
(noise mitigation commercial buildings and the multi storey car park) and 
discharge of condition reference 112314/CND/23 (noise mitigation completion 
report) and retained thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the future occupiers of the apartments 
hereby approved, having regard to Trafford Core Strategy Policies L7 and L5.13 
and advice within the NPPF.   

 
20. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved Waste Management scheme under discharge of condition reference 
109673/CND/22 and shall be retained at all times thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to ensure that satisfactory 
waste management provision is made for the site having regard to Policies L5 
and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
21. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details as approved under discharge of condition application 108469/CND/22 
with regards cycle and motorcycle provision and thereafter retained. 
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle and motorcycle parking provision is 
made in the interests of promoting sustainable development, having regard to 
Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's adopted 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 25



 

 
 

Supplementary Planning Document 3: Parking Standards and Design, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
22. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

car park management plan approved under discharge of condition reference 
109542/CND/22.  The approved scheme shall be provided and made available 
for the intended uses and thereafter shall not be used for any purpose other than 
the parking of vehicles. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity, having regard 
to Policies L4, L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document 3: Parking Standards & Design. 

 
23. Within no less than 3 months but no more than 5 months following the opening of 

the multi-storey car park a further assessment of the operation of the traffic light 
signals at the A56/Regent Road junction shall be undertaken and the findings, 
including details of any necessary revalidation of the junction lights shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
submitted assessment shall also include a timetable for the implementation of 
any required revalidation works. .  The changes shall be implemented and 
retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of 
the Trafford Core Strategy, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

CM 
 

 
 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 26



E
E

E

E

E

E

E E

EE

E

E

E

E

7

3

1

4

6

2

9 5

8

Club

Court

PH

21
17

30

25

72

60

36

24

33
31 29

35

27

34

16

22

10

37

19

15

18

40

50
2a

96

56

89
93

12

20

1a

76
80

41

49

47

52

86

51

1314

68

26

77

62

48

69

42

75
79

70

84

83

43

8a

92

38

53

63

66

to

Sports Centre

A
ltr

in
ch

am
 G

en
er

al
 H

os
pi

ta
l

1b

3b

11

42.7m

39.8m

40.4m

41.5m

39.3m

El

Altrincham Hospital

3

1

21

2

5

2a

34

26

1

2

1

18

3

1
24

35

17

15

11

22

8
1

8

12

3

PH

10

24

5

18

6

18

2 56

3

6

1

7

36

86

7

21

29

9

26 22

7

36

4

9

3

30

20

31

89

1 33

75

11

25

10

49

1

9

2 13

12

1

12

2

5

16

4

1

7

5

8

50

6

72

8

7
4

8

EDAR AVENUE

DAR AVENUE

PH

Lloyd's

31
2927

32

28

19
18

40

23

87
91

46

58

47
51

4a

13

14

26

81
73

71

44

45

7a

94

90

78

2b
11

11

(Multistorey Car Park (below))(Multistorey Car Park (below))

45.9m

43.4m

47.8m

40.3m

45.3m

38.9m

House

HouseH
ou

se

House

Ps

LB

LB

LB

54
a

18a

33a

10
2

10
2

19a

77
a

10
4

10
4

10
4

10
6

10
6

10
5

28a

10
0

12
5

12
7 12

31
21

10
9

91a
87a

12
0

10
a

50
a

35a

GG

H
an

ds
om

e

The Dome

Gillespie

Car Park

19b31b

PC

11
71

13
11

5

11
9

11
a

11
2

11
6

THE D
OW

NS

C Church

NEW
 S

TR
EET

N
EW

 S
TR

EE
T

The Poplars

PETER STREET

GOOSE GREEN

Cross Street

POTT STREET

POTT STREET

Netheroyd

REGENT ROAD

REGENT ROAD

ENT ROAD

Downs Court

11
1

Grosvenor

Chy

LLOYD STREET

M
ar

ke
t P

la
ce

G
eo

rg
e 

S
tr

ee

ALBERT COURT

G
R

EE
N

W
O

O
D

 S
TR

EE
T

Bowling Green

LL
O

Y
D

 S
Q

U
A

R
E

The Tannery

AltrinchamLittle Theatre

ESS

A
LB

E
R

T 
R

O
A

D

Vincent's

LY
ME G

ROVE

N
O

R
M

A
N

'S
 P

LA
C

E

3a 3b

TH
E 

C
A

U
SE

W
AY

C
EN

TR
A

L 
W

AY

Mast
B

ACK
 G

RA
FT

O
N S

TR
EET

TCB

TCB

TCB

1 to
 5

R
A

IL
W

AY
 S

TR
E

E
T

TA
G

E
 R

O
A

D

A
ltr

in
ch

am
 M

ed
ic

al
 P

ra
ct

ic
e

CROSS ST48.0m

49.3m

51.4m

TCBs

3a & 3b

78
 to

 8
4

74
 to

 7
6

43
 t

o
 5

1

88
 to

 9
0

22
 to

 2
428

 to
 3

2

esby

Surgery

Nursery

Library

Sub Sta

Chapel

COURT

Shelters

9 
To

 1
1

Ward Bdy

The Elms

Ashley

Th
e 

G
ra

fto
ns

The Limes

Carradale

El Sub Sta

E
l S

u
b

 S
ta

s

Line of PostsDoonfoot

Health Centre
Mount Terrace

Olivier Hou

Kings Court

PERFIELD

ey Lodge

THE N
ARROW

S

C
ha

pe
l H

ou
se

otswold

GRAFTON STREET

The N
arro

ws

OSBOURNE P
LACE

W
EL

LI
N

G
TO

N
 P

LA
C

E

Cramond House

Richmond House

w s Road

D
E

N
M

A
R

K
 S

T

W
OOD ST

Lodge

B
R

E
W

E
R

Y
 

5

10

42

6

7

19

2

2

Court

2

77

48

33

1

4

34

6

25

15
13

15

2

4
4

3

7

11

16

1

17

17

15

PH

17

8

36

2

68

10

30

3

22

2a

2

PH

10

1

1

2

9

30

21

15

6

2

10

1

37
13

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

107465/VAR/22

Regent Road Car Park, Altrincham  ( site hatched on map)

1:2,500

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date  15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 27



 

 
 

WARD: Davyhulme 
 

111866/FUL/23 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Proposed two storey extension providing theatre and ancillary facilities at 
ground floor and plant and ancillary facilities at first floor and rooftop / landing 
area with external staircase to host further plant and access to adjacent roofs 

 
Trafford General Hospital, Moorside Road, Flixton, Manchester, M41 5SL 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr Edwards 
AGENT:    Day Architectural 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

 
This application is being reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee due to more than 6 representations having been received contrary to 
the Officer recommendation.  
 
SITE 
 
The application site comprises land at Trafford General Hospital, which is located in the 
Davyhulme area of the Borough at the junction of Moorside Road with Bowers Avenue.   
 
The hospital site is expansive and incorporates a number of different buildings and 
structures, characteristic of a modern hospital.  Existing buildings are typically one to 
two storeys with both flat and pitched roofs.  The main vehicular entrance is from 
Moorside Road.   
 
The surrounding area outside the hospital grounds is predominantly residential in nature 
with a local centre to the south on Moorside Road and Davyhulme Park Golf Club to the 
west. 
 
Trafford General Hospital has been identified as a non-designated heritage asset.  It is 
widely regarded as the first National Health Service hospital and was officially opened in 
1948.  Despite its strong historical significance, only a small portion of the original 
hospital remains, including an entrance lodge, prominent clock tower and courtyard.  
The application site is positioned to the south-east of the clock tower and is separated 
from this structure by a number of buildings and extensions.   
 
The area of the application site is located towards the Bowers Avenue frontage of the 
site and is surrounded on three sides by existing hospital buildings. At present, the site 
is in the main a vacant courtyard with windows and doors of the existing hospital 
building on the three surrounding elevations. On the south elevation there are some 
external flues.  Within the site boundary there is an existing large (green) generator. 
 
The Design and Access Statement advises that ‘The site previously housed an Aseptics 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 28



 

 
 

Pharmacy which was removed in 2022. An existing single storey structure containing 
redundant offices and a corridor linking the stroke ward (Ward 11)...’  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Planning consent is sought for a proposed two storey extension.  The external works 
include: 

- A part two storey part single storey flat roof building with parapets, with external 
metal standing seam cladding system with aluminium capping 

- External staircase at the first floor to the roof.   
- The south elevation first floor includes a large exhaust louvre (3.6 x 1.2m) and an 

external aluminium double door. 
- The south elevation ground floor includes two external aluminium double doors 

and six extract/supply louvres (0.4m x 0.25m). 
- Bollards (along the pedestrian access to the extension) 
- Delineation between pedestrian and vehicle surfaces.  
- The remaining external area within the site boundary will be made good. 

 
The ground floor is to accommodate: 

- Two operating theatres 
- Two anaesthetic rooms 
- Two preparation rooms 
- Two dirty utility rooms 
- Two scrub bays 
- 1 Disposal hold 
- 1 equipment bay / touchdown bay 
- 1 theatre store 
- 1 cylinder store 

 
The first floor is to accommodate: 

- Plant rooms 
- External plant deck 
- External staircase to provide roof access 

 
The Design and Access Statement and plans indicate that the roof deck is to be used to 
accommodate some items of plant.  However the application does not provide details of 
any specific external plant equipment.    
 
The Design and Access Statement and plans advise/indicate the existing large green 
generator is to be removed from the site.   
 
The increase in floor space of the proposed development would be 840m2. 
 
Value Added 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 29



 

 
 

A document titled ‘Design Ethos’ was submitted further to officer concerns regarding the 
design and external façade.  The document provides information in relation to the height 
and functional appearance of the building. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility  
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Flixton Neighbourhood Forum 
Critical Drainage Zone 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE (FORMERLY GREATER MANCHESTER SPATIAL 
FRAMEWORK 2020) 
 
Places for Everyone (PfE) is a joint Development Plan Document being produced by 
nine Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and 
employment development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects 
environmental assets. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced 
on 02 November 2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the 
Inspectors issued IN39 on 11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this 
stage of the examination that all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to 
make the Plan sound and/or legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 30



 

 
 

Consultation on the Main Modifications started on 11 October 2023 and closed on 6 
December 2023. Consequently the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making 
process and substantial weight can be attached to its policies. 
 
Relevant policies: 
 

 Design: JP-P1 

 Heritage: JP-P2 

 Green infrastructure: JP-G2, JP-G6; JP-G7  

 Planning obligations: JP-D1 and JP-D2 

 Economy: JP-S9, JP-J1, JP-J2, JP-J3 and JP-J4 

 Natural environment: JP-S13, JP-G1, JP-G3, JP-G4, JP-G7, JP-G9 and JP-G10 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS 
 
Draft Trafford Design Code (2023) 
Revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014) 
SPD 3: Parking Standards and Design (2012)  
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DLUHC published the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in December 
2023. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
The DLUHC published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and 
was last updated in December 2023. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the 
report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
There are numerous historic applications in relation to Trafford General Hospital, the 
most recent and relevant are as follows: 
 
109888/FUL/22 - Refurbishment of Block 14 to house 2 no. essential backup generators 
including associated plant. External alterations to include siting of exhaust silencers on 
roof top, installation of louvres, alterations to windows and doors, provision of a safety 
ladder and erection of security fencing. (Part Retrospective).  Approved with conditions 
– 4 November 2023. 
 
106792/FUL/21 - Removal of modular units and erection of two storey generator 
housing.  Approved with conditions – 23 March 2022 
 
102479/FUL/20 - Proposed ground floor extension to provide new twin theatre facility 
(Use Class C2), plus plant store area at roof level (following part-demolition of existing 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 31



 

 
 

vacant annex) 
Approved with conditions - 05.02.2021 
 
97771/FUL/19 - Construction of new air handling equipment, enclosure and associated 
duct work located externally to the Greenway building. 
Approved with conditions - 15.07.2019 
 
95302/FUL/18 - Construction of a 2.3 meter timber fenced compound and installation of 
a prefabricated cold store building on a concrete hardstanding within an existing goods 
yard/delivery bay.  Approved - 30.10.2018 
 
H/64974 - Alterations to existing car park to provide four additional car parking spaces. 
Approved with conditions 14.08.2006 
 
H/63275 - Erection of a single storey building to form pharmacy aseptic suite modular 
building. 
Approved with conditions - 20.12.2005 
 
H/55914 – Infill existing courtyard and erection of first floor extension to accommodate 
M & E Plant. Approved with conditions - 31.03.2003 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
Design and Access Statement 
Design Ethos Statement  
Proposed Cladding Specfication 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Heritage Development Officer – No objections 
 
Local Highway Authority - No objections and recommend a CMS (Construction Method 

Statement)  
 
Pollution and Licensing team (Nuisance) – Recommend two conditions to require: 

-  sufficient technical details to be submitted before the first use of any external fixed 
plant to confirm that the combined noise impact of the plant would not be of any 
significance.  

- Construction Method Statement (CMS) to be submitted and agreed prior to 
development. 

 
Pollution and Licensing team (Contaminated Land) – No comments or objections in 
relation to contaminated land. 
 
Waste Management – no objection. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 32



 

 
 

Lead Local Flood Authority - There will be no significant change to the impermeable 
area and so little change to the surface water runoff generated by the site.  Recommend 
an informative  

 that permeable surfaces must be considered for the parking areas and no 
surface water should discharge onto the highway. 

 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - The developer’s ecological consultant identified 
no significant ecological issues.  Issues relating to bats, nesting birds and biodiversity 
enhancement measures can be resolved via condition and / or informative. 
 
Greater Manchester Design for Security Team – awaiting comments. 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Further to notification to neighbours and site notices, representations have been 
received from 8 neighbouring residential properties.  The comments are summarised 
below: 

 Not opposed to plans; 

 Support improving facilities. 

 Highway concerns regarding the access for the building work: 
- Bowers Avenue, is a residential street, with existing problems with drivers 

going the wrong way down the one way road, illegal manoeuvres; 
- Concern of use by heavy goods vehicles; 
- Will be a detriment to safety including school children 
- Preferable if access could be made via the main entrance on Moorside 

Road. 
- Area congested with hospital traffic 
- Would be detrimental to active travel (Bower Avenue Entrance key cycle 

and pedestrian entrance) 
- Concern on impact on parking in local area, resulting in damage to cars, 

unable to park close to home.  (Existing parking issues with hospital, 
nursery and leisure centre) 

 Amenity concerns: 
- regarding noise and timings of the building work 
- length of time of work and days of work  
- building work and HGVs visiting at weekends or evenings 

 Issue of patients, visitors and staff smoking, can an area be provided for this? 

 Concern of pollution from  building work 

 Existing issue of unofficial bus stops at anti-social hours and causing disturbance 
and air pollution 

 Design and Access Statement incorrectly shows Bowers Avenue as two way.  
Access not adequate for service vehicles. 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
THE DECISION-TAKING FRAMEWORK  

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 33



 

 
 

 
1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 

planning applications should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material 
consideration in planning decisions, and as the Government’s expression of 
planning policy and how this should be applied, it should be given significant 
weight in the decision-taking process. 

 
2. The Council’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2012, prior to the 

publication of the 2012 NPPF, but drafted to be in compliance with it. It remains 
broadly compliant with much of the policy in the 2023 NPPF, particularly where 
that policy is not substantially changed from the 2012 version. 

 
3. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions as the Government’s 

expression of planning policy and how this should be applied; it should be given 
significant weight in the decision making process. 

 
4. The NPPF, at paragraph 11, introduces the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 

development.’ For decision-taking purposes, paragraph 11 (c) explains that ‘the 
presumption in favour’ means approving development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development plan without delay. However, where there are no 
relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, paragraph 11(d) advises that 
planning permission should be granted unless: 

 
i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 

of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole (the ‘tilted balance’). 

 
5. Policies relating to the proposal’s design and amenity impacts are considered to 

be ‘most important’ for determining this application when considering the 
application against NPPF Paragraph 11. Policies L7 and L4 of the Core Strategy 
are up to date in NPPF terms in these respects. The tilted balance does not 
apply and the application should be determined in accordance with the 
development plan taking account of other material considerations in an 
unweighted balance. 

 
THE PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 

 
6. The design ethos states ‘This proposal aims to fulfil the Trafford General 

Hospital's requirements to open two new Ultra Clean operating suites designed 
to the latest Technical Health Standards to replace operating suites 5 & 6 which 
could not fulfil their function adequately and have been decommissioned.’ 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 34



 

 
 

 
7. The principle of the development, in providing an infill building to an established 

hospital facility and wholly within the existing curtilage, is considered acceptable.  
With reference to the Composite Proposals Map, there is no specific site 
allocation affecting the hospital site.   
 

8. In addition, paragraph 100 of the NPPF states that “To ensure faster delivery of 
other public service infrastructure such as further education colleges, hospitals 
and criminal justice accommodation, local planning authorities should also work 
proactively and positively with promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies 
to plan for required facilities…”       

 
DESIGN AND VISUAL AMENITY 

 
9. The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is 

fundamental to what the planning process should achieve, according to the 
NPPF (paragraph 131).   Within the statutory development plan this objective is 
expressed by means of Policy L7 of the Core Strategy, with the accompanying 
text similarly noting that ‘high quality design is a key element to making places 
better and delivering environmentally sustainable developments.’ It has been 
concluded that Policy L7 is consistent with the NPPF and thus it is up-to-date for 
the purposes of decision-taking.   
 

10. The emerging PfE Policy JP-P1 states: “all development, wherever appropriate, 
should be consistent with: 1. Distinctive, with a clear identity that: A. Responds to 
Conserves and enhances the natural environment, landscape features, historic 
environment and local history and culture; B. Enables a clear understanding of 
how the place has developed; and C. Respects and acknowledges the character 
and identify of the locality in terms of design, siting, size, scale and materials 
used.” 
 

11. The National Design Guide (C1) states that development should understand and 
relate well to the site, its local and wider context. Well-designed new 
development responds positively to the features of the site itself and the 
surrounding context beyond the site boundary. 
 

12. The draft Trafford Design Code has been through public consultation and it is 
anticipated that it will be adopted in spring 2024. The draft Design Code sets out 
strategic principles including leading with landscape, responding to place and 
designing with character and beauty. In relation to non-residential buildings, 
including medical buildings, the Code states that sufficient space should be 
provided between buildings to allow for circulation routes and landscaping, that 
the scale and form of buildings  (including roof form) and the materials should 
reflect the surrounding context, that buildings should provide active frontages and 
elevations that provide architectural interest and articulation and that plant and 
equipment should be acceptably integrated into the design. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 35



 

 
 

 
13. The area of the development is located within the hospital grounds, surrounded 

on three sides by hospital buildings. It is a location set away from the primary 
frontages and main visitor entrances, it is 100m from Bowers Avenue and further 
screened from the street scene due to the siting of existing buildings and a strong 
boundary treatment including hedges and trees.   

 
14. The proposed flat roof extension with exposed staircase would be functional in 

appearance. The building would be faced in a light grey standing seam cladding 
system with pressed aluminium PPC capping. The flat roof building would infill 
the space between existing hospital buildings. It would be approximately 9m high 
and would project higher than the eaves of the adjacent pitched roof building to 
the north and higher than the existing flat roof buildings to the south. There would 
also be no window openings within the facades with only limited door openings in 
the east and south elevations. At the eastern end of the building, the first floor 
section would be set back by 5.2m with an external staircase leading from the 
ground floor up to the first floor roof. Exhaust louvres would also be provided on 
the upper part of the building on this elevation.  

 
15. The submitted Design and Access Statement and additional ‘Design Ethos 

document’ aim to justify the form and design.  Within the documents the agent 
advises the following:  

 
- ‘the aim at Trafford General Hospital is to comply with the clinical design 

guidance as efficiently as possible. As such, the location of the theatres 
was chosen due to its proximity to the hospital street and the future 
location of the recovery suite.’ 

- The heights of each of the spaces within the suite are a result for the 
requirements of the [NHS] Health Technical Memoranda’s (HTM). For 
operating theatres, the ceiling height is required to be 3000mm. Above 
each operating theatre it is generally required to have a 1100mm void to 
allow for a fully functioning theatre canopy and the required Mechanic and 
Electrics (M&E) to service the theatre. This in addition to a structural zone 
of 775mm results in a minimum height of 4875mm from ground floor 
finished floor level to first floor finished floor level. 

- An element that could not be obscured on the first floor plant landing, is a 
utility stair for roof access. The requirement for the full utility stair is set by 
Trust and cannot be satisfied by the introduction of a ladder. 

- It is clear that the original building has a facade motif of merit, however, all 
the later additions dilute this motif. The elevations closest to the proposal 
are those least considered; with monolithic brick walls and hole punch 
windows. To bring some order and a tidy appearance to the area, it is 
proposed to approach the design using a single material with a repetitive 
vertical element. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 36



 

 
 

- As this proposal is sited in what is referred to as the back-of-house part of 
the hospital and is not visible from the main road, the overarching 
requirements when considering materiality is practicality and endurance.’ 

 

16. It is considered that the proposed development would fail to comply with many of 
the aspirations for new medical / institutional buildings set out in the draft Trafford 
Design Code (as referred to above). The building would be higher than 
surrounding buildings, the elevations would not provide active frontages and 
would have very limited architectural interest. The materials would also not reflect 
surrounding buildings and there would be no scope for landscaping around the 
structure. The scope for altering design and façade details was discussed with 
the agent including the roof height, screening or removing the staircase and 
altering the façade design/materials.  However, as noted above, there are 
functional requirements in relation to the theatre suites and external staircase 
and there is a variety of existing forms of façade at this section of the hospital.  

 
17. It is recognised that the building would be sited in a relatively discreet location 

within the wider hospital site. It would not be visible from the street scene, would 
be largely concealed from most public viewpoints within the hospital site and (as 
discussed further below) would have no significant impact on the important 
heritage aspects of the hospital. It is also recognised that many of the 
surrounding buildings and structures are also functional in appearance with 
varying materials and that the proposal to use a single cladding material seeks to 
provide a simple approach in order to minimise any conflict resulting from the 
juxtaposition of different styles and materials. It is also noted that the first floor 
section is set back by 5.2m on the east elevation (the most prominent elevation) 
and, as such, the height would be less imposing from this viewpoint. In addition, 
the parapet walls would potentially screen future proposed plant equipment on 
the roof. On balance, having regard to the specific context of the site and the 
clear need for the proposed facility in this location, it is considered that the 
development would be acceptable in terms of visual amenity and design in this 
case, subject to a condition to confirm the final finish of external materials. 

 
18. It is therefore considered that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of 

design, having regard to Policy L7 of the Core Strategy, Policy JP-P1 of the 
emerging PFE Plan and the design policies of the NPPF.    

 
Impact on Heritage Assets  

 
19. Protecting and enhancing the historic environment is an important component of 

the NPPF.  The document introduces the term ‘heritage assets’ which are 
defined (within the glossary) as: ‘a building, monument, site, place, area or 
landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in 
planning decisions’. Such heritage assets can be ‘designated’ or ‘non-
designated’.  It is the conservation of heritage assets in a manner appropriate to 
their ‘significance’ (paragraph 190) which is the focus of the NPPF.  

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 37



 

 
 

 
20. Paragraph 209 of the NPPF states that “The effect of an application on the 

significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 
determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly 
affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the 
heritage asset.” 

 
21. Within the Core Strategy Policy R1 seeks to ensure that the Borough’s heritage 

assets are safeguarded for the future, where possible enhanced, and that 
change is appropriately managed and tested for its impact on the historic 
environment.  The policy applies to locally significant historic buildings as well as 
to listed buildings and conservation areas.  The policy is, however, inconsistent 
with the NPPF since it is reliant on ensuring the protection, preservation and 
enhancement of heritage assets and thus it seeks to avoid any harm arising.   

 
22. Trafford General Hospital has been identified as a non-designated heritage 

asset.  It is widely regarded as the first National Health Service hospital and was 
officially opened in 1948.  Despite its strong historical significance, only a small 
portion of the original hospital remains, including an entrance lodge, prominent 
clock tower and courtyard.  The application building is positioned to the southeast 
of the clock tower and there are a number of large modern buildings between the 
proposed extension and the clocktower. The proposal is not considered to 
compromise or harm the setting of the original entrance lodge, clock tower or 
courtyard or the significance of the non-designated heritage asset.  The Heritage 
Officer has not raised objections to the proposal. 

 
23. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would comply with 

Policy R1 of the Core Strategy, Policy JP-P2 of the emerging PFE Plan and the 
heritage policies of the NPPF.   

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 
24. NPPF paragraph 135 also advises that planning decisions should ensure that 

development functions well and create places that provide a high standard of 
amenity.  Policy L7 of the Core Strategy contains a similar requirement, and 
states  that new development must not prejudice the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers by reason of being overbearing or of overshadowing, overlooking, 
visual intrusion, noise/disturbance or in any other way.  

25. The area of development lies some 100 metres from the nearest residential 
properties (on Bower Avenue).   Given this separation distance, the fact that the 
height is limited to 9m (approx.) and that there are retained buildings in between, 
it is considered that there would not be any issues arising in respect of 
overlooking, overshadowing or overbearing impacts.   

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 38



 

 
 

26. The Design and Access Statement indicates that the roof deck is to be used to 
accommodate some items of plant, although the details of the proposed plant are 
not provided. The Pollution and Licensing team commented that due to the 
distances to the nearest residential receptor it is anticipated that plant noise 
impacts would be low unless particularly noisy items of plant are to be installed.  
The proposal itself is not considered to cause a detriment to amenity and in 
principle the use of the flat roofs could accommodate plant equipment subject to 
noise impacts. However, as the application does not include details of the 
external plant equipment, it is considered that a condition would need to be 
attached requiring that, prior to the installation of any external plant, technical 
details are submitted to ensure that the noise impact of external plant would not 
have any unacceptable impacts on nearby sensitive receptors.  

 
27. Neighbours have raised concerns regarding disturbance during the construction 

process particular in relation to the access and egress of construction vehicles 
onto Bowers Avenue. The Pollution and Control Team advise that these issues 
and any other environmental impacts that may arise during the construction 
phase should be addressed through the submission and implementation of a 
Construction Method Statement (CMS) prior to any works commencing. A 
condition is therefore recommended to require a Construction Method Statement 
to ensure the construction phase does not adversely impact on the amenity of 
surrounding residential properties.  

 
28. The proposed extension would result in the blocking up of some existing 

windows within the adjacent buildings. However, whilst the loss of natural light is 
unfortunate, this would not affect any ward or surgery with the windows in the 
building to the north serving a corridor. It is therefore considered the proposals 
would not have any undue impact upon the patients / staff / visitors at the 
hospital.  

 
29. Overall, it is concluded that, subject to appropriate conditions, the proposed 

development would have no unacceptable impacts on the residential amenity of 
the occupiers of nearby dwellings or on patients, staff or visitors at the hospital 
itself and would therefore comply with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy and the 
policies of the NPPF in this respect.       

 
CRIME PREVENTION 

 
30. Paragraph 135 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 

ensure that development proposals create places that are safe, and where crime 
and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community 
cohesion and resilience.  These objectives are supported by Policy L7 of the 
Core Strategy. 
 

31. The hospital is a public building which is used intensively.  Furthermore, the 
wider grounds of Trafford General Hospital are generally accessible and there 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 39



 

 
 

are a number of concealed external locations created by the network of buildings. 
The comments of GM Police Design for Security are awaited and this will be 
discussed further in the Additional Information Report.   

 
HIGHWAY 

 
32. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe”.  
 

33. The NPPF explains that transport policies have an important role to play in 
facilitating sustainable development and in contributing to wider sustainability 
objectives (paragraph 115). Policy L4 of the Core Strategy is the relevant policy 
at development plan level.  It has been concluded that the test for assessing 
cumulative traffic impact as contained within the NPPF (paragraph 109 and the 
reference to ‘severe’) is a more stringent test than that contained in Policy L4 
(which refers to ‘significant adverse impact’), and thus Policy L4 is considered to 
be partially out-of-date for the purposes of decision-taking.      
 

34. The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has been consulted and has advised that the 
existing service arrangements at the hospital will suffice in relation to this 
proposal and notes that the proposal is not considered to increase staff numbers 
or reduce parking capacity.  

 
35. Neighbours have raised concerns regarding traffic and highway safety during the 

construction process particularly in relation to Bowers Avenue.  The Local 
Highway Authority has commented that ‘It is considered the works associated 
with the construction of the development will result in a temporary increase in the 
number and type of activities that take place at this location on a day-to-day 
basis, including access by heavy duty vehicles. The LHA would therefore ask for 
a CMS (commensurate with the size of the development) to be provided.’ 

 
36. Further to the above, it is considered that, subject to a condition to require a 

Construction Method Statement, the proposed development would not result in 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety or unacceptable traffic impacts, 
having regard to paragraph 115 of the NPPF.   

 
LANDSCAPE AND GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
37. In accordance with Policy L8 of the Core Strategy and  the Revised SPD1: 

Planning Obligations, there is an expectation for development proposals to 
contribute on an appropriate scale to the provision of specific green infrastructure 
(SGI) which includes tree planting and other forms of soft landscaping.    
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 40



 

 
 

38. The application site is infilling a gap between existing buildings on the hospital 
site. Given the siting and the nature of the development, it is considered that 
there would not be any scope for the provision for green infrastructure in this 
instance. 

 
ECOLOGICAL MATTERS 

 

39. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising 
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 
pressures.  Paragraph 186 continues, when determining planning applications, 
opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be 
integrated as part of their design. At the development plan level, Policy R2 (which 
is up to date) similarly seeks to ensure that new development would not have an 
unacceptable ecological impact. 
 

40. The Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) has reviewed the proposal and 
the submitted Preliminary Ecology Appraisal (which includes a Bat Report).  The 
Ecology Appraisal states that there is no evidence of bats and the site has 
negligible bat roosting potential and no evidence of nesting birds.  GMEU are 
satisfied with the report, however advise an informative to safeguard bats in the 
event that a bat does appear on site unexpectedly. 

 
41. The Preliminary Ecology Appraisal also confirms that there are no wildlife issues 

associated with the development and GMEU advises that no mitigation is 
required.  In regards to biodiversity enhancement, a condition is recommended to 
secure some form of appropriate measures to comply with the policy in the 
NPPF. 

 
OTHER PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 
42. The Council’s Waste team has been consulted, and has confirmed that it is 

satisfied that the proposed development would not impact upon existing waste 
storage and collection arrangements at the hospital.  The proposal is therefore 
considered to be acceptable in relation to Policy L7 in this respect.    

 
43. The Lead Local Flood Authority has raised no concerns in respect of surface 

water drainage or flood risk given the nature, location and scale of the 
development.  The proposal is therefore compliant with this aspect of Policy L5 
(which is up-to-date). 

 
44. An informative is requested by Cadent Gas to advise of the presence of gas 

apparatus.   

 
EQUALITIES 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 41



 

 
 

45. The public sector equality duty (PSED), contained in the Equalities Act 2010, 
requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between different 
people when carrying out their activities. Having due regard for advancing 
equality involves: removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due 
to their protected characteristics; taking steps to meet the needs of people from 
protected groups where these are different from the needs of other people; and 
encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.  
 

46. Section 149 – Public sector equality duty (PSED) of the Equality Act 2010 states 
i. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 

the need to— 
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 

conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
Disability is a ‘protected characteristic’ under the Equalities Act 2010 and the Act 

states that meeting different needs involves taking steps to take account of 
disabled people’s disabilities.  

 
47. The scheme does not impact on the existing access to the building and would be 

purpose built for the benefit of patients and designed in accordance with relevant 
Building Regulations.  No other benefits or dis-benefits are identified.  

 

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
48. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and comes 

under the category of public or institutional facility development, consequently the 
development will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £0 per square metre in line with 
Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014). 
 

49. No planning obligations are required. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 

 
50. The proposed development would accommodate two ultra clean operating 

theatres and associated accommodation/internal infrastructure to replace 
decommissioned operating suites which did not function adequately.  The 
proposed extension is sited centrally within the hospital site.  The proposal would 
improve the function of the existing community facility in accordance with local 
and national guidance. 
 

51. The design is functional and driven by the requirements of the operating theatres 
and the need to access plant effectively. The development would not be visible 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 42



 

 
 

from the streetscene and public views of the building from within the hospital site 
would be limited. It would also result in no harm to the significance of the non-
designated heritage asset. On balance, having regard to the specific context of 
the site and the clear need for the proposed facility, it is considered that the 
development would be acceptable in terms of visual amenity and design in this 
case, subject to a condition to confirm final finish of external materials. As a 
result, the proposed development would be acceptable in relation to Policies L7 
and R1 of the Core Strategy, Policies JP-P1 and JP-P2 of the emerging PFE 
Plan and the policies of the NPPF in terms of design and heritage. 

 
52. The proposal is considered to be acceptable in regard to local and national policy 

in all other respects, including residential amenity, highways and parking, 
landscape and green infrastructure, designing out crime, and ecology.  
Conditions are recommended to provide additional safeguards on certain matters 
where necessary including the provision of a Construction Management 
Statement prior to development.   

 
53. The application would comply with the development plan when taken as a whole. 

The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to conditions. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 

accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers: 
 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070101-S3 Rev.P03 – Location Plan (received by 
the local planning authority on 15 September 2023); 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070103-S3 Rev.P02 – Proposed Site Plan 
(received by the local planning authority on 15 September 2023); 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070104-S3 Rev.P02 – Proposed Level 0 GA Plan 
(received by the local planning authority on 15 September 2023); 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070105-S3 Rev.P02 – Proposed Level 1 GA Plan 
(received by the local planning authority on 15 September 2023); 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070106-S3 Rev.P02 – Proposed Roof GA Plan 
(received by the local planning authority on 15 September 2023); 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070109-S3 Rev.P04 – Proposed – Proposed East 
& North Elevation (received 15 September 2023); 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 43



 

 
 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070110-S3 Rev.P04 – Proposed – Proposed South 
Elevation (received by the local planning authority on 15 September 2023); 

 222-42-DAY-66-00-DR-A-070111-S3 Rev.P04 – Proposed – Proposed West 
Elevation (received by the local planning authority on 15 September 2023). 

 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no works involving the 

use of any materials to be used externally on the building shall take place until 
samples and / or full specifications of all such materials [including cladding, doors, 
louvres, stairways and balustrades) have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and 
texture of the materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policies L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:  

 
a) Parking arrangements for site operative and visitor vehicles.  
b) The management of deliveries to including details of any proposed delivery 
booking system. 
c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials to include vehicle access and 
egress arrangements.  
d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.  
e) The erection and maintenance of security hoardings including decorative displays 
and facilities for public viewing (where appropriate).  
f) Wheel washing facilities and any other relevant measures for keeping the highway 
clean during the works.  
g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt.  
h) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting the works.  
i) Days and hours of construction activity on site (in accordance with Trafford 
Council’s recommended hours of operation for construction works). 
 j) Contact details for the site manager are to be advertised at the site in case of 
issues arising 
k) site working hours to be restricted to between 07:30 -18:00 on Monday to Friday; 
08:00 – 13:00 on Saturday, and no work permitted on a Sunday or a Bank Holiday.  
l) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction and pre-
construction (including demolition) and procedures to be adopted in response to 
complaints of fugitive dust emissions  

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 44



 

 
 

m) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works (prohibiting fires on site)  
n) measures to prevent disturbance to adjacent dwellings from noise and vibration  
o) information on how asbestos material is to be identified and treated or disposed of 
in a manner that would not cause undue risk to adjacent receptors  
p) Site access and egress arrangements which minimise the potential for disruption 
to local residents 

 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site and 
to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and users of 
the highway, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until a scheme 

detailing measures to enhance biodiversity at the site together with a timetable for 
their provision, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The measures should include bat or bird boxes and/or native tree and 
shrub planting, and shall be provided in accordance with the approved scheme and 
timetable and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: To enhance the biodiversity value of the site, having regard to Policy R2 of 
the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. The noise level from any external plant to be sited on the application building (when 
rated in accordance with BS 4142: 2014) shall not exceed 35dB (LAr, 15 minutes) at 1m 
from the façade of the nearest existing residential receptors.  No external plant shall 
be provided within the site unless and until details of the plant (including scaled 
plans and elevations) and technical details to demonstrate compliance with the 
above noise limit have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The plant shall be implemented and operated in accordance with 
the approved details thereafter.  
  
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, having regard to Policy L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and policies in the NPPF.  

     TMC 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 45



FFF
F

E

F FF
FFF F F F

E

F
F
F
F
F
F
F

E

Trafford General Hospital

2

1

4
6

9

8 5

Dairy

PO

40

28

29

12

14
37

10

1321

26

22

16

24

30

23

39

15

11

21.2m
21.6m

21.0m

El

12

11

1

1

9

2

1

16

15 1

14

2

5

4014

30

1

2

12

6
8

2

2

11

2

MOORSIDE ROAD

35

18

39

41

36

LB231
165167 161225 129

106

13113519
9

17922
1

18
9

153235 183181 12
1

C
R

PC 118

21
1

Care Centre

Moorside

Ivy

Macmillan

(Nursing Home)

ESS

ESS

ESS

ESS

OW
FELL R

OAD
Adlington House

B
O

W
E

R
S

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
R

A
IG

 A
V

E
N

U
E

LOSTOCK AVENUE

TCB

BALMAIN ROAD

P
at

h

M
A

LV
E

R
N

 A
V

E
N

U
E

HALL FARM AVENUE

Posts

Posts

Posts

Posts

42 to
 56Rose

ShelterShelter

Shelter

Sub Sta

137 to 143W
a

rd
 B

d
y

Mortuary

Cottage

Cottage

Chimney

El Sub Sta

M
O

O
R

 L
A

N
E

Pump House

W
A

S
D

A
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

D
A

LT
O

N
 G

A
R

D
E

N
S

W
R

O
X

H
A

M
 A

V
E

N
U

E

W
Y

T
H

B
U

R
N

 A
V

E

JA
C

K
S

O
N

 C

11

21

2

9

1

37

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

111866/FUL/23

Trafford General Hospital, Moorside Road, Flixton (site hatched on plan)

1:2,500

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee Date 15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 46



 

 
 

WARD: Bowdon 
 

111870/HHA/23 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Demolition of attached garage and erection of single storey side extension, 
raised rear patio, enlarged rear lightwell and associated external alterations 
including roof lights, replacement of timber windows with uPVC windows to all 
elevations, demolition of gateposts (in connection with widening of vehicular 
access with  new vehicular access gate and reinstatement of re-sized 
gateposts in a different position) (part retrospective). 

 
Donnington, 32 Grange Road, Bowdon, Altrincham, WA14 3EE 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr Eckersley 
AGENT:     Cube Design Solutions 

RECOMMENDATION:  REFUSE 
 
The application is reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee because the applicant is an elected Member.  
 
SITE 
 
The application site comprises a two storey, late 19th/early 20th century semi-detached 
dwellinghouse with front parking and a garden to the rear, located on the western side 
of Grange Road – a residential street within Bowdon. The house has a two storey front 
gable projecting perpendicular from a gable roof with bay windows at the ground and 
first floor levels within the principal elevation. An attached garage exists to the north 
side of the application property. There is additionally a boundary hedge and an open 
access driveway to the front of the site. 
 
The property lies within the Bowdon Conservation Area and is identified as a positive 
contributor, and is therefore also considered to be a Non-Designated Heritage Asset. 
The property falls within Character Zone C – characterised as ‘early Victorian 
expansion’. Surrounding properties are generally of a similar age, construction and 
character. 
 
The application property and other properties on the west side of Grange Road were 
taken into the Conservation Area in 2016 as part of boundary extension B. It is likely 
that some development may have occurred in this area prior to the area’s adoption into 
the Conservation Area that would now be considered to have a harmful impact on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application is seeking planning permission for the demolition of the attached garage 
and its replacement with a single storey side extension, raised rear patio, enlarged rear 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 47



 

 
 

lightwell and associated external alterations including roof lights, replacement of timber 
windows with uPVC windows to all elevations and demolition of the original stone 
gateposts (in connection with widening of vehicular access, new vehicular access gate 
and reinstatement of re-sized gateposts in a different position). 
 
At the time of the case officer’s site visit, it was noted that a number of the proposed 
works had commenced. In particular, the replacement of the dwelling’s timber windows 
to uPVC windows had already taken place, together with the widening of the site’s 
vehicular access and excavation works to the rear elevation of the property. 
 
Value Added: 
 
During the application process, planning officers outlined their concerns with the 
proposals. The applicant was subsequently provided with opportunities to amend the 
application to address each aspect of the proposal. Amended plans were received 
reducing the height of the reinstated gateposts and the proposed gates to a maximum 
of 1m in height but not reducing the width of the vehicular access. Some other relatively 
minor amendments were additionally received including the omission of the proposed 
pedestrian access gate and bin store. However, these alterations did not overcome 
officers’ concerns – particularly in relation to the alterations to the windows and removal 
of the gate posts and the consequent widening of the vehicular access. 
 
The applicant also requested that the proposed alterations to existing windows should 
not be assessed under this application. The applicant was therefore requested by 
officers to amend the submitted plans further to annotate specifically on the plan that 
the alterations to the existing windows do not form part of the application.  However, no 
further amended plans have been received in relation to this. The new windows are 
shown on the proposed plans and are different from the windows shown on the 
originally submitted existing plans, and therefore, if the application were to be approved 
with no annotation on the plan specifically clarifying this, this would be considered part 
of the permission. It is therefore considered that, notwithstanding the applicant’s request 
in relation to this, on the basis of the currently submitted plans, the proposed windows 
must be assessed as part of the current application. 
 
It is noted that there are some discrepancies on the submitted plans including in relation 
to the detailed design of the front windows and position and design of the rear elevation 
windows. The applicant was requested to amend the plans to correct these details, 
however these amendments were not received. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 48



 

 
 

the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
 
L7 – Design  
R1 – Historic Environment  
 
OTHER LOCAL POLICY DOCUMENTS 
 
SPD4 – A guide for Designing House Extensions and Alterations 
SPD5.9 – Bowdon Conservation Area Appraisal (July 2016) 
SPD5.9a – Bowdon Conservation Area Management Plan (July 2016) 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Bowdon Conservation Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
ENV21 – Conservation Areas 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE 
Places for Everyone (PfE) is a joint Development Plan Document being produced by 
nine Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and 
employment development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects 
environmental assets. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced 
on 02 November 2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the 
Inspectors issued IN39 on 11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this 
stage of the examination that all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to 
make the Plan sound and/or legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard. 
Consultation on the main modifications started on 11 October 2023 and will close on 6 
December 2023. Consequently the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making 
process and substantial weight can be attached to its policies. 
 
Emerging policies relevant to this application are: 
 
JP-P1 – Sustainable Places 
JP-P2 - Heritage 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 49



 

 
 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DLUHC published the latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in December 2023.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DLUHC published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and was 
last updated on 5 February 2024. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the 
report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
None. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
Design and Access Statement 
Heritage Statement 
Window Specification Report and Letter 
Photographic evidence in support of the application 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Heritage Development Officer: Objection 
 

“The proposed works will cause harm to the significance of the heritage asset 
and the contribution it makes to Bowdon Conservation Area. The proposal is 
contrary to the NPPF, R1 and policies in SPD 5.9a.” 

 
Full heritage comments are embedded within the observations section of the report. 
 
Local Highway Authority (LHA): No objection 
 

“There are no objections on highway grounds to the proposals subject to the 
provision of acceptable refuse/recycling, car, and cycle parking as per submitted 
plans.” 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

One representation was received in response to this application. The comments 
received raised concerns that there was a discrepancy between the red edged site 
boundary as shown on the submitted Ordnance Survey location plan for the application 
property and the land ownership boundaries as shown on the neighbouring property’s 
Land Registry plan. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 50



 

 
 

Planning officers have raised this matter with the applicant’s agent, who has since 
confirmed that, after discussions with the applicant, they understand the boundary (as 
submitted) to be correct and that the correct ownership certificate has been submitted. 
For the avoidance of doubt, it is noted that it is the applicant’s legal responsibility to 
ensure that the correct ownership certificate is served and this is otherwise not a 
material planning consideration and any concerns raised in this respect do not prevent 
the determination of this application. 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 

1. The application proposal is for extensions and alterations to an existing dwelling 
in a residential area.  The main issues for consideration are heritage concerns, 
design / appearance, impact upon neighbouring properties / residential amenity 
and highways/parking. 

 
2. S38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 states that planning 

applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
3. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 

Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, 
should be given significant weight in the decision making process.  

 
4. Paragraph 11 d) of the NPPF indicates that where there are no relevant 

development plan policies or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out of date planning permission should be granted 
unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
5. The application site is located with Bowdon Conservation Area. As such, the most 

important policies for determining this application are L7 ‘Design’ and R1 ‘Historic 
Environment’. 
 

6. Policies relating to design and heritage are considered to be most important for 
determining this application when considering the application against NPPF 
Paragraph 11, as they control the principle of the development. Whilst Policy L7 
(Design) of the Core Strategy is up-to-date with the NPPF, Policy R1, relating to 
historic environment, does not reflect case law or the tests of ‘substantial’ and 
‘less than substantial harm’ in the NPPF. Thus, in respect of the determination of 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 51



 

 
 

planning applications, Core Strategy Policy R1 is inconsistent in this respect. 
However, its primary focus, which is the protection of heritage assets, is aligned 
with the NPPF. 

 
7. Although Policy R1 of the Core Strategy can be given limited weight, no less 

weight is to be given to the impact of the development on heritage assets as the 
statutory duties in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 are still engaged. Heritage policy in the NPPF can be given significant 
weight and is the appropriate means of determining the acceptability of the 
development in heritage terms. 

 
IMPACT ON DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS 

 
Legislation and Policy 
 

8. Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires Local Planning Authorities to pay, ‘special attention in the exercise of 
planning functions to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a conservation area’ in the determination of planning applications.  
 

9. The NPPF sets out in Chapter 16 of the document decision-making policies using 
different terminology, referring in particular to conservation of significance. It is 
important to note that conservation and preservation are concerned with the 
management of change in a way that sustains a heritage asset’s special interest 
or significance. However, conservation has the added dimension of taking 
opportunities to enhance significance where opportunities arise and where 
appropriate. 

 
10. Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states; ‘heritage assets range from sites and 

buildings of local historic value to those of the highest significance…These assets 
are an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate 
to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the 
quality of life of existing and future generations’. 

 
11. Paragraph 201 of the NPPF requires that ‘Local planning authorities should 

identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise. They should take this into account when considering the impact of a 
proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the 
heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the proposal’. 
 

12. Paragraph 203 indicates that when local planning authorities are determining 
planning applications, they should take account of:  
‘a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 52



 

 
 

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness’. 
 

13. Paragraph 205 of the NPPF states that ‘When considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial 
harm to its significance’. 
 

14. Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states that ‘Where a proposed development will lead 
to substantial harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, 
local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated 
that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply:  
(a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and  
(b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 
through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  
(c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or 
public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  
(d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into 
use’ 
 

15. Paragraph 208 of the NPPF requires that ‘Where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use’. 
 

16. Paragraph 209 of the NPPF requires the ‘effect of an application on the 
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in 
determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly 
affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset’. 

 
17. Policy R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that ‘Developers must demonstrate 

how the development will complement and enhance the existing features of 
historic significance including their wider settings, in particular in relation to 
conservation areas, listed buildings and other identified heritage assets’. 

 
18. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that ‘In relation to matters of design, 

development must: 

 

 Be appropriate in its context; 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 53



 

 
 

 Make best use of opportunities to improve the character and quality of an area; 

 Enhance the street scene or character of the area by appropriately addressing 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, elevation treatment, materials, hard and 
soft landscaping works, boundary treatment’. 
 

19. Policy JP-P1 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan states that 
developments should have a clear identity that, ‘respects and acknowledges the 
character and identity of the locality in terms of design, siting, size, scale and 
materials used’. 

 
20. Policy JP-P2 of Places for Everyone states “Development proposals affecting 

designated and non-designated heritage assets and / or their setting will be 
considered having regard to national planning policy.” 
 

Management Plan 
 

21. The application site is situated within Bowdon Conservation Area and so should 
be considered against the guidance set out in Bowdon Conservation Area 
Appraisal (SPD5.9) and Bowdon Conservation Area Management Plan 
(SPD5.9a). Relevant policies contained within SPD5.9a are as follows: 

 
Policy 6 - Materials and design should be appropriate to each individual property. 
The characteristic palette of materials and design features are set out in section 
2 of this Management Plan. 
 
Policy 9 - Where original timber doors and windows survive these should be 
retained. If refurbishment is required this should be done in a like-for-like manner 
and replacing the minimum amount of fabric necessary to make the repair. If 
thermal upgrading is required, secondary glazing with a frame that follows the 
glazing bars of the external window should be used. 
 
Policy 10 - If the replacement of doors or windows is proposed, whether the 
existing is of timber or uPVC, any further replacements should be in timber 
(unless the original windows can be proven to be of a different material, for 
example metal) and should represent a significant improvement over the existing. 
Where windows are replaced, they should respect the size and form of the 
original opening(s) and glazing bars, and be of an appropriate traditional design. 
Replacement doors and windows should not detract from the established 
character of the building. 

 
Policy 12 - Roof lights should not to be installed in locations that impact on the 
aesthetic value of the principal elevation or streetscape and should not be 
disproportionately large compared to the established fenestration. Conservation 
roof lights should be installed rather than standard roof lights. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 54



 

 
 

Policy 24 - Original gateposts should be retained where possible and should not 
be painted.  
 
Policy 26 - Gate openings should not be widened or re-positioned unless it can 
be proven that access is unsafe. Where gate openings are to be widened or re-
positioned on the grounds of highways safety, such change should be restricted 
to the minimum amount necessary to ensure safe access. Trafford Council will 
require the applicant to submit a highway consultant’s report to demonstrate 
highway safety implications. 
 
Policy 27- Modern treatment such as high brick walls, modern timber panel 
fencing and tall metal railings are not acceptable. 
 
Policy 28 - Boundary treatments and front gardens should not be removed to 
create additional hard standing, garaging or parking. In particular, the extensive 
and secluded gardens to historic individual properties should not be removed. 
The reinstatement of lost treatments and gardens will be looked upon favourably. 

 
Policy 42 - Any proposed extensions should be high-quality and in-keeping with 
the character of the surrounding historic rear elevations. Extensions, to an 
existing historic building, should have regard to its established style by respecting 
the building’s established features, form, proportions and materials. Pastiche 
copying should be avoided. 

 
Policy 44 - Buildings identified as positive contributors (see Map 3) should not be 
demolished, partially demolished or substantially altered in any way that dilutes 
their contribution to the Conservation Area unless public benefit can be 
demonstrated that outweighs the harm. 
 
Policy 46 - Any development concerning the basement of a historic property 
should be sensitively designed so that it does not detract from the established 
architecture of the building, and the balance of its exterior is not significantly 
altered (with the addition of light wells – with or without additional railings – or 
large, semi-sunken basement extensions with external access, for example). 

 
The Significance of the Affected Heritage Asset(s) 
 

22. Significance is defined in the NPPF as ‘The value of a heritage asset to this and 
future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may be 
archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from 
a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.’ 
 

23. The setting of a heritage asset is defined as the surroundings in which a heritage 
asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its 
surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 55



 

 
 

contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that 
significance or may be neutral.  
 

24. Paragraph 1.2.1 of the Bowdon Conservation Area Management Plan states that 
“The significance of the Bowdon Conservation Area is primarily rooted in its long 
history with settlement benefitting from its advantageous geography, and also its 
rich architectural variety and integrity. The area is predominantly residential with a 
number of supporting public amenities and community core, which are indicative 
of Bowdon’s increasing popularity and evolution as a suburb from the 19th 
century onwards.” 

 
25. In relation to Character Zone C, the Conservation Area Appraisal states, at 

paragraph 4.3.4, that  
 

“This character zone is the largest, comprising Stamford Road and the downhill 
sloping area to Langham Road, as well as the larger houses on the south side of 
Langham Road, some of South Downs Road and the historic Bowdon Cricket 
Club. This area is primarily residential, athough it has always had a number of 
schools and it now includes the historic sports club south of South Downs Road. 
It is characterised by the topography, with many houses designed around the 
views they can enjoy. There are also an unusual variety of roads, including 
historic footpaths, and an almost maze-like series of interconnecting small roads. 
Although there is a range of plot and house sizes and materials, the predominant 
impression is of large houses, built in Bowdon ‘white’ or cream brick, set in 
gardens with mature trees and shrubs and stone walls and gateposts. The 
houses built from the mid-19th century, were mainly on the Earl of Stamford’s 
land, with the quality of the materials, density and rental income dictated in the 
Deeds.” 

 
26. It is noted that the application property and other properties on the west side of 

Grange Road were taken into the Conservation Area in 2016 as part of boundary 
extension B. The Conservation Area Appraisal states that “The row of semi-
detached properties on Grange Road were built between 1910-1936; they are 
similar in scale and plots size to those already included in Grange Road.” Nos 32 
& 34 Grange Road although earlier in age were included in this extension and 
form the southern extent of the Conservation Area boundary up to York Road.   
Nos. 32 & 34 Grange Road are identified in SPD 5.9 as making a positive 
contribution to the Conservation Area for the following reasons “These buildings 
reflect a substantial number of other elements in the conservation area in age, 
style, materials and form. These buildings as part of a group, illustrate the 
development of the settlement in which they stand. They reflect the traditional 
functional character and former uses in the area.” The dwellings were erected 
between 1897 and 1908 as a pair of Cheshire interlocking semis and designed in 
the Arts & Crafts style. The dwellings display typical features found throughout the 
Conservation Area including prominent gables; steeply pitched roof, overhanging 
eaves, tall chimneys and distinctive half-timbered detailing. The principal elevation 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 56



 

 
 

of both properties has a strong sense of symmetry and enhanced by historic 
timber windows with an attractive curved transom detail. The setting of the 
dwellings is enhanced by a front garden with planting and a mature boundary 
hedge to Grange Road with a spacious rear garden.  

 
27. As set out in Appendix 1 of SPD 5.9, the application property has also been 

identified as a non-designated heritage asset. ‘The term positive contributor 
identifies a non-designated heritage asset which makes a positive contribution to 
the Conservation Area. These buildings, structures and sites are classed as 
heritage assets as they are identified by the local authority as having a degree of 
significance, meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of their 
heritage interest’. 

 

Proposal and Impact on Significance 
 

28. The proposed development relates to the demolition of the attached garage; 
erection of a single storey side extension; raised rear patio; enlarged rear 
lightwell and associated external alterations including replacement windows as 
well as the demolition of the original stone gateposts (in connection with 
alterations to the vehicular access) and the addition of roof lights. 

 
29. There is no objection to the proposed demolition of the existing garage as this 

extension is understood to be a later addition to the application property. 

 
30. The replacement extension is to be of a similar footprint to the existing side 

garage, projecting 3m from the original north elevation of the application property 
and having a depth of 5m. The extension would feature a gable roof to 
complement the main dwelling. The proposal would result in the removal of part of 
the application property’s original side elevation in order to open up the building’s 
kitchen area, leading to some loss of historic fabric. It is noted however that this 
elevation is already obscured by the existing garage and the replacement 
extension is in a similar position. It is considered therefore that this element of the 
proposal will not result in harm to the significance of the positive contributor. The 
proposed extension would see a rear elevation constructed almost entirely of 
glass panes 2.25m tall and measuring 2.7m wide in total. There is a lack of detail 
in relation to the material finish of the windows/doors planned for this element of 
the proposal and, if the application were to be recommended for approval, a 
condition would be required in relation to this. Whilst there would be a large 
expanse of glazing with a largely horizontal emphasis to the fenestration in a 
modern style, it is considered that given the position of this at ground floor level 
on the rear elevation of the property, it would not result in harm to the character 
and appearance of the wider Conservation Area.   
 

31. The proposals include a 0.76m high raised patio and retaining wall which would 
project 3.3m from the rear of the planned extension and would have a width of 
4.2m. It is considered that this would not result in any harm to the character of the 
positive contributor. An enlarged rear lightwell would be positioned immediately 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 57



 

 
 

adjacent to the raised platform, where excavation works have already occurred in 
connection with the proposed installation of an outside shower. Given that this is 
at the rear of the property and partially screened by the proposed retaining wall, it 
is considered that this would also not result in harm to the appearance of the 
positive contributor and the wider Conservation Area. 
 

32. The proposals also include the insertion of rooflights on the front and rear 
elevations. Policy 12 of the Management Plan states that roof lights should not be 
installed in locations that impact on the aesthetic value of the principal elevation 
or street scape and should not be disproportionately large compared to the 
established fenestration. Conservation roof lights should be installed rather than 
standard roof lights. It is considered that installation of roof lights on the principal 
elevation would not comply with this policy and would have a detrimental impact 
on the character of the property. Nevertheless, it is recognised that roof lights 
could be added to the front elevation under permitted development rights and that 
this represents a realistic fallback position, which must be taken into account. It is 
therefore considered that the proposed rooflights would be acceptable in this 
case, subject to a condition requiring that conservation style roof lights are used. 

 
33. The replacement of the dwelling’s historic timber windows with wood effect uPVC 

windows has resulted in harm to the character and appearance of the positive 
contributor. It is noted that all historic timber widows have been now removed 
from the property including the distinctive casement windows to the principal 
elevation and vertical sliding sash windows to the rear resulting in the loss of 
historic fabric. The historic timber windows were integral to the appearance of 
no.32 Grange Road and the positive contribution it makes to the Conservation 
Area. 

 
34. The nature of uPVC results in thicker frames with a flat, uniform appearance and 

lack the finesse of the detailing found in the previous timber windows. In 
particular, the proposal’s flush frame window design has an engineered 
appearance which is considered contextually inappropriate for this property and 
the Conservation Area. The combination of the uPVC frame and associated 
glazing also results in a glare to the windows which along with the introduction of 
trickle vents is visually detracting from the overall appearance of the heritage 
asset. This is exacerbated by introduction of a double cill detail, a lack of reveal 
and the thicker frames alter the proportions of the windows. The replacement of 
windows to the principal elevation has not sought to replicate the casement style 
of the previous historic windows in terms of the curved transom or method of 
opening and instead has introduced a vertical sliding sash which fails to replicate 
the symmetry of windows at no.34 Grange Road. The historic pattern of 
fenestration was a distinctive detail of the principal elevation which has now been 
removed and has impacted on the architectural significance of the heritage asset 
this also diminishes the appearance of no.34 Grange Road. As such, due to the 
style, design, method of opening and materiality, the works cause harm to the 
architectural and historic significance of the heritage asset and the contribution it 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 58



 

 
 

makes to Bowdon Conservation Area.  The use of uPVC fails to maintain the 
character of the dwelling and is therefore contrary to Policies 9 & 10 of SPD 5.9a. 
 

35. It is acknowledged that the pattern of fenestration to the rear of the dwelling would 
follow the design of the previous historic windows on this elevation. However, it is 
noted that the detailed design and materiality does not comply with Policy 10 of 
SPD 5.9a. The replacement of the larger first floor rear window with a more 
proportionate window to the application property is recognised and, in respect of 
this specific window, this is considered to be a benefit. Whilst there are concerns 
regarding some aspects of the design of the replacement windows, taking into 
account the improvement to the first floor window, it is considered that the works 
to the rear elevation have a neutral impact to the appearance of the positive 
contributor and the wider Bowdon Conservation Area.  

 

36. The alterations to the windows on the front of the property are seen in the context 
of the original windows on the adjoining property (both properties having 
previously been uniform in this respect) and the visual contrast / interrupted 
symmetry that now exists between the windows on the two properties therefore 
diminishes the character of the principal elevations of No.32 & 34 Grange Road 
and exacerbates the visual impact on the street scene. During the application 
process, the applicant provided the Planning Authority with a Window 
Specification Report. The report argues that “The front windows were not original 
windows that were installed on the property and it is the rear windows that are the 
original”.  No evidence has been presented to support this statement and as such, 
the Local Planning Authority cannot afford any weight to this and in turn it is 
considered that the previous casement windows were historic given that they 
match those of No.34 Grange Road and form a pair of semi-detached properties. 

 
37. It is acknowledged that the replacement windows would provide a benefit through 

improved energy efficiency. An argument has also been presented that the 
existing windows were in a poor deteriorated condition. However, there would be 
other ways of providing energy efficiency benefits and, if replacements were 
required, then, as outlined in the Conservation Area Management Plan, hardwood 
double glazed windows should be used, which would likely provided the same 
energy efficiency benefit whilst giving attention to the application property’s 
aesthetic and historic context. It is important to note that the Conservation Area is 
largely comprised of historic properties utilising traditional materials appropriate to 
each dwelling and their age. Whilst it is recognised that some properties on 
Grange Road feature uPVC windows, it is important to recognise that this area 
was only added into Bowdon Conservation Area in 2016 and therefore it is likely 
that some development may have occurred prior to the area’s adoption into the 
Conservation Area that would now be considered to have a harmful impact on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. It is thus even more 
important to protect that historic fabric which remains to prevent further 
deterioration of the character of the area.  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 59



 

 
 

38. With regard to the removal of the original stone gate posts at the vehicular access 
onto Grange Road, this element is retrospective with both gate posts having been 
in situ in May 2022 as shown on Google Maps Street View, notwithstanding the 
fact that it is recognised that the gatepost on the left hand side of the access had 
already suffered some damage at that stage. The submitted plans have been 
amended to show the gateposts cut down in height to 1m and both reinstated in 
different positions to allow the creation of a wider vehicular access. The plans 
have also been amended to show the proposed sliding gate reduced to 1m in 
height. A brick wall of less than 1m in height is also shown along the remainder of 
the Grange Road frontage. It is recognised that the erection of a wall, gateposts 
and gates with a maximum height of 1m would not normally require planning 
permission in itself. However, the demolition of a wall, fence or gate of over 1m in 
height in the Conservation Area does require planning permission and therefore it 
is considered that the removal of the gateposts does constitute demolition that 
requires planning permission and that the proposed widening of the vehicular 
access could not take place without this.  
 

39. It is recognised that whilst not completely uniform, the prevailing characteristic 
front boundary treatment for properties on Grange Road is partially hedged with a 
small open section for vehicular access and this is considered to contribute 
positively to the visual amenity of the area. It is considered that the widened 
driveway would be out of keeping with the general character of the surrounding 
area. The proposed access would be significantly wider than previously (total 
width 4.9m – a 1.2m increase in comparison with the original access) and would 
see a planned 1m high electric sliding access gate and 1m high brick wall, which 
would also appear out of character with the area (notwithstanding the fact that a 
1m high gate and wall would not normally need permission in itself). The width of 
the access is considered excessive and has resulted in the removal of mature 
landscaping. The use of a sliding wrought iron gate is additionally not a 
characteristic of this part of Bowdon Conservation Area, with access gates at 
No.28 Grange Road considered to be a more appropriate design (timber, side 
hung gates, with a reduced height).  Policy 27 of SPD 5.9a identifies that modern 
boundary treatments are not acceptable. It is noted that a brick boundary wall is 
not a traditional boundary treatment to the west side of Grange Road nor is the 
sliding metal gate.  
 

40. Policy 26 of the Management Plan states that “Gate openings should not be 
widened or re-positioned unless it can be proven that access is unsafe. Where 
gate openings are to be widened or re-positioned on the grounds of highway 
safety, such change should be restricted to the minimum amount necessary to 
ensure safe access. Trafford Council will require the applicant to submit a 
highway consultant’s report to demonstrate highway safety implications.”  
 

41. The application submission does not include a highway consultant’s report and it 
has not been demonstrated that the original access was unsafe. The LHA has 
also confirmed that whilst the new vehicular access would provide a betterment in 
comparison with the original access (prior to widening) in terms of improved 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 60



 

 
 

visibility, the previous access “is not considered unsafe as it existed for many 
years and was being used without issues”. 

 
42. Whilst the applicant has highlighted the existence of other electric sliding gates on 

Grange Road, it is important to note that these gates have not been granted 
planning permission. In particular, the gates at No.14 (Mearside) and No.18 
(Fieldside) are currently under investigation by the Council’s Planning Compliance 
Team. In any case, the Local Planning Authority has to consider each application 
on its own merits and in relation to the site specific circumstances. Paragraph 
1.3.4 of the Conservation Area Management Plan states that “For new planning 
applications it will not be acceptable to use inappropriate examples as a 
precedent to justify new proposals for development”. In this case, the proposed 
widened vehicular access is considered to cause harm to the character and 
appearance of Bowdon Conservation Area. 

 
43. In addition, it is considered that the cutting down of the original gateposts to 1m in 

height (together with their reinstatement in a new position) would have a harmful 
impact on historic fabric and the character and appearance of the property and 
would be contrary to policies in the Management Plan. In particular, Policy 24 
states that original gateposts should be retained where possible and Policy 25 
states that replacement gateposts should only be instated where the repair of the 
original is not feasible. Whilst the applicant has stated that the left hand gatepost 
is damaged, the proposal is to cut down the existing stone gate posts rather than 
to replace them completely and there is therefore no suggestion that the 
gateposts cannot be repaired.  

 
44. SPD 5.9a (para 2.6.2) identifies the valuable contribution stone gateposts make to 

the Conservation Area and the harm caused; ‘There is a good proportion of 
surviving original gateposts throughout the Conservation Area. These are 
characteristically roughly-hewn local sandstone with a traditional carved element. 
In some instances these have been kept and a new gate opening positioned 
further back from the road; however this detracts from the original posts which 
mark the entrance point. Pressures for off-road parking and the subsequent 
widening and/or re-positioning of access onto new or existing driveways threaten 
the long-term survival of these historic gate posts and consequently the wider 
streetscape’. 
 

45. Policy 28 also states that boundary treatments and front gardens should not be 
removed to create additional hard standing, garaging or parking. It is considered 
that the significant increase in the area of hardstanding would add to the impact of 
the proposed works and would also be contrary to this policy.  
 

46. In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal as a whole would have a 
detrimental impact on the application property’s architectural significance. In 
particular, the replacement of timber windows with uPVC windows to all 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 61



 

 
 

elevations and the proposal’s widening of the driveway would appear out of 
character in the street scene.  
 

47. In general terms, it is important to note that the architectural and historic 
significance of the Conservation Area derives from the cumulative effect of 
individual dwellings being of a high quality design appearance and composition. It 
is also important to note that there is a strong sense of symmetry and uniformity 
with the adjoining property no.34 Grange Road.  As such, it is considered that the 
proposal would have an overall harmful impact upon the appearance of the 
positive contributor (a non-designated heritage asset) and would result in harm to 
the character and appearance of Bowdon Conservation Area 

 
48. It is considered that the development would not be sympathetic to its historic 

context. As such it is considered the proposal does not respect the building’s 
established features, form, proportions and materials and is contrary to policies 
contained with SPD 5.9a. The development would therefore harm the character of 
the positive contributor / non-designated heritage asset and the character and 
appearance of the wider Bowdon Conservation Area. 

 

Consideration of Harm 

 
49. Whilst the planned demolition of the existing garage and the overall form of the 

proposed side extension is considered to be acceptable, the works including 
alterations to windows, demolition of the original gateposts and alterations to the 
vehicular access would not be in keeping with the host dwelling and would not be 
compliant with policies 9, 10, 26, 28 and 44 of the Conservation Area 
Management Plan. 
 

50. Notwithstanding that there would be a minor benefit as a result of improvements 
to the first floor window on the rear elevation, the proposal overall is considered to 
cause harm to the character and appearance of the positive contributor (which is 
also a Non-Designated Heritage Asset as confirmed by the Conservation Area 
Appraisal) and the wider Bowdon Conservation Area. In NPPF terms, it is 
considered that this would constitute “less than substantial” harm. 

 
51. NPPF Paragraph 208 states that; ‘Where a development proposal will lead to less 

than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.’ Given that the development is a 
residential extension, it is considered that there are no public benefits of the 
proposal that would outweigh the “less than substantial” harm with any benefits 
for the applicant being private in nature. Whilst the agent has referred to the fact 
that there would be additional investment in the property, it is considered that any 
public benefit in this respect is negated by the fact that the proposed development 
would harm the character of the positive contributor. In principle, the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 62



 

 
 

refurbishment of the property would be welcomed if this were proposed in a way 
that complied with the relevant Conservation Area Management Plan policies.  

 
52. It is therefore considered that the development would result in harm to the 

significance of the designated heritage asset (Bowdon Conservation Area) and 
the NDHA (the property itself) and is not in accordance with Policy R1, emerging 
Policy JP-P2 of the PfE Joint Development Plan and the heritage policies of the 
NPPF. In terms of NPPF paragraph 11 d) i), this would provide a clear reason for 
refusal of permission. 

 
DESIGN 
 

53. NPPF paragraph 131 states that ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
crate better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.’ Paragraph 139 states that ‘Development that is not 
well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design 
policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any local design 
guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and 
codes.’ 
 

54. Relating to design, Policy L7 of the Core Strategy requires that development is 
‘appropriate in its context; makes best use of opportunities to improve the 
character and quality of an area by appropriately addressing scale, density, 
height, layout, elevation treatment, materials, landscaping; and is compatible with 
the surrounding area.’ 

 
55. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document, SPD4: A Guide for Designing 

House Extensions and Alterations, paragraph 2.2.1 sets out that extensions 
should reflect the character, scale and form of the original dwelling by matching 
and harmonising with the existing architectural style and detailing. Paragraph 
4.1.3 of SPD4 states that proposals within Conservation Areas must be carefully 
designed to enhance and complement their distinctive qualities and to take 
account of their settings and that higher standards will be applied by the Council 
in these areas. 

 
56. Paragraph 3.12.3 of SPD4 states that “Domestic means of enclosure are a 

prominent feature within residential streets. They define residential boundaries 
and contribute to the quality and character of the street scene. Where there is a 
distinctive type of frontage in a residential area, including an open frontage, it will 
be desirable to keep and reinforce this type of boundary treatment in new 
development. Applications for boundaries that are in keeping with the original 
characteristic boundaries in a local area are likely to be considered favourably. 
For example, large parts of Trafford are defined by low boundary walls with 
planting behind, and in such areas, boundary treatment proposals should be in 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 63



 

 
 

keeping with this prevailing type of boundary. Any development proposal should 
as far as practicable retain as much as possible of existing characteristic 
boundary treatments and/or re-create the predominant type of boundary 
treatment. Where poor examples exist in the local area, these will not be sufficient 
reason for new proposals to not comply with these guidelines or an unsympathetic 
proposal to be approved by the LPA.” 
 

57. Paragraph 3.12.4 states that “The type, height, length, design and siting of a 
boundary treatment are all important considerations as to whether it would be 
acceptable. Good quality characteristic materials help to reinforce local character, 
particularly in areas of historic interest with distinctive qualities. Boundary 
treatments such as planting or low walls with planting, are considered more 
appropriate as they soften residential frontages and contribute to the street 
scene…Boundary treatments should not be so tall so as to over-dominate and 
have an overbearing impact on pedestrians and the street scene…Prominently 
sited and uncharacteristically tall boundaries are generally harmful to domestic 
character. Defensive, high gates, walls and fences will not normally be acceptable 
on street frontages, in particular to the front of properties.” 

 
58. The proposed extension and rear alterations are considered to be acceptable in 

design terms, given their position at single storey height on the rear elevation  

 
59. The replacement of the dwelling’s timber windows with wood effect uPVC 

windows has resulted in harm to the character and appearance of the application 
dwelling due to their style, design, method of opening and materials. The 
alterations to the windows are seen in the context of the original windows on the 
adjoining property (both properties having previously been relatively uniform in 
this respect) and the visual contrast / interrupted symmetry that now exists 
between the windows on the two properties therefore exacerbates the visual 
impact of the development in the street scene. 

 

60. In addition, the demolition of the stone gate posts and widened driveway would be 
out of keeping with the general character of the surrounding area. The proposed 
access would be significantly wider than the original access (total width 4.9m – a 
1.2m increase in comparison with the existing) and would see a planned 1m high 
electric access gate. The width of the access is considered excessive, and has 
also removed mature landscaping. The cutting down of the existing access gates 
would also appear out of character with the property and incongruous in the street 
scene. 

 
61. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would result in an 

incongruous and unsympathetic form of development that would be out of 
character with the existing property. The proposed development would have a 
detrimental impact on the visual appearance and character of the street scene 
and the surrounding area and would be contrary to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 64



 

 
 

Strategy, Policy JP-P1 of the emerging Places for Everyone Plan and the design 
policies of the NPPF.  

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 
62. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy, relating to design, specifies about residential 

amenity in paragraph L7.3: 
 

‘In relation to the protection of residential amenity, development must:  

 Be compatible with the surrounding area; and  

 Not prejudice the amenity of the future occupiers of the development and/or 
occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, overshadowing, 
overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and/or disturbance, odour or in any other 
way.’ 
 

63. Paragraph 2.15.2 states ‘Extensions which would result in the windows of a 
habitable room (e.g. living room or bedroom) being sited less than 10.5m from the 
site boundary overlooking a neighbouring private garden area are not likely to be 
considered acceptable, unless there is adequate screening such as significant 
mature evergreen planting or intervening buildings. Where windows are proposed 
above first floor e.g. second storey or dormer windows, the above figure should 
be increased by 3m to 13.5m.’  
 

64. Given the proposed side extension’s single storey height and 1.2m separation 
distance to the shared boundary with No.30 Grange Road, it is considered that 
there would be no unacceptable overbearing or overshadowing impact on this 
property.  It is also noted that no windows are planned on the north (side) 
elevation. In relation to the proposed glazing to the rear elevation of the 
extension, a minimum separation distance of 10.8m is to be retained to the site’s 
rear boundary. It is also recognised that given the positioning of No.45 York Road, 
there would be no undue impact on this neighbour’s habitable room windows. 
Similarly, it is considered that the 0.76m high raised patio to the rear of the 
proposed extension would not result in any undue overlooking of neighbouring 
properties, given that the existing boundary treatments at the development site 
are consider to provide adequate screening from any potential loss of privacy. 

 
65. No amenity concerns are anticipated as a result of the proposed widening of the 

driveway and installation of a new vehicular access gate.  

 
66. As such, it is considered that the proposal would not have any unacceptable 

impact on the residential amenity of any neighbouring dwellings and would 
comply with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy and the policies of the NPPF in this 
respect. 

 
PARKING AND HIGHWAY SAFETY 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 65



 

 
 

67. The LHA has raised no objections to the proposal. Whilst the demolition of the 
site’s attached garage would result in the loss of one parking space, parking 
provision for two vehicles is to be provided on the site’s driveway. It is also noted 
that the proposal does not see the addition of any bedrooms but instead reduces 
the number of bedrooms from four to three bedrooms following internal 
alterations. As such, it is considered that the proposed development would be 
acceptable in terms of parking impacts and would comply with SPD3 guidelines in 
this respect. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

68. The proposed development will increase the internal floor space of the dwelling by 
less than 100m2 and therefore will be below the threshold for CIL charging. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

69. It is considered that the proposed works would result in harm to the character and 
appearance of the Non-Designated Heritage Asset and the wider Bowdon 
Conservation Area. Applying the test in paragraph 208 of the NPPF, it is 
considered that there are no public benefits that would outweigh the “less than 
substantial” harm to the significance of the Conservation Area. The development 
would therefore fail to comply with Policies L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy, emerging Policies JP-P1 and JP-P2 of the PfE Joint Development Plan, 
and the heritage policies contained within the NPPF. In terms of NPPF paragraph 
11 d) i), this would represent a clear reason for refusal of permission and the tilted 
balance is therefore not engaged. 
 

70. The proposals would also not be acceptable in terms of design and impact on 
visual amenity contrary to Policy L7 of the Core Strategy and Policy JP-P1 of the 
PfE Joint Development Plan. It would harm the character and appearance of the 
Non-Designated Heritage Asset contrary to Policy R1 of the Core Strategy and 
JP-P2 of the PfE Joint Development Plan, and which also weighs against the 
proposal in the planning balance. The proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
terms of residential amenity and impacts on parking. 

 
71. Overall the proposed development fails to comply with Policies R1 and L7 of the 

Trafford Core Strategy, Policies JP-P1 and JP-P2 of the emerging PfE Joint 
Development Plan, policies contained within the Bowdon Conservation Area 
Management Plan and the NPPF. No material considerations have been identified 
that would warrant a decision other than in accordance with the development 
plan. Therefore the application is recommended for refusal. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE 
 

1. The proposed development, by reason of the demolition of the original stone gate 
posts and the widening of the vehicular access and the alterations to the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 66



 

 
 

windows on the front (east) elevation including the design and materials of the 
new windows and the loss of historic fabric, would result in an incongruous and 
unsympathetic form of development that would harm the character of the positive 
contributor, the street scene and the surrounding area. The development would 
therefore cause “less than substantial” harm to the character and appearance 
and the significance of the Non-Designated Heritage Asset and the Bowdon 
Conservation Area. There are no public benefits that would outweigh the 
identified harm. As such, the proposed development would be contrary to 
Policies L7 and R1 of the Trafford Core Strategy, Policies JP-P1 and JP-P2 of 
the emerging Places for Everyone Plan, guidance in SPD5.9 and SPD5.9a – 
Bowdon Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan, the Council’s 
adopted SPD4: A Guide for Designing House Extensions and Alterations and the 
policies of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
SAMP 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 67



E

E

2

1

5

9

3

34

21

58

24

33

44

15

45

20

26

30

14

11

A
S

H
 G

R
O

V
E

YORK ROAD

Eaton Court Grange Court
GRANGE ROAD

E
A

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

1 to 91 to 6

36.7m

37.6m

10 to
 19 20

 t
o

 3
1

Langdale

Cottage

Littlefield

Fieldside

Mearside

Ashville

Weynfleet

Hazelwood

Hockey Ground

Wyngarth

Grangecroft

Bryncroft

Moss Croft

2

20

14

York

Donnington

Bowdon C 
Primary Sc

23

20

1

26

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

111870/HHA/23

Donnington, 32 Grange Road, Bowdon( site hatched on map)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date  15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 68



 

 
 

WARD: Timperley Central 
 

112142/HHA/23 DEPARTURE: No 

Erection of a two storey side and a part single/part two storey rear extension, 
erection of an outbuilding to the rear garden. 

 
93 Stockport Road, Timperley, WA15 7LH 
 
APPLICANT: Lin and Samual Fan 
AGENT:         Mr  Jeff Atkins 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
 
The application is reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as it has received a total of six neighbour objections  

SITE 
 
The application site consists of a two storey semi-detached dwelling situated on the 
north side of Stockport Road, Timperley. The surrounding area is predominantly 
residential in nature, with mostly detached and semi-detached properties. The 
application dwelling has an existing single storey rear extension and detached garage. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of two storey side extension and a part 
single, part two storey rear extension alongside a detached outbuilding within the rear 
garden (replacing an existing outbuilding). 
 
The side extension would project approximately 1.65m to the side, with a depth of 
13.4m (12.5m at first floor level). It proposes pitched roofs with an eaves heights of 
2.4m and 5.5m and ridge heights of 3.1m and 8.3m.  
 
The ground floor rear extension would project 5m to the rear with a total width of 8.6m. 
It proposes a flat roof with a total height of 3.2m.  
 
The first floor rear extension would project 4m in total to the rear and 4.85m across. It 
proposes a pitched roof with an eaves height of 5.5m and a ridge height of 7.3m.   
 
The proposed outbuilding would measure 6m x 3.9m, proposing a pitched roof with an 
eaves height of 2.35m and a ridge height of 3.5m.   
 
The proposal would be constructed with matching materials to the main dwelling and 
the increase in floor space of the proposed development would be less than 100m2.   
 
VALUE ADDED  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 69



 

 
 

Amended plans were received upon request in order to reduce the first floor rear 
extension in its rear projections, so to reduce the impact towards side and rear 
neighbours in respect of overshadowing and overbearing. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 

 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  
 

PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 

L4 – Parking 

L7 – Design  

For the purpose of the determination of this planning application, these policies are 

considered ‘up to date’ in NPPF Paragraph 11 terms 

 

OTHER LOCAL POLICY DOCUMENTS 

SPD4 – A Guide for Designing House Extensions and Alterations 

 

PROPOSALS MAP NOTION 

None 

 

PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 

None 

 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 

 
The DLUHC published the latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in December 2023.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 70



 

 
 

The NPPG was first published in March 2014, and it is regularly updated, with the most 
recent amendments made in January 2023. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE (PfE) 
 

Places for Everyone (PfE) is a joint Development Plan Document being produced by 
nine Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and 
employment development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects 
environmental assets. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced 
on 02 November 2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the 
Inspectors issued IN39 on 11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this 
stage of the examination that all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to 
make the Plan sound and/or legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard.   
Consultation on the Main Modifications started on 11 October 2023 and closed on 6 
December 2023. Consequently the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making 
process and substantial weight can be attached to its policies.  
 
Emerging policies relevant to this application are: 
 
JP-P1 - Sustainable Places 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

None  
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
CIL Questions  
Amended plans  

CONSULTATIONS 
 

None  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Seven neighbour representations have been received in response to the proposal, with 
objections from nos. 77, 81, 83, 85 and 91 Stockport Road, alongside nos.26 and 28 
South Vale Close. Their comments are summarised below: 
 

- The proposal would be out of character for the site, street scene and considering 
surrounding extensions.  
 

- The proposal would impact upon the privacy of neighbours through harmful 
levels of overlooking. No.91 Stockport Road specified overlooking to their 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 71



 

 
 

driveway and their rear garden 
 

- The scale of the proposal (including the gable roof of the rear extension) would 
appear overly dominant, incongruous and out of proportion with the existing 
dwelling and surrounding character.  
 

- The proposal would harmfully overshadow neighbouring properties. No.91 
Stockport Road specified overshadowing to their side facing kitchen window.  
 

- The proposal would appear overbearing given the scale and proximity to 
boundaries / neighbouring dwellings.  

 
- The proposal would cause a loss of light to surrounding gardens and overlook 

surrounding gardens  
 

- The proposal would disrupt the rhythm of gaps between the dwellings, impacting 
upon the sense of spaciousness within the street scene  
 

- The proposal (and increased bedrooms to the dwelling) would impact upon 
parking availability on site and highway safety for the site and street, causing 
cars to park on grass verge 
 

- The proposal would set a precedent for similar extensions on street if approved 
 

- The proposal would reduce house values given the impacts to neighbour amenity 
(overshadowing and overlooking) 
 

- 91 Stockport Road – Certificate B was not submitted in relation to the proposed 
outbuilding and the neighbour considers that the foundations and roof of this 
structure would encroach their boundary. The neighbour does not give 
permission to enter the site of 91 Stockport Road.  
 

- The proposal would fail to comply with policies of the NPPF, L7 and SPD4. 

 
Officer Comments – concerns of house values and access to neighbouring sites 
during construction are not planning considerations that would be taken into account 
when assessing the application. For all other planning concerns please see the 
observations section below.   

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCPLE 
 

1. Householder extensions and alterations are acceptable in principle subject to 
there being no undue harm to the character and appearance of the property or 
streetscene through unsympathetic design or unacceptable harm to the amenity 
of neighbouring properties and residential areas. Further to this, issues relating to 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 72



 

 
 

parking provision are also to be considered. There are no additional constraints 
in this instance. The proposal has been considered/assessed against Core 
Strategy with Policy L7 and guidance contained in SPD4 and the NPPF. 

 
DESIGN AND VISUAL AMENITY 
 

2. Paragraph 131 of NPPF states ‘The creation of high quality buildings and places 
is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
Being clear about design expectations, and how these will be tested, is essential 
for achieving this. So too is effective engagement between applicants, 
communities, local planning authorities and other interests throughout the 
process.’  
 

3. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in considering applications for 
development within the Borough, the Council will determine whether or not the 
proposed development meets the standards set in national guidelines and the 
requirements of Policy L7. The relevant extracts of Policy L7 require that 
development is appropriate in its context; makes best use of opportunities to 
improve the character and quality of an area by appropriately addressing scale, 
density, height, layout, elevation treatment, materials, landscaping; and is 
compatible with the surrounding area. 
 

4. The proposed side and rear extension(s) although large, are considered to be 
appropriate in terms of design and scale, with appropriate heights so to appear 
subservient to the host and in proportion with the site plot. The side extension 
would retain a minimum 0.97m gap to the shared boundary with no. 91 Stockport 
Road which would avoid any terracing effect and allow access to the rear.  

 
5. It is recognised that the 0.97m gap to the boundary is slightly less that the 1m 

value outlined in SPD4, however the 3cm shortfall is not considered significant as 
to cause visual harm and is therefore acceptable on balance. As such the side 
extension is not considered to disrupt uniformity within the street and would 
retain a suitable sense of spaciousness for the site and street-scene.  

 
6. The side extension would project by 1.65m from the side elevation of the 

dwelling, this is significantly less than half the width of the host dwelling and is 
considered acceptable in scale. It would be set back from the main principal 
elevation by 0.25m at ground floor level and by 1m at first floor level, which would 
reduce prominence in relation to the street scene. The proposed hipped roof form 
would match the roof form of the host dwelling. It would be set down from the 
main ridge, with the eaves matching the eaves level of the host dwelling, to 
maintain a subservient and complementary appearance. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 73



 

 
 

7. The rear extension has been amended so to reduce the rear projection to 4m at 
first floor level, being 5m at ground floor. Given that a sufficient garden space 
would still be retained, the overall scale, form and massing of the rear extensions 
are considered acceptable and would not dominate the original property. The 
rear projection of the extension would be similar to the neighbouring extension 
and outrigger situated at both sides and so is considered to be in keeping with 
the context of the area. The pitched roof would be set down from the main ridge 
and the eaves height would correspond with the eaves height of the main roof, 
which is acceptable in appearance. Although concerns relating to the gable roof 
form are noted, this is considered acceptable in appearance given the 
subservient height and rear siting, limiting the visual impact upon the street 
scene.  

 
8. The proposed outbuilding is considered to be appropriate in terms of its design 

and scale given that it would be single storey and of a proportionate scale for the 
site. The outbuilding is considered to be of suitable height so to still appear 
subservient to the main dwelling. It would occupy a similar position to the existing 
outbuilding (to be replaced) with similar proportions and is adjacent to an existing 
outbuilding within the rear garden of no.91. 
 

9. The proposed window design on the extension and outbuilding replicates the 
original windows of the host dwelling and is considered acceptable. Furthermore 
the extension would be constructed with matching materials and would appear in 
keeping with the character of the surrounding residential area. 

 
10. Overall the neighbour concerns and relevant sections of SPD4 (including those 

raised in objections) are noted in the assessment of the proposal and it is 
considered that the proposal would be of an acceptable scale and design in 
relation to the existing dwelling and not harm the visual amenity of the application 
site, street scene and the surrounding area. Subject to conditions, the proposed 
development is considered acceptable in terms of design and visual amenity and 
would comply with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF in 
this respect. 
 

RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

11. Policy L7 of the Core Strategy states that in relation to matters of amenity 
development must not prejudice the amenity of future occupiers of the 
development and/or occupants of adjacent properties by reason of overbearing, 
overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise or disturbance, odour or in 
any other way. 
 

12. The relevant guidance contained within SPD4 states the following: 
 

Paragraph 2.14.2 states ‘It is important that extensions or alterations:  

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 74



 

 
 

- Do not adversely overlook neighbouring windows and/or private gardens 
areas.  

- Do not cause a significant loss of light to windows in neighbouring properties 
and/or their patio and garden areas.  

- Are not sited so as to have an overbearing impact on neighbouring amenity.’ 

 
Paragraph 2.16.1 states ‘An extension positioned too close to a boundary, may 
cause a loss of sunlight and/or daylight to a neighbour’s window or garden. An 
extension that would overshadow your neighbour to an unreasonable extent 
would not be considered acceptable. Care should be taken that the extension is 
not positioned in such a way as to cause unreasonable overshadowing to a  

 
Paragraph 3.4.2 states that “normally, a single storey rear extension close to the 
boundary should not project more than 3m from the rear elevation of a semi-
detached property.  This projection can be increased by an amount equal to the 
extra distance from the side boundary.” 
 
Paragraph 3.4.3 states that “For two storey rear extensions, normally extensions 
should not normally project more than 1.5m close to a shared boundary. If the 
extension is set away from the boundary by more than 15cm, this projection can 
be increased by an amount equal to the extra distance from the side boundary 
(e.g, if an extension is 1m from the side boundary, the projection may be 
increased to 2.5m).” 

 
Impact on neighbours to front and rear 

 
13. The proposal would not project forward of the main dwelling. Furthermore no 

dwellings are situated directly to the front of the site within a 21m distance. 
Therefore no significant harm is considered to occur in this case. 

 
14. The rear extension(s) would retain a distance of 16.3m to the rear boundary, 

whilst retaining a distance exceeding 21m in regards to the closest rear 
dwellings. These distances comply with the recommendations of SPD4 and so 
no significant harm is considered to occur in this case. 

 
15. The proposed outbuilding would retain a distance of 8.9m to the rear boundary 

and 23m in regards to the respective rear dwellings. Therefore given the 
separation no significant harm is considered to occur in this case. 

 
Impact on no. 95 Stockport Road 
 

16. The majority of the side extension would be screened by the main dwelling in 
relation to the attached neighbour, no.95 Stockport Road and so no harm is 
considered in this regard.   
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 75



 

 
 

17. The single storey rear extension would project approximately 5m in total to the 
rear along the shared boundary. This projection is 2m beyond the initial guidance 
of SPD4. It is however not considered to be harmful given the reasons outlined in 
the paragraph below.  
 

18. No. 95 Stockport Road has a single storey rear extension that projects 
approximately 3.6m to the rear along the shared boundary. Therefore the 
proposed rear extension would only project 1.4m beyond the rear building line of 
this neighbour at ground floor level. This is in accordance with SPD4 and the 
proposal is not considered to result in harm to amenity in regards to 
overshadowing or by creating an undue sense of overbearing. 

 
19. The first floor rear extension would project approximately 4m in total to the rear 

with a separation distance of 3.8m from the shared boundary with the attached 
neighbour, 95 Stockport Road. It would therefore be in accordance with the 
guidelines contained within SPD4 and is not considered to cause harm to 
amenity. 

 
20. The proposed outbuilding would be of a modest scale, retaining a distance of 

approximately 5.4m to the common boundary with 95 Stockport Road. The side 
facing doors are not considered to harmfully overlook given the outbuildings 
study/gym use is non-habitable and is single storey. Therefore no significant 
harm is considered to occur in this case.  

 
21. Given the orientation of the site, extension to no. 95 and siting and scale of the 

proposal the development proposed is not considered to result in harm to 
neighbour’s amenity. 

 
Impact on no. 91 Stockport Road 

 
22. The two storey side extension would retain a gap of approximately 1m to the 

shared boundary with no.91, resulting in a total separation distance of 
approximately 3.65m between the proposed extension and of the side elevation 
no.91. This is only a reduction of 1.7m on the existing relationship.  
 

23. There are several windows on the side elevation of no.91, whilst the first floor 
windows are obscure glazed, one of the ground floor windows is clear glazed and 
which, at least in part, serves habitable rooms. Towards the rear of the side 
elevation is a large window, which appear to serve a kitchen/dining room space. 
Whilst the outlook and light to this window would change and reduce, there is 
another window on the rear elevation of the neighbour’s outrigger providing a 
secondary and alternative light and outlook source. Additionally it is noted that 
the neighbouring side window would already be obstructed in regards to sunlight 
by the existing carport of no.91. Therefore given the modest reduction in 
separation between the properties and available light from other windows, on 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 76



 

 
 

balance it is considered the proposal would not cause a harmful impact in 
regards to outlook or be unduly overbearing.  
 

24. It is acknowledged that given the orientation of the site, the proposed side 
extension would cause some level overshadowing in the morning hours and due 
to the scale and proximity also cause some loss of light impacts to no.91’s side 
windows. However, given the reasons outlined above, the proposed side 
extension is not considered to cause a harmful loss of light or overshadowing 
that would warrant refusal. 

 
25. The overlooking concerns to the neighbouring drive from the proposed front 

window(s) are noted, however the proposed windows are not considered to offer 
significantly greater levels of additional overlooking compared with the existing 
front facing windows. Furthermore this area of the neighbouring site is not 
considered to be a primary amenity space compared with the rear garden. 
Therefore the overlooking to no.91’s front drive is not considered significant as to 
warrant a refusal.  

 
26. The ground floor side windows of the extension would occupy similar uses 

compared with the existing context and so are not considered to offer harmful 
levels of additional overlooking. The proposed first floor side windows serve 
bathrooms and secondary windows for a bedroom and as such can reasonably 
be conditioned as obscurely glazed and fixed shut to 1.7m (as indicated on the 
proposed plans) to avoid harmful overlooking and loss of privacy (the bedroom 
has a primary window on the rear elevation). 

 
27. The 45 degree assessment as set out in the BRE’s guidance for assessing 

daylight and sunlight and the concerns raised by no.91’s objection are noted, 
however this guidance note is not specifically reference in the Core Strategy or 
SPD4 as a means in which to assess the overshadowing and overbearing impact 
upon a neighbouring site. Specifically to rear extensions, SPD4 section 3.4 is 
used to assess the amenity impact and is outlined below.  

 
28. The proposed rear extension, at ground floor level, sited 1m to the shared 

boundary with no.91, would have depth of 5m. Although this is 1m beyond the 
initial guidance of SPD4, it is noted that the proposed extension only projects 
approximately 1.4m beyond the rear elevation of no.91, established by their rear 
outrigger. This projection of 1.4m is considered to be in compliance with SPD4. 
Therefore given the scale of this element and separation to the side boundary 
and the neighbouring rear addition, it is considered that the ground floor rear 
extension would not cause an overbearing or overshadowing impact on no.91. 

 
29. The proposed first floor rear extension, sited 1m to the shared boundary with 

no.91, would have depth of 4m from the main rear wall, which would exceed the 
SPD4 recommended projection limit by 1.5m (guidance limit is 2.5m in this case). 
However, as outlined above, no.91 features a single storey rear outrigger of 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 77



 

 
 

approx. 3.6m in depth, therefore the proposed first floor extension would only 
project approx. 0.4m beyond the rear elevation of no.91. 

 
30. Furthermore it is noted that the first floor rear elevation of no.91 does not 

accommodate a rear facing window on the side closest to the proposal. The 
closest first floor rear facing window is set approximately 7.35m from the 
proposed extension. Therefore the level of harm in regards to overshadowing 
and a sense of overbearing is considered to be less significant in this case.  

 
31. As such, although the neighbour concerns of overshadowing to the windows and 

rear patio area are noted, the proposal is not considered to result in 
unacceptable levels of overshadowing or a sense of overbearing given the 
projections outlined above as to warrant a refusal.  

 
32. Concerns have been raised that the proposed rear bedroom window would result 

in opportunities for undue overlooking to the rear garden of no.91 Stockport 
Road.  These concerns have been noted and as such, the rear bedroom window 
was amended from a full length window to a standard window in order to reduce 
the level of perceived overlooking. The rear bedroom window would be set 2.25m 
from the shared boundary with no.91 and so some additional outlook towards the 
neighbouring rear garden would occur, views would however be partially 
screened by the two outbuildings situated either side of the shared boundary 
alongside the boundary fence and accompanying planting. Furthermore the rear 
facing window is not considered to offer any greater overlooking compared to a 
standard rear facing first floor window common within the surrounding area.  

 
33.  It is therefore considered that the proposed extension would not have an 

unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of any neighbouring properties 
and would comply with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy in this respect. 

 
34. The proposed outbuilding would be predominantly screened by the existing 

neighbouring garage of 91 Stockport Road which is set along the shared 
boundary. Therefore no significant harm is considered in this case. 

 
PARKING AND HIGHWAY SAFETY 

 
35. The extension would remove potential parking space at the side of the dwelling. 

The proposal would create one additional bedroom for a total of four. Two off-
street parking spaces would be retained at the front of the dwelling, whilst there 
is some scope for parking on street. It is therefore considered that there would 
not be an unacceptable parking impact. 
 

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 78



 

 
 

36. The proposed development increases the internal floor space of the dwelling by 
less than 100m2 and therefore is below the threshold for charging. No other 
planning obligations are required. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

37. The side and rear extensions would be large additions to the property, however 
given their massing and design in relation to the existing dwelling they are 
considered to be proportionate and not to cause harm to the character and 
appearance of the dwelling or street scene by reason and therefore considered 
appropriate within the site context.  
 

38. The concerns and objections of neighbours have been considered and it is 
acknowledged that the proposal would have a degree of impact on the amenity of 
the properties at either side. However given the scale and design of the proposal, 
separation to the boundaries and orientation of the site this impact is not 
considered to be so severe as to be harmful and warrant refusal of planning 
permission. 

 
39. All relevant planning issues have been considered and representations taken into 

consideration in concluding that the proposal comprises an appropriate form of 
development for the site, compliant with policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, 
SPD4 and the NPPF.  The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 
date of this permission. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on plan numbers:  
P2313 D01 REV:A; P2314 D05 REV:E; P2313 D06 REV:E; P2313 D07 REV:C; 
P2314/ D08 B and the associated site location plan. 
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. The materials used in any exterior work must be of a similar appearance to those 
used in the construction of the exterior of the existing building. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document 4: A Guide for Designing House 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 79



 

 
 

Extensions and Alterations and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation the 
windows in the first floor on the west side elevation facing 91 Stockport Road 
shall be fitted with, to a height of no less than 1.7m above finished floor level, 
non-opening lights and textured glass which obscuration level is no less than 
Level 3 of the Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as such 
thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
MT 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 80



E

5

2

1

14

29

38
79

89

31

2a

26
13

11

28.7m

Pond

101
103

STOCKPORT ROAD

SOUTH VALE CRESCENT
B

E
E

S
T

O
N

 A
V

E
N

U
E14

117

Ward Bdy

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

112142/HHA/23

93 Stockport Road, Timperley (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee Date 15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 81



WARD: Urmston 
 

112242/FUL/23 DEPARTURE: No 

Erection of apartment blocks containing 24no. affordable 2 bedroom 
apartments along with associated external works, car parking and 
landscaping. 
 
Former 1-3 Old Crofts Bank, Davyhulme, Manchester, M41 7AA 
 
APPLICANT: Branley Estates Ltd / Irwell Valley Homes 
AGENT:         Mr Matthew Gray 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 
 
The application is reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as more than six letters of objection have been received contrary to 
the Officer recommendation. 
 

Executive Summary 
 
This application seeks planning permission for the erection of 24 no. two-bedroom 
apartments available for either shared ownership or affordable rent which would be 
delivered by Irwell Valley Homes.  These would be constructed on a vacant brownfield 
site, previously occupied by Urmston Social Club.  The built form would comprise two 
three storey blocks of apartments linked at ground floor.  Associated works include 
widening of the access, fifteen parking spaces (including two accessible spaces), and 
landscaping.  There are no Tree Preservation Orders or designated Heritage Assets 
affecting this site. 
 
A number of applications have been submitted on this site.  The most notable of which 
is application ref. 100658/FUL/20 which proposed 24no. apartments for market housing 
within an almost identically designed building as that proposed in this application.  This 
was refused on grounds of residential amenity, and lack of affordable housing.  This 
was ultimately determined at appeal in which the Planning Inspector concluded that the 
impact on residential amenity was acceptable, but the lack of affordable housing alone 
justified dismissing the appeal.  This appeal decision is a material planning 
consideration in the assessment of this application. 
 
During the consideration of this application, amendments have been negotiated by 
Officers. These relate to the provision of external terraces, additional landscaping and 
greater communal space. 
 
Letters of objection received relate primarily to the impact of overspill parking within the 
surrounding area, the height and massing of the building, its jarring appearance in the 
surrounding context, and harm to residential amenity.  The representations received 
have been duly noted and the issues raised considered as part of the application 
appraisal.  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 82



Officers consider that the development is appropriately designed in its context.  It would 
create acceptable living conditions for the occupants of the dwellings and is 
satisfactorily serviced with respect to on-site car parking.  Substantial weight is attached 
to the provision of 24no. affordable homes on a sustainable brownfield site. 
 
All other detailed matters have been assessed and the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in terms of housing, design, residential amenity, parking, highway safety, 
ecology, flood risk, drainage, contamination and other relevant matters.  
 
The Council cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply and therefore 
paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. When assessing the scheme against 
paragraph 11(d)(i) there is no clear reason for refusal.  When the tilted balancing 
exercise is carried out, the adverse impacts do not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits the scheme would deliver.  The application is therefore 
recommended for approval, subject to appropriate conditions. 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
This proposed development has significant planning history, which is set out in the 
Planning History section of this report.  Members should note that a scheme of an 
almost identical design (ref. 100658/FUL/20) was refused planning permission in 2021 
on grounds of harm to residential amenity and lack of affordable housing.  The 
applicants appealed this decision and the Planning Inspector concluded that the impact 
on residential amenity was acceptable.  However the inspector agreed with the Council 
that the applicant had not demonstrated that they could not deliver affordable housing.  
Therefore the appeal was dismissed owing solely to a lack of affordable housing.  Very 
substantial weight was attached to this harm. 
 
The scheme before members now is predominantly different in that the applicant now 
proposes 100% affordable housing, with Irwell Valley Homes – a register provider, as 
joint applicants.  Design amendments have also been secured on this application, 
including landscaping and amenity improvements, which is set out below. 
 

SITE 
 
The application site comprises a vacant parcel of land positioned at the junction of Old 
Crofts Bank and Crofts Bank Road on a key route into the designated Urmston Town 
Centre.  The site was formerly occupied by Urmston Social Club, which was built to 3-
storeys and surrounded by extensive car parking.  The building has since been 
demolished as of July 2018 and the site is now in a state of poorly maintained 
hardstanding and self-seeded vegetation.  The site is also largely void of tree cover. 
 
The site is bounded by residential properties immediately to the west and south of the 
site.  Haylands Residential Home is located opposite Old Crofts Bank to the north.  
Some residential properties are located to the east, on the opposite side of Crofts Bank 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 83



Road.  Beyond Crofts Bank Road is an area of Protected Open Space (Davyhulme 
Park) – approximately 75m east of the site.  The build style varies within the area, 
including detached properties rising from bungalow to 3-storey, semi-detached 
properties and apartments.  Residential gardens about the site boundary to the west 
and southern aspects. 
 
The site is accessed from the north along Old Crofts Bank.  Land levels appear to be 
fairly consistent within the area. 
 
The site and wider estate is located within a Critical Drainage Area within Trafford 
Councils Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and is also identified as coming within Flood 
Zone 1 with regards Environment Agency Flood maps (lowest risk of flooding). 
 
There are no designated heritage assets within the vicinity of the site.  Davyhulme Park, 
however, is locally listed, which is located east of the site, on the eastern side of Crofts 
Bank Road.  This is therefore a non-designated heritage asset. 
 

PROPOSAL 
 
The proposal seeks planning permission to erect 2x 3-storey apartment blocks that 
would comprise 24no. 2-bedroom apartments connected at ground floor through a 
secure bin and bike store.    The blocks would reach a height of approximately 9.6m and 
are approximately 22.6m in width 
 
The two blocks would front Old Crofts Bank with a footpath running across the front of 
the buildings.  The access point would remain to the north leading to a 30 space car-
park, providing 1.25 space per each 2-bedroom apartment.  An area of private grassed 
amenity space is to be created between the proposed parking area and residential 
blocks.  The indicative landscape plan shows that this would be soft landscaped. 
 
The proposed apartments are to be affordable which would be delivered by a 
Registered Provider as affordable rent and/or shared ownership. 
 
Amendments sought through this application include a reduction in the number of on-
site parking spaces from 40 to 30.  This allows for greater communal landscaping and 
amenity space.  External terraces to all ground floor units are now also proposed. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application, the Development Plan in Trafford Comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy (TCS) adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 84



 
• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 2006; 

The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were saved in 
either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are superseded by 
policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy provides details 
as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF. 

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
 
L1 – Land for New Homes 
L2 – Meeting Housing Needs 
L3 – Regeneration and Reducing Inequalities 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L5 – Climate Change 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations  
R1 – Historic Environment 
R2 – Natural Environment 
R3 – Green Infrastructure 
R5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
W1 – Economy 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION  
 
None. 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
 
None. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS 
 
PG1 – New Residential Development 
SPD1 – Planning Obligations 
SPD3 – Parking Standards and Design 
 
OTHER RELEVANT DOCUMENTS 
 
Manchester City, Salford City, and Trafford Councils Level 2 Hybrid Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA). 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE (PfE) 
 
Places for Everyone (PfE) is a joint Development Plan Document being produced by 
nine Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 85



Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and 
employment development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects 
environmental assets. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced 
on 02 November 2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the 
Inspectors issued IN39 on 11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this 
stage of the examination that all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to 
make the Plan sound and/or legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard.   
Consultation on the Main Modifications started on 11 October 2023 and will close on 6 
December 2023. Consequently the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making 
process and substantial weight can be attached to its policies.  
 
Emerging policies relevant to this application are: 
 
JP-C7 – Transport Requirements of New Development 
JP-G9 – A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
JP-H1 - Scale, Distribution and Phasing of New Housing Development 
JP-H2 - Affordability of New Housing 
JP-H3 - Type, Size and Design of New Housing 
JP-H4 - Density of New Housing 
JP-P1 - Sustainable Places 
JP-P2 - Heritage 
JP-S1 - Sustainable Development 
JP-S6 – Clean Air 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DLUHC published the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) on 20th 
December 2023. The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
DLUHC published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, which 
replaced a number of practice guidance documents and was updated on 20th November 
2023. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
98110/FUL/19 - Erection of three storey apartment building containing 24no. 2 bedroom 
apartments along with associated external works, car parking and landscaping.  
Withdrawn 08.11.19. 
 
100658/FUL/20 - Erection of 2No. three storey (linked) apartment blocks containing 
24no. 2 bedroom apartments along with associated external works, car parking and 
landscaping.  Refused for the following reasons (29.01.21): 
 

(1) The proposed development, by reason of the siting, height, orientation and 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 86



fenestration of Block B, would significantly overlook the private garden and rear 
elevation of No. 7 Broadlea.   The proposal would therefore establish an 
unacceptable relationship between the development and the neighbouring site 
having regard to visual intrusion and privacy.   This would be significantly 
contrary to policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy (2012), the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019) and the Supplementary Planning Guidance titled PG1 
(New Residential Development) (2004). 

 
(2) The proposal would fail to provide the required affordable housing, and the 
submitted financial viability appraisal has not adequately demonstrated that 
should affordable housing contributions be sought then the scheme would be 
undeliverable on viability grounds. The development would not, therefore, 
contribute to affordable housing needs and would not support the creation of 
mixed and balanced communities.   The proposal would therefore be significantly 
contrary to policy L2 of the Trafford Core Strategy (2012), the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), National Planning Practice Guidance (2019) and 
SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014). 
 
Appeal Dismissed (19.05.22).  Inspector concluded impact on residential amenity 
was acceptable.  However, the viability reason was upheld.  Inspector questioned 
whether the inputs into the appellant’s viability appraisal were reliable, and that 
the appellant had not demonstrated that on-site affordable housing provision 
would not be viable.  The lack of affordable housing conflicted with the 
Development Plan.   

 
104192/OUT/21 - Outline application with all matters reserved for erection of 6 no. 
dwelling houses with associated external works, car parking and landscaping.  
Approved with conditions 14.07.21. 
 
108648/FUL/22 - Erection of 2No. three storey (linked) apartment blocks containing 
24no. 2 bedroom apartments along with associated external works, car parking and 
landscaping.  Refused for the following reason (27.03.23): 
 

(1) The proposal would fail to provide the required affordable housing, and the 
submitted financial viability appraisal has not adequately demonstrated that the 
affordable housing contributions sought would make the scheme undeliverable 
on viability grounds. The development would not, therefore, contribute to 
affordable housing needs and would not support the creation of mixed and 
balanced communities.   The proposal would therefore be significantly contrary to 
policies L2 and L8 of the Trafford Core Strategy (2012), the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021), National Planning Practice Guidance and SPD1: 
Planning Obligations (2014). 

 

APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION  
 
Arboricultural Report 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 87



Carbon Budget Statement 
Crime Impact Statement (CIS) 
Design and Access Statement (DAS) 
Drainage Strategy (Inc. SuDS Pro-Forma) 
Ecological Survey and Assessment 
Highways Technical Note 
Housing Statement 
Noise Impact Assessment 
Phase 1 Desk Study and Phase 2 Geo-environmental Report 
Statement of Community Involvement 
Transport Statement 
Tree Report Addendum 
Waste Management Strategy 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Environmental Health (Air Quality) – No objection subject to condition regarding EV 
Charging, and CEMP. 
 
Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) – No objection subject to condition 
regarding verification report. 
 
Environmental Health (Nuisance) – No objection subject to conditions regarding 
compliance with external noise mitigation scheme, exterior lighting scheme, and 
construction and environment management plan (CEMP). 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) – No objection subject to conditions 
regarding nesting birds, trees, biodiversity enhancement and update to the 2022 
ecological survey. 
 
Greater Manchester Police – No objection. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – No objection. 
 
Local Highway Authority (LHA) – No objection.  Conditions requested regarding a 
construction and environment management plan (CEMP), and secure cycle storage 
 
TBC Arboriculturist – No objection. 
 
TBC Education – No contribution required. 
 
TBC Heritage and Urban Design Manager – No harm identified. 
 
TBC Housing Strategy and Growth – No objection.  Scheme will bring much needed 
accommodation into Urmston. 
 
TBC Strategic Planning – The scheme addresses a need for smaller family 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 88



accommodation but there is a lack of provision for larger homes.  It may be considered 
that housing in this area would be preferable over apartments. 
 
TBC Waste – No objection. 
 
United Utilities – No objection subject to condition requiring compliance with submitted 
foul and surface water drainage design drawing. 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Letters of objection have been received from 13 surrounding properties, summarised as 
follows: 
 
Design 
 

- Building too tall, and the site would be overdeveloped. 
- Design is of poor architectural quality, and out of keeping with the surrounding 

area. 
- 2-storeys would be more suitable in this location. 
- Boundary landscaping / fencing is only 3ft maximum, and not a 6ft fence or line 

of trees as previously stated. 
 
Highways / Parking 
 

- Insufficient parking proposed. 
- Increased traffic on a narrow, yet busy road. 
- Cars park on the pavement of Old Crofts Bank with people having to thereby 

walk within the road, which is dangerous and creates a highway risk 
- New access will create a bottleneck and increase traffic in the area 
- Double yellow lines should be provided along the road, and Old Crofts Bank 

should become a one-way route. 
- Have costs for works to road and pavement reinstatement been agreed with the 

Local Highway Authority? 
- Emergency vehicles struggle to access this area due to traffic in the area. 
-  

Housing 
 

- Rental properties (rather than those for ownership) out of character with this part 
of Urmston. 

- Clarification required on the type of affordable housing proposed. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 

- Loss of light to neighbouring properties 
- Loss of privacy to neighbouring properties 
- Adverse noise impact 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 89



Other matters 
 

- Nothing substantial has changed since the dismissed appeal. 
- Builder / house builder trying to maximise returns. 
- Previous applications were refused, and one dismissed at appeal. 
- Poor bus services in the area, which may be reduced or cancelled in the future. 
- Behaviour of residents could be unpredictable, may not recycle, and may have 

noisy pets. 
- Services in the area (for example doctor’s surgeries) are overprescribed. 
- Loss in property values in the area 
- No site notices placed near to the site. 
- Some rental properties can look worn down with poor maintenance. 
- Why was the six house scheme not implemented? 
- Increased air pollution 
- Drainage will be inadequate and surplus water in heavy downpours will flood the 

site and surrounding area. 
 

Officer response: All concerns are duly noted and have been considered.  Please note 
that matters relating to property value is not a material planning consideration.  Site 
notices have been placed immediately outside the site on Old Crofts Bank on 22nd 
November 2023.  For consideration of the other points raised, please see the 
‘Observations’ section of this report. 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
The Decision-taking Framework 
 
1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 

planning applications should be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF at Paragraphs 2 
and 47 reinforces this requirement and at Paragraph 12 states that the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as a starting point for decision making, and that where a planning 
application conflicts with an up-to-date (emphasis added) development plan, 
permission should not normally be granted. 

 
2. The Council’s Core Strategy was adopted in January 2012, prior to the publication of 

the 2012 NPPF, but drafted to be in compliance with it. It remains broadly compliant 
with much of the policy in the 2023 NPPF, particularly where that policy is not 
substantially changed from the 2012 version. Whether a Core Strategy policy is 
considered to be up-to-date or out-of-date is identified in each of the relevant 
sections of this report and appropriate weight given to it. 

 
3. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 

Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, should 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 90



be given significant weight in the decision making process. Paragraph 11 (c) states 
that development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should 
be approved without delay. Paragraph 11 (d) states that where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining 
the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless: 

 
(i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
4. The Council’s current housing land supply figure is 3.85 years and the most recent 

Housing Delivery Test figure (2022) is 65%.  This housing supply and delivery 
position automatically triggers Paragraph 11d) but does not automatically render 
development plan policies out of date. It is for the decision maker to determine what 
weight to give to development plan policies and this can take into account the 
specific characteristics of the housing land supply position such as the extent of the 
shortfall and the steps being taken to remedy it. 

 
5. As set out later in this report, there are no policies within the NPPF protecting areas 

or assets of particular importance which provide a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed.  Paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF – the tilted balance – is 
therefore engaged. 

 
6. Paragraph 11(d)(ii) requires that planning permission should be granted unless any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. This 
exercise is set out within the ‘Planning Balance and Conclusion’ section of this 
report. 

 
Suitability of the Site 
 
7. This site is not specifically allocated for residential development in the Core 

Strategy, nor is the site identified on Trafford’s Brownfield Land Register as a site 
considered suitable for residential development.  The NPPF at paragraph 109 
directs the planning system to focus development in locations which are or can be 
made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice 
of transport modes. 

 
8. Whilst the site resides on the edge of the settlement boundary, it is in close proximity 

to a number of bus services, Urmston railway station, areas of public open space 
(including nearby Davyhulme Park), and is within short walking distance of 
Urmston’s designated town centre.  Retail units, a supermarket, cafes, restaurants, 
leisure facilities, educational facilities and numerous areas of public open space are 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 91



located in the vicinity of the site.  The site falls under Greater Manchester 
Accessibility Level 6 (with 8 being the highest).  The location of this site is 
considered to be sustainable for housing development. 

 
Proposed Residential Development 
 
9. Policy L1 of the Core Strategy controls the number and distribution of new homes 

across the Borough. The latest housing land supply calculation suggests that the 
Council’s supply is 3.85 years (which includes a 20% buffer for historic under 
delivery).  Given the lack of five year housing land supply, and the age of this policy 
(including the need to use the more recent ‘standard method’ of calculating housing 
need), it is now out of date and should be given limited weight.  

 
10. Policy L1 states that there is an indicative 80% target of new housing provision to 

use brownfield land and buildings. The NPPF also requires policies and decisions to 
support development that makes efficient use of land and states that planning 
decisions should “give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield 
land within settlements for homes and other identified needs” (paragraph 124c). The 
application site is previously developed land and would therefore contribute to the 
80% target of new housing provision to use brownfield land. 

 
11. Policy L2 of the Core Strategy indicates that all new residential proposals will be 

assessed for the contribution that would be made to meeting the Borough’s housing 
needs. Policy L2 remains up to date in respect levels of affordable housing required 
and in terms of site specific requirements for development (L2.2). Full weight can be 
given to this part of the policy. Other parts of this policy, for example in relation to 
dwelling mix, are not up to date and should be given limited weight. 

 
12. Emerging Policy JP-H1 outlines that a minimum 175,185 net additional dwellings 

shall be delivered across the PfE plan area (Greater Manchester, excluding 
Stockport Borough).   The minimum delivery across the plan period for Trafford 
would be 19,077 net additional dwellings between 2022 and 2039.  This would 
equate to an average minimum delivery rate of 1,122 dwellings per year. 

 
13. The proposal would be developed at a density of 89 units per hectare.  The site itself 

is located outside of any designated centre, albeit the site is located within 400m of 
Urmston Town Centre and within 800m of Urmston railway station which provides a 
frequent service between Manchester and Liverpool.  PfE policy JP-H4 outlines that 
the minimum net residential density for this location (subject to an appropriate 
design) would be 50 dwellings per hectare.  The proposal therefore exceeds the 
minimum standard and is in accordance with emerging policy JP-H4. 
  

14. The Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.  
This site constitutes previously developed land in a sustainable location within a 
predominantly residential area, and therefore residential development on this site is 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 92



acceptable in principle and would make a positive contribution to the Council’s 
housing land supply.  

 
Housing Type and Mix 
 
15. The NPPF at paragraph 63 requires the size, type and tenure of housing for different 

groups in the community to be assessed and reflected in planning policies. This 
approach is supported by Core Strategy Policy L2, which refers to the need to 
ensure that a range of house types, tenures and sizes are provided. Policy L2 
indicates that the proposed mix of dwelling types and sizes should contribute to 
meeting the housing needs of the Borough as set out in the Council’s Housing 
Strategy and Housing Needs Assessment. Policy L2.4 states that the Council will 
seek to achieve a target split of 70:30; small: large (3+beds) residential units. Policy 
L2 as a whole is generally consistent with the NPPF however references to housing 
numbers and housing land supply are out of date and less weight should be afforded 
to these aspects of Policy L2.5. 
 

16. The proposed development would provide 24 new residential units; comprising 
entirely two-bedroom units. This equates to a 100% provision of small homes.  It is 
noted that the Trafford Housing Need Assessment (2023) identifies a clear 
requirement for 2-bedroom affordable flats within both Urmston and across the 
Trafford Borough.  The 2023 assessment outlines that 858 affordable units are 
required across Trafford.  While the scheme doesn’t fully reflect the target split of 
policy L2 it is considered appropriate for this location given that a need does exist in 
Urmston for this size of affordable housing and that this housing provides for a 
specific housing need.  The Councils Housing Strategy and Growth Manager has 
reviewed the application and has raised no objection citing that the proposals will 
bring much needed accommodation into Urmston. 

 
17. Core Strategy Policy L2.3 states that in order to meet the identified affordable 

housing need within the Borough, the Council will seek to achieve, through this 
policy, a target split of 60:40 market: affordable housing. Policy L2.14 states that the 
expected method of delivery for affordable housing will be on site. The application 
proposes 100% on site affordable housing provision.   Emerging policy JP-H2 sets 
out that substantial improvements will be sought in the ability of people to access 
housing at a price they can afford, including through supporting the provision of 
affordable housing. 
 

18. The NPPF defines affordable housing as: housing for sale or rent, for those whose 
needs are not met by the market (including housing that provides a subsidised route 
to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers). It includes affordable 
housing for rent (including affordable rented and social rented), starter homes, 
discount market sales housing, and other affordable routes of home ownership 
(including shared ownership and rent to buy).  

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 93



19. There is no requirement for First Homes to be provided as part of the proposal as 
this is a 100% affordable housing scheme.  The scheme would provide either 
affordable rent or shared ownership units.  This would be determined by the 
Registered Provider, and it may be that there is a mixture of either affordable rent or 
shared ownership units, or alternatively delivered as one or the other. 
 

Conclusion on the Principle of Development 
 
20. It is considered that the proposals would make a much needed contribution to 

affordable and overall housing supply on a sustainable brownfield site within the 
settlement boundary.  The proposed type and size of housing is greatly needed 
within the Borough, as set out within the latest Housing Needs Assessment 2023 
and as confirmed by the Housing Strategy and Growth Manager.  The affordable 
nature of this housing can be secured by way of condition to therefore meet an 
identified housing need and is given substantial weight.  The proposed re-
development of previously developed land for affordable housing would accord with 
Core Strategy Policies L1, L2, emerging PfE policies JP-H1 and JP-H2, and the 
NPPF. 

 
HERITAGE 
 
Heritage Policy and Guidance 
 
21. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which they possess 
 

22. The NPPF identifies the setting of a heritage asset as ‘the surroundings in which a 
heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset 
and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that 
significance or may be neutral’. 
 

23. Paragraph 209 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application.  In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any 
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 

24. Policy R1 of the Core Strategy states that all new development must take account of 
surrounding building styles, landscapes and historic distinctiveness (R1.1) and that 
developers must demonstrate how their development will complement and enhance 
existing features of historic significance including their wider settings, in particular in 
relation to conservation areas, listed buildings and other identified heritage assets.  
However, Policy R1 does not reflect the tests set out at paragraph 209 of the NPPF 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 94



which relates to the scale of harm caused to a heritage asset and therefore only 
attracts limited weight.   

 
25. Emerging PfE Policy JP-P2 emphasises the importance of conserving, sustaining 

and enhancing the historic environment and heritage assets and their setting.  The 
policy states that development affecting both designated and non-designated 
heritage assets (and their settings) will be considered having regard to national 
planning policy. 
 

26. Heritage policy in the NPPF can be given significant weight and is the appropriate 
means of determining the acceptability of the development in heritage terms. 

 
Significance of Davyhulme Park 
 
27. Davyhulme Park is included within the Councils Local List of non-designated 

heritage assets.   
 
28. Davyhulme Park was created during the 1920’s as part of a largescale investment in 

public facilities by the Local Authority at the time (Urmston Urban District Council 
(UUDC)).   This investment was made at a time when there was an expansion in the 
area's population as the district became transformed into a popular suburb close to 
Manchester.  This park, and the nearby Golden Hill Park provide an important green 
corridor close to the town centre ensuring that the area retains a leafy feel despite its 
role as a popular suburb near to Manchester. 

 
29. This park marks the development of the Urmston district from a largely rural 

community, through the Victorian and Edwardian eras where the area was gradually 
opened up by means of the railway, to the popular green suburb of Manchester it 
became from the 1920's. When originally constructed the park incorporated a 
number of Art Deco design features including a series of looped arches and two 
matching/symmetrical lily ponds all built out of concrete. These stylish design 
features were accompanied by a bandstand in the shape of a shell, suitable for 
outdoor performances, and a range of area leisure facilities including bowling 
greens, and tennis courts, and a children's play area complete with a paddling pool. 
The park entrance from Winchester Road was through a rockery archway. Amenities 
of this quality helped to support the image of a modern town, close to a large city but 
confident of its own identity and sense of place. Although today both the rock tunnel 
entrance and looped arches have been removed, and the bandstand is no longer in 
existence, the park still retains its original layout and its stylish twin lily ponds which 
were recently renovated by Trafford Council.  
 

30. Additionally the Council's website records that the park now includes sculpture by 
Mancunian graffiti artist Kelzo as a memorial to the 22 victims of the Manchester 
Arena attack. This website also confirms that the park has in the past been awarded 
'Green Flag' status demonstrating its quality as a local facility. The park continues to 
be a popular location for local people and helps to maintain the green and leafy feel 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 95



of the area. The park's popularity with the local community is reflected in the 
establishment of a 'Friends of Davyhulme Park' group, which assists the Council in 
looking after the site.  Overall, this park is of high quality with many distinctive 
features and is established as a landmark in the local scene. 

 
Impact on Davyhulme Park 
 
31. Davyhulme Park is located to the opposite side of Crofts Bank Road behind a row of 

detached and semi-detached properties, and tennis and basketball courts.  The 
existing site is not prominent from within Davyhulme Park. 

 
32. The existing site has been cleared with hardstanding partially covering the site, 

alongside self-seeded shrubbery.  The site is bound by site hoardings in a poor state 
of upkeep.  It is generally of a poor and unkempt appearance that does not positively 
contribute to the setting of Davyhulme Park. 

 
33. The 3-storey development may be visible from parts of Davyhulme Park, however its 

prominence would be significantly reduced by the separation, and intervening 
buildings/landscaping including mature trees.   Three storey development is also 
visible along Crofts Bank Road, including that which intervenes between the park 
and the application site.   It is not considered that the proposal would detract from 
the character, historic layout or landscaped qualities of Davyhulme Park.  The 
Heritage Development Officer has raised no concerns with regards to the impact of 
this development on Davyhulme Park. 

 
Heritage Summary 
 
34. Having regard to the above significance of Davyhulme Park, the development is not 

considered to cause any harm to its significance or its setting.  The proposal is 
considered to comply with policy R1 of the Core Strategy, emerging PfE policy JP-
P2, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

DESIGN AND APPEARANCE 
 
Design Policy 
 
35. Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and 

sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities’.   
 

36. The National Design Guide was published by the Government in October 2019 and 
sets out how well designed buildings and places rely on a number of key 
components and the manner in which they are put together.  These include layout, 
form, scale, appearance, landscape, materials and detailing.   

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 96



 
37. The Core Strategy also attaches importance to the design and quality of the 

Borough’s built environment. The text supporting Policy L7 advises that high quality 
design is a key factor in improving the quality of places and in delivering 
environmentally sustainable developments. Design solutions must: be appropriate to 
their context; and enhance the street scene by appropriately addressing scale, 
density, height, massing, layout, elevational treatment, materials, hard and soft 
landscaping, and boundary treatments, the policy is clear. Policy L7 is considered to 
be compliant with the NPPF as it comprises the local expression of the NPPF’s 
emphasis on good design and, together with associated SPDs, the Borough’s design 
code. It can therefore be given full weight in the decision making process. 

 
38. Emerging PfE policy JP-P1 outlines an ambition to create a series of beautiful, 

healthy and varied places.  Development should be distinctive, with a clear identify 
that respects and acknowledges the character and identify of the locality in terms of 
design, siting, size, scale and materials used. 

 
Design Assessment 

 
39. Members should note that the design of this development has been considered 

acceptable on the previous applications at this site.  The Planning Inspector 
concluded that the development would ‘cause no adverse effects on character and 
appearance of the local area’.  Places for Everyone can now be afforded substantial 
weight and the draft Trafford Design Code can now be afforded moderate weight.  It 
is not considered, however, that the development proposed would significantly 
conflict with these policies. 
 

40. The development comprises two 3-storey buildings partially linked at ground floor.  
The buildings would be of a block architectural form with flat-roofs, finished in facing 
brickwork (red and grey tones), with vertically emphasised windows.  These 
buildings would actively front Old Crofts Bank with hedges indicated as the boundary 
treatment.  Each building proposes a clearly defined entrance.  The principal 
elevations are well fenestrated which would provide natural surveillance over Old 
Crofts Bank, and Crofts Bank Road. 
 

41. At 3-storeys, and owing to the footprint, the development would appear slightly more 
imposing and taller than that of the immediate surrounding buildings.  Whilst there 
are some 3-storey properties opposite Old Crofts Bank to the North, these are of 
traditionally designed with various punctuations within the roof and the 3rd level 
windows set in gables or dormers.  It is noted that the previous building on-site was 
3-storeys albeit this was demolished in 2018.  Slightly to the south, towards Urmston 
Town Centre, 3-storey scale is increasingly prevalent. 

 
42. Whilst the development would be prominent from Crofts Bank Road, it is not 

considered that the size would be unduly excessive in the context of this area.  The 
contemporary style enables the development to juxtapose against the more 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 97



traditional forms of architecture, which allows the visual distinction of both types of 
building.  As illustrated on the street scene drawing, the development would not be 
significantly overbearing to the adjacent building to the south.  Further to this, due to 
the curvature of the road, there would be a break in perceptions when reading the 
street scene, and the bungalows behind the site would not be viewed directly in 
comparison. 

 
43. The use of materials within the development are appropriate.  The red and grey 

shades of brick interplay well providing some aesthetic interest to the elevations.  
These different shades coupled with the various reveals in the elevations, ensure a 
simple, articulated appearance to the development.  The use of facing brick is also 
sympathetic to the appearance of the brick-built buildings within the sites immediate 
context.  The use of a high quality brick within this development could be 
conditioned.   

 
44. Private terraces are proposed to the front and rear of the site.  Those to the front 

could provide an active residential setting to Old Crofts Banks and establish a more 
human scale to the development.  Details of how these terraces would be treated, 
which is important to achieve the above, could be secured via condition. 
 

45. The surrounding setting of the building, comprises surface parking, pathways and 
soft landscaping.  A generous extent of openness is achieved which enables the 3-
storey buildings to assimilate within the site without the site appearing over-
developed.   Landscaping is proposed to break up runs of parking spaces.  A 
landscaping condition would be necessary to ensure that a suitable planting 
schedule and appropriate hard surfacing / boundary treatments is achieved.  

 
46. The NPPF encourages both good design and increased density, particularly in 

sustainable locations.  The development takes advantage of an opportunity to 
provide much needed affordable homes in the Borough with buildings of a height, 
massing and appearance that would broadly assimilate in this context.  As per the 
NPPF, Officers attach substantial weight to the value of using this brownfield site to 
deliver these needed homes. 

 
47. The proposal would accord with policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, emerging 

policy JP-P1 of PfE and the NPPF. 
 
LANDSCAPING / GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
48. Policy R3 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect and enhance the Borough’s green 

infrastructure network. Policy R5 states that all development will be required to 
contribute on an appropriate scale to the provision of the green infrastructure 
network either by way of on-site provision, off-site provision or by way of a financial 
contribution.  Both policies are considered to be up to date in terms of the NPPF and 
so full weight can be afforded to them. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 98



49. The indicated planting provision would exceed the requirements of SPD1 for on-site 
specific green infrastructure.  8no. trees would be planted, alongside 128m of native 
mix hedgerow, 169sqm of shrub planting, and 119sqm of wildflower meadow.   This 
is likely to be enhanced further owing to the landscape amendments sought 
throughout this application.   

 
50. The original landscape layout submitted with this application ensured hedge planting 

to the site boundaries, ornamental planting to the building edge and good amounts 
of communal amenity space (laid to grass).  Trees would frame the vehicular 
access, wildflower meadows would bound the rear of the parking spaces.  This plan 
is now out of date, owing to the revised site layout.  However, it does demonstrate 
the applicant’s commitment to deliver a well landscaped scheme.  Additional details 
secured through this application include generous landscape breaks between 
parking spaces and larger areas of green space.  Hedging or a knee rail fence could 
be used to bound landscaped areas to prevent informal parking.  Full details of soft 
landscaping can be conditioned, which could also include additional tree planting. 

 
51. A tree protection plan and method statement has been submitted demonstrating how 

the retained trees around the development site can be protected during construction 
works.  This can be conditioned.  Subject to this condition, the Councils 
Arboriculturist has raised no objection to the proposed works. 

 
52. Limited information has been submitted with respect to hard landscaping.  However, 

the indicative landscape layout does indicate that pathways and parking areas would 
be physically delineated through changes in surfacing.  Limited information has been 
provided regarding boundary treatments.  Details of soft and hard landscaping (and 
full details of the boundary treatments) can be dealt with via conditions to ensure an 
appropriate and quality mix of materials to promote navigation within the site and to 
secure an attractive layout and appearance. 

 
53. Subject to the aforementioned landscaping and tree protection conditions, the 

proposal would accord with both policies R3 and R5 of the Core Strategy, emerging 
PfE policy JP-P1 and the NPPF. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
54. Policy L7.3 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that development must not prejudice 

the amenity of future occupants of the development and/or occupants of adjacent 
properties by reason of overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, 
noise and/or disturbance, odour or in any other way. As previously stated, L7 is 
considered to be up to date for decision making purposes and full weight can be 
attached to it. 
 

55. Supplementary Planning Guidance - PG1 (New Residential Development) sets out 
the guidelines that relate to all forms of new residential development. With regards to 
privacy, the Council’s Guidelines states that for new two storey dwellings, that the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 99



minimum distance between dwellings which have major facing windows is 21 metres 
across public highways and 27 metres across private gardens. PG1 states that 
‘Where three storey dwellings (houses or flats) are proposed, the minimum 
distances are increased by 3 metres over the above figures and for four or more 
storeys, the figures as for three storeys apply.   Distances to rear garden boundaries 
from main windows should be at least 10.5 for two storey flats.  Situations where 
overshadowing is likely with a main elevation facing a two storey blank gable, a 
minimum distance of 15m should normally be provided. 

 
Impact on Future Residents of the Development 
 
56. All of the units would comply with the minimum gross internal floor area for a 2-

bedroom/3-person unit, as set out in the nationally described space standards 
(NDSS).  It is understood that all the units would be occupied as such.  This would 
accord with emerging policy JP-H3 of PfE.  All ground floor units would be built to 
Building Regulations Approved Document Part M, Optional Requirement M4(2) - 
Accessible and adaptable dwellings which can be strictly conditioned. 

 
57. The units themselves are generously fenestrated with good outlook from all 

habitable rooms to either the front of the site (facing Croft Banks Road, and Old 
Crofts Bank) or to the rear, overlooking the communal space at the rear of the site.  
Juliet balconies (incorporating glass balustrades) are proposed to each living space 
at 1st and 2nd floor.  These would not provide any external platforms but do 
encourage both greater ventilation and outlook from the upper floors. 

 
58. The amount of open space now proposed for future residents is approximately 

523sqm, encompassing 158sqm of private amenity space (for ground floor units), 
and 365sqm communal amenity space.  This space excludes the informal grassed 
areas to the rear of parking spaces, adjacent to the site entrance and hard surfaced 
areas.  The 523sqm of communal space proposed significantly exceeds the 
requirements of PG1 (18sqm per apartment) which would equate to a total of 
432sqm for this development. 

 
59. Limited details have also been provided regarding any external plant proposed 

within the development.  A condition can ensure that any fixed plant and machinery, 
when operating simultaneously, shall be selected and / or acoustically treated to 
achieve a rating level of 5dB below the typical background level at the nearest noise 
sensitive location.   This would be in the interests of preventing any undue noise 
disturbances to residential amenity. 

 
Impact on Residents of Surrounding Properties 
 
Impact on No. 91 Crofts Bank Road 

 
60. Between 5m and 7m would be retained between Block A and No. 91.  Block A would 

not project further to the rear than No. 91 and only marginally to the front of No. 91.   

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 100



There are a number of 1st floor and 2nd floor side elevation windows sought, which 
could be obscure glazed in the interests of protecting the privacy of No.91.  This can 
be conditioned.  The side elevation windows within No. 91 are formed within non-
habitable rooms (study and bathrooms) as shown through planning application 
H/61131 and therefore the development would not be unduly dominant or 
overbearing to the amenity of this property.  Subject to the aforementioned condition, 
the proposal would have an acceptable relationship upon No. 91. 

 
Impact on nos. 1-5 Broadlea 
 
61. An excess of 10.5m would be retained between the elevations of Block B and the 

rear boundary of the site (forming the boundary to the rear gardens of Nos 1-5 
Broadlea).  A minimum of 21m would be retained between the elevations of the 
Block B and the rear elevations of the properties on Broadlea.  This separation is 
sufficient to prevent the development causing harmful losses of light to these 
properties or appearing significantly overbearing, and would comply with the PG1 
standards in this regard.  The proposed side elevation windows to Block B can be 
conditioned to be obscure glazed to prevent direct overlooking of neighbouring 
gardens.   The windows proposed within the rear elevation would provide only a very 
oblique line of sight towards neighbouring gardens.  This is not considered to have a 
significant harmful impact on the privacy of the gardens of nos.1-5, or upon the 
neighbours’ living accommodation itself.   
 

62. Vehicles would park perpendicular to the rear boundary which bounds the gardens 
of nos. 1-7.  A condition can be attached to ensure that appropriate boundary 
treatments are erected along the site boundary to prevent glare from headlights and 
reduce noise of car doors shutting, and associated noise.  It is not considered that 
the car park would be used intensively such that this would be harmful to the living 
conditions of the neighbouring properties. 

 
Impact on No.7 Broadlea 
 
63. A number of rear facing windows from Block B would face towards No.7 Broadlea. 

The majority of ground floor and first floor windows from Block B (and Block A) 
would be in excess of 27m (PG1 standard for ground floor, and 1st floor windows).  
Four 2nd floor windows within Block B and one first floor window within Block B would 
fail to meet the recommended separation distances in PG1 providing shortfalls of up 
to 6m (proposed 24m separation which is below the 30m PG1 standard for 3rd 
storey windows) in the worst instance.  Some conflict is therefore identified with the 
PG1 standards. 

 
64. Concerns were raised in terms of the relationship between the development and 

No.7 Broadlea with respect to privacy in assessing the previous application 
(100658/FUL/20).  It is noted, however, that the Planning Inspector when assessing 
the associated appeal concluded that this relationship would be acceptable having 
regard to policy L7 and PG1.  This previous decision is given very significant weight. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 101



 
65. The inspector commented as follows:  

 
‘I have considered the proposal using the PG1 as the appropriate guidance to 
determine new residential development against, together with my own planning 
judgement based on what I viewed on site. I have taken account of its recommended 
separation distances from the habitable rooms to the boundary and am satisfied that 
an appropriate standoff to the party boundary can be achieved. 
 
The manicured garden of Number 7 skirts around the rear and side of the property 
and, given what I viewed on site, I would consider it as one garden space of equal 
standing. 
 
Overlooking would occur from the proposed flats to the private garden although 
given the proposed position, windows would directly overlook a small corner of the 
larger garden area at a range that would not lead to an adverse effect on the living 
conditions of the occupants. In addition, not all the windows of Block B identified by 
the Council would have the opportunity to significantly overlook the garden.  
 
Turning to the matter of window to window and overlooking potential from the 
proposed scheme, the separation distance from flat windows to bungalow windows 
may not precisely meet the PG1 standards. This specifically advises an interfacing 
distance of 27m habitable room window to habitable room window (across private 
gardens with an additional 3m for storeys above two storey). However, taking into 
account the oblique angle of the development to these windows, it would not create 
direct overlooking. I consider that any loss of privacy that may ensue to No. 7 would 
not be so significant as to render the proposal harmful to their living conditions.’ 

 
66. It is also noted that the impact on the garden of No.7 can be further reduced by 

landscaping and fencing to the western site boundary.   
 

67. Further to the above, it is considered that the separation between the development 
and neighbouring properties would result in an acceptable relationship having regard 
to dominance and light.   

 
68. Whilst some conflict with the separation figures in Planning Guidance PG1 is 

acknowledged between Block B and No.7 Broadlea, the development would comply 
with PG1 as a whole in that the development would not adversely harm the living 
conditions of this property or its associated garden.  On the basis of the above and 
subject to detailed landscaping and boundary treatment condition, the proposal 
would have an acceptable relationship with No.7. 

 
Relationship between Block A and Block B 
 
69. Subject to obscure glazing of the upper floor side elevation windows in each 

apartment block, the proposal would safeguard the residential amenity of the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 102



occupiers in both buildings.  The relationship between Block A and Block B is 
considered acceptable in respect of privacy, dominance and noise. The rooms 
affected by any such obscure glazing condition are dual outlook and would benefit 
from outlook either to the street frontage or amenity space at the rear. 

 
Other properties 
 
70. Gaps in excess of 30m are retained between the development and those dwellings 

located opposite both Old Crofts Bank and Crofts Bank Road.  It is not considered 
that the development would appear significantly overbearing to these properties, nor 
compromise their light or privacy. 

 
Residential Amenity Conclusion 
 
71. Limited details of external lighting have been provided in respect of the impact on 

neighbouring properties.  The submitted lighting plans demonstrate that the site can 
be adequately illuminated including the pathways around the site, but does not 
demonstrate the impact on the nearest residential properties.  A condition can 
therefore be attached to any consent requiring full details of external lighting to be 
provided prior to their installation on site.  This could ensure that any external 
lighting has an acceptable relationship in respects of both residential amenity and 
the appearance of the site. 

 
72. Subject to the aforementioned conditions regarding external lighting, 

landscaping/boundary treatments, obscure glazing and fixed plant/machinery, it is 
considered that the proposal would have an acceptable impact on residential 
amenity having regard to policy L7 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF.  

 
HIGHWAYS IMPACT AND SERVICING 
 
73. Policy L4 of the Core Strategy states that “when considering proposals for new 

development that individually or cumulatively will have a material impact on the 
functioning of the Strategic Road Network and the Primary and Local Highway 
Authority Network, the Council will seek to ensure that the safety and free flow of 
traffic is not prejudiced or compromised by that development in a significant adverse 
way”. 

 
74. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe”. 
Given the more stringent test for the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network set by the NPPF, it is considered that Core Strategy policy L4 should be 
considered to be inconsistent with the NPPF on this specific point.  

 
75. Emerging PfE Policy JP-C7 advocates that safe and convenient access to the site 

and buildings should be provided for all users.  Car parking provision is well 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 103



integrated and unobtrusive.  Secure and covered cycle parking should be provided 
to meet long-term demand from occupiers and visitors in a convenient location that 
helps to maximise its use.   

 
Access 

 
76. The proposed plans illustrate that the existing site access (taken from Old Crofts 

Bank) will be widened to 6m allowing simultaneous access/egress from the site.  
Pedestrian dropped kerb crossings would be provided, and visibility splays in 
accordance with Manual for Streets would be achieved.  The applicant has 
confirmed that these works would be undertaken via a S278 legal agreement.  An 
informative can remind the application of this. 

 
Car Parking and Motorcycle Parking 
 
77. The car parking standards as detailed within Supplementary Planning Document 3 

‘Parking Standards and Design’ (SPD3) state that for this location residential 
dwellings requires a maximum standard of two spaces per two-bedroom apartment.  
This would equate to a maximum standard of 48no. parking spaces. 

 
78. Thirty parking spaces are proposed on-site (including two accessible spaces), 

located to the rear of the building, accessed from Old Crofts Bank.  This equates to 
1.25 spaces per 2-bedroom dwelling.  Two accessible parking spaces are proposed 
in close proximity to the rear building entrances of Block A and Block B.  The Local 
Highway Authority (LHA) have raised no objections to this parking provision which is 
based on the submitted Transport Statement (TS).  The TS concludes that the thirty 
spaces proposed would be sufficient to accommodate this development without 
leading to significant overspill parking within the surrounding area.  This is accepted 
by the LHA. 

 
79. In this instance, there is justification for the proposed parking falling under the 

maximum standards.  The site is located in very close proximity to Urmston Town 
Centre, which supports public parking opportunities and a range of public transport 
alternatives.  Urmston Town Centre supports an extensive number of amenities and 
public spaces which can be reached via dedicated footpaths and demarcated cycle 
routes (integral with the highway).  The sustainability of this location is reflected in 
the Greater Manchester Accessibility Level Score of 6 out of a maximum 8.  The 
concerns from residents with respect to overspill parking are duly noted, however, it 
is not considered that this would justify a reason for refusal.  The proposals would 
not result in an unacceptable highway safety impact nor would the cumulative impact 
on the road network be severe.  The development is considered to be satisfactorily 
serviced with respect to private parking. 

 
80. The reduction in on-site parking encourages alternative journeys to be made rather 

than by private car, and allows greater landscaping enhancements to the scheme.  

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 104



This to the benefit of both creating an attractive residential environment, and 
enhancing residential amenity. 

 
Cycle parking 
 
81. A secure weatherproof cycle store is proposed, which would be within the ‘link’ 

between the two apartment blocks.  The store appears to be of a sufficient size to 
accommodate 24no. cycles, plus 6 free standing stands to the front of the site.  
Exact details, including the provision of Sheffield stands can be conditioned.  The 
LHA have raised no objections regarding the amount and siting of the proposed 
cycle parking. 
 

Servicing 
 
82. The plans show the provision of a secure integral bin storage area, which is sited 

between the two apartment blocks within the ‘link’.  The store is located 
approximately 4.6m from the highway edge.  The applicant has confirmed that the 
bin store would be accessed via a keycode, which would be made available to 
Trafford Waste site operatives. 

 
83. The bin store sizes have been assessed by the Councils Resources and Waste 

Manager who confirms that their size would meet the required bin allocations for a 
development of this size.  A level surface would be required to the highway edge.  
The plans do indicate this, but this could be ensured through conditions requiring 
details of site levels, and hard landscaping.   

 
84. It is considered that this arrangement is practical and would not result in a significant 

occurrence of pests. 
 
Conclusion 
 
85. The Local Highway Authority (LHA) have been consulted on the latest proposals, 

and have raised no objection to the development.  The proposal, when operational, 
is not considered to result in an unacceptable impact on highway safety, nor would 
the cumulative impacts on the road network be severe.  Subject to the 
aforementioned conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with policy L4 of the 
Core Strategy, emerging policy JP-C7 of PfE, and the NPPF. 

 
FLOOD RISK / DRAINAGE 
 
86. The NPPF outlines strict tests in order to protect people and property from flooding, 

through both sequential and exception tests.  In summary, these tests are designed 
to ensure that if there are better sites in terms of flood risk, or if a proposed 
development cannot be made safe from the risks of flooding, then it should not be 
permitted.  A similar approach is embodied in Core Strategy Policy L5 and thus this 
aspect of Policy L5 is up-to-date for the purpose of decision-taking. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 105



 
87. The application site is located within a Critical Drainage Area within Trafford 

Councils Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and is also located within Flood Zone 1 
with regards Environment Agency Flood maps (lowest risk of flooding).  A Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy (DS) accompany this application.  

 
88. Given that the site is located in Flood Zone 1, the sequential test as outlined in the 

NPPF is passed and the exception test is not required.  The proposed use is classed 
as more vulnerable (as defined in Annex 3 of the NPPF) with the NPPG defining this 
use as appropriate in Flood Zone 1.  Nevertheless, the scheme has been designed 
to remain functional during any flood event for the lifetime of the development, 
incorporating the use of surface SuDS and sub-surface SuDS.  SuDS measures 
which can be incorporated on the site include Geocellular storage, and large 
diameter pipes, conduits and tanks, and permeable surfacing.  The applicant has 
confirmed that the above SuDS elements shall be used where appropriate and 
practical, and shall be maintained by a management company.  The proposed 
surface water network has been designed for a 1 in 100-year flood event with an 
additional 45% allowance for climate change.   This 45% is based on an increase in 
peak rainfall intensity. 

 
89. The applicant proposes to discharge surface water flows into the public surface 

water sewer.  Drainage to the nearest watercourse is located 85m to the southeast 
of the site and it is accepted that this would not be practical owing to the additional 
pipework required within a relatively congested area.   Infiltration has been 
discounted owing to slow infiltration rates as a result of the soilscape.  Drainage into 
the public surface water sewer would be restricted to a 5 l/s rate as agreed with 
United Utilities. 

 
90. This development has been considered acceptable by the Lead Local Flood 

Authority.  The SuDS suitability assessment, drainage plan and maintenance plan 
can be conditioned.  Subject to these conditions, the proposal would accord with 
Policy L5 of the Core Strategy, emerging PfE Policy JP-S5, and the NPPF. 

 
CONTAMINATION 
 
91. Policy L5 states that ‘Development that has potential to cause adverse pollution (of 

air, light, water, ground), noise or vibration will not be permitted unless it can be 
demonstrated that adequate mitigation measures can be put in place’.  In respect of 
contamination, Policy L5 can be considered up to date, as it is consistent with NPPF 
paragraphs 124 and 191.  Specifically the NPPF directs planning policies and 
decisions to ensure that new development is appropriate for its location and to 
decontaminate land in the interests of health, living conditions and the natural 
environment. 

 
92. The application is accompanied by a phase I desk study and phase II geo-

environmental report.  The site walkover and the historical review did not identify any 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 106



significant risks of contamination affecting the site.  Elevated levels of lead were 
identified within the superficial made ground at one location, which would be 
beneath the paved car park.  Remediation is not required under proposed buildings 
or hard paving.  In cultivated landscaped areas, the report advises that ground levels 
should be reduced to 200mm below the finished garden level.  Levels should then 
be restored by placement of clean imported topsoil under a regime of validation 
testing. 

 
93. Ground gas monitoring was undertaken and the results have been assessed in line 

with CIRIA C665, it was confirmed that ground gas level are within Characteristic 
Situation 1 and this classification does not require the adoption of remedial 
measures with respect to ground gas. 

 
94. Environmental Health Officers have reviewed the phase I and phase II assessments 

and raise no objection subject to completion of the remediation works set out in 
section 20.0 of the phase II geo-environmental report.  This can be strictly 
conditioned to ensure that these remediation works are carried out prior to 
occupation of the development.  This would be necessary to ensure the safe 
development of the site. 

 
95. Subject to the above conditions, the proposal would accord with policy L5 of the 

Core Strategy, emerging PfE policy JP-S1, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
ECOLOGY 

 
96. Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy seeks to ensure that all developments 

protect and enhance the Borough’s biodiversity. In addition, paragraph 186 of the 
NPPF states that “if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development 
cannot be avoided…adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then 
planning permission should be refused”. This policy is considered to be up to date in 
terms of the NPPF and so full weight can be afforded to it. 

 
97. The applicant has submitted an Ecological Survey and Assessment, including a 

licensed bat survey, reasonable avoidance measures, and biodiversity net gain 
(BNG) measures.   The bat survey identified that the trees adjacent to the site have 
negligible to low bat roosting potential.  The surveyor recommends that the low 
roosting potential tree (Tree 2) be felled only following removal of Ivy and 
subsequent reassessment of bat roosting features (previously covered) by a 
licensed bat surveyor.  This can be conditioned, which is recommended by the 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). 

 
98. Trees and shrubs will be lost as a result of the development which have the potential 

to accommodate bird nesting habitat. All British birds’ nests and eggs (with certain 
limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981, as amended.  A condition can state that no works to trees or shrubs shall 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 107



occur during the bird nesting seasons (1st March to 31st August inclusive), unless a 
survey has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that no active 
bird nests are present within the vegetation to be removed. 

 
99. The submitted report outlines reasonable avoidance measures (RAMs) to ensure the 

protection of hedgehog (a Priority Species) and other wildlife.  These measures seek 
to ensure that any harm to wildlife species is avoided during the construction phase.  
These measures can be strictly conditioned. 

 
100. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) will become mandatory for major applications 

submitted from 12th February 2024.  This application was submitted prior to this date 
and is therefore not subject to mandatory BNG.  However, the NPPF advocates that 
planning decisions should contribution to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity.  
Emerging PfE policy JP-G9 expects developments to provide a measurable net gain 
of no less than 10%.  The applicants have not submitted a Defra Metric 
demonstrating a measurable BNG (albeit they are not required to).  However, the 
scheme does commit to the on-site installation of two bat access panels, sparrow 
nesting terraces, bird boxes, gaps in fencing (to allow habitat connectivity through 
the site) and native landscaping.  These can be strictly conditioned. 

 
101. GMEU note that the submitted survey was undertaken in September 2022 and 

itself is an update to survey work undertaken in 2019.  GMEU request that an update 
to this survey is undertaken prior to the commencement of any works on site.  The 
2022 survey is less than 18 months old and is suitable to make a general judgement 
on this application with regards to the likely ecological impacts.  However given the 
vegetated nature of the site, an update is required to ensure that any biodiversity, 
and associated habitats not previously identified, are protected.  This survey can 
identify any ecological measures required in addition to those set out above.  Any 
such additional measures should be accompanied by a timetable for implementation.  
This can be conditioned. 

 
102. Informatives can remind the applicant of the protection afforded to bats under the 

Wildlife and Protection Act 1981 (as amended), and that it is an offence under the 
terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act to cause any invasive species plants to 
grow in the wild.  This includes Motbretia and Rhododendron, which were identified 
in the 2022 ecological survey. 

 
103. GMEU have been consulted on the application and have raised no objection.  

Subject to the aforementioned conditions, the proposal would comply with policies 
R2 and R3 of the Core Strategy, and the NPPF. 

 
CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
104. The need to mitigate and adapt to climate change is key to the delivery of 

sustainable development.  Policy L5 of the Core Strategy requires new development 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 108



to mitigate and reduce its impact on climate change factors and maximise its 
sustainability through improved environmental performance of buildings, lower 
carbon emissions and renewable or decentralised energy generation.  It is 
considered that policies L5.1 to L5.11, which addresses the issue of carbon 
emissions, are out of date as they do not reflect NPPF guidance on climate change.  
Whilst policy L5 is out of date, this policy does require that development outside of 
‘low carbon growth areas’ (LCGA) should achieve a 5% reduction in emissions of 
Carbon Dioxide (CO2) below the 2013 Building Regulations.  This site does not 
reside within an LCGA. 

 
105. The Council has declared a Climate Emergency with a target to become a 

Carbon Neutral borough by 2038.  As set out within policy JP-S 2 of PfE, there is an 
expectation that all new development will be net zero carbon in operation from 
adoption of PfE (anticipated in early 2024).  In advance of this, however, the 
proposed climate change and energy impacts shall be assessed against policy L5 
and the NPPF. 

 
106. The development seeks to reduce the total carbon emissions through a fabric 

first approach.  This involves reducing the u-value (thermal transmittance), 
incorporating energy efficient hot water cylinders within units, and providing low 
energy lighting across the development.  The Carbon Budget Statement submitted 
concludes that these measures would secure an 8.44% reduction in carbon 
emissions over the 2013 regulations upon which policy L5 is based.  In line with the 
NPPF, the development does identify suitable areas for renewable / low carbon 
energy sources and takes an opportunity to minimise carbon emissions and energy 
consumption.  The renewable energy measures proposed in this report can be 
conditioned. 

 
107. The proposed development and would be in accordance with Policy L5 of the 

Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 

AIR QUALITY 
 
Context 
 
108. Paragraph 192 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should sustain and 

contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for 
pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas 
(AQMA) and Clean Air Zones (CAZ), and the cumulative impacts from individual 
sites in local areas.  Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in 
AQMAs and CAZ is consistent with the local air quality action plan (AQAP). 

 
109. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) has published a joint Air 

Quality Action Plan (AQAP) (2016-2021) which seeks to improve air quality across 
Greater Manchester and to embed low-emission behaviours into the culture of 
organisations and lifestyles by 2025, whilst supporting the UK Government in 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 109



meeting thresholds for air pollutants at the earliest date to reduce ill-health in 
Greater Manchester. In managing new development the GMCA AQAP sets out a 
number of controls. Of relevance to this particular application are assessment of 
local air quality impacts from predominantly construction management.  No parking 
is proposed for this development, and carbon saving measures such as biomass 
which can have an adverse air quality impact, have been discounted. 

 
110. Policy L5 requires developers to adopt measures identified in the Greater 

Manchester Air Quality Action Plan, to ensure that their development would not have 
an adverse impact on the air quality. In this respect, L5 can be considered to be up 
to date for the purposes of decision making and full weight attributed to it.  Emerging 
PfE Policy JP-S6 outlines measures to be taken to support improvements in air 
quality, in particular, where people live and children learn and play. 

 
111. The application site itself partly resides within an Air Quality Management Area 

which extends along Crofts Bank Road to, and including the junction with, Moorside 
Road.  There are a number of AQMAs within the area, largely following Crofts Bank 
Road, Moorside Road and Lostock Road. 

 
Operational Phase 
 
112. Parking is proposed on site, and the building itself would be designed to be 

energy efficient with carbon emissions below that set out in the 2013 Building 
Regulations.  As per the latest Building Regulations, the development would be 
required to provide at least 24 electric vehicle charging spaces. It is not considered 
that this residential development would have a significant adverse impact on air 
quality in the surrounding or wider area. 

 
Construction Phase 
 
113. Without appropriate mitigation, dust emissions during construction works could 

have a significant adverse impact upon local air quality.   A robust construction and 
environment management plan (CEMP) is considered to be necessary to manage 
this impact on the environment.  This could include strict measures to control the 
emission of dust and dirt.  No fires shall be ignited on-site, and a scheme for 
recycling/disposing of waste shall be required.  Subject to these measures, it is 
considered that the development would result in an acceptable residual impact upon 
local air quality. 

 
Conclusion on Air Quality Impact 
 
114. The construction of this development, subject to the implementation of a robust 

CEMP, is not considered to have a significant residual impact upon air quality.   
Environmental Health Officers have assessed the development and raised no 
objection subject to the aforementioned condition.  On this basis, it is considered, 
that the proposal would accord with the aims of the Greater Manchester AQAP in 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 110



protecting air quality, and would comply with policy R5, emerging policy JP-S6, and 
the NPPF.  

 
CRIME PREVENTION AND SECURITY MEASURES 
 
115. The NPPF, at paragraphs 92 and 130 direct planning decisions to create safe 

and accessible places so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.  Policy L7 
requires development to be designed in a way that reduces opportunities for crime.  
This is reflected in emerging policy JP-P1 of PfE.  A Crime Impact Statement (CIS), 
undertaken by Greater Manchester Police, has been submitted with the application. 

 
116. The submitted Crime Statement sets out a number of measures to reduce 

opportunities for crime including CCTV, alarms, external doors (compliant with 
security standards), security lighting, access controlled gates and a fenestration 
which facilitates good levels of natural surveillance.  A condition can ensure that the 
development is constructed in accordance with this statement.  Details regarding 
boundary treatments, landscaping and external lighting shall be considered via 
separate conditions. 

 
117. Greater Manchester Police have been consulted and have raised no objection.  

Subject to the aforementioned condition, the proposal would accord with Policy L7 of 
the Core Strategy, emerging PfE Policy JP-P1, and the NPPF. 

 
EQUALITIES 
 

118. Policy L7.5 of the Core Strategy requires that development should be fully 
accessible and usable by all sections of the community and Paragraph 127 of the 
NPPF reinforces this requirement by requiring planning decisions to ensure that 
developments create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible. 

 
119. Under the provisions of the Equality Act 2010, specifically Section 149 Public 

Sector Equality Duty (PSED), all public bodies are required in exercising their 
functions to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share 
it, and to foster good relations. Having due regard for advancing equality involves: 
removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups 
where these are different from the needs of other people; and encouraging people 
from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities where their 
participation is disproportionately low. The relevant protected characteristics of the 
PSED include age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; 
religion or belief; sex and sexual orientation. The PSED applies to Local Planning 
Authorities in exercising their decision making duties with regards planning 
applications. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 111



120. Measures included within the development include level access into the ground 
floor units, and around the building including access to bin/cycle stores, areas of 
communal open space and to the wider community.  Occupants will have suitable 
access to local amenities, and opportunities to interact with the wider community to 
avoid feelings of isolation.  Details of lighting can be conditioned to ensure that 
external areas are adequately illuminated to assist those who may be partially 
sighted and pathways used to promote wayfinding around the site.   Areas of open 
space around the site would benefit from varying degrees of sunlight/daylight at 
different times of the day, which can promote continual enjoyment of communal 
areas encouraging socialising between residents. 

 
121. It is noted that only eight (33%) of the units are accessible via level access and 

that eighteen of the units would require access via one or two flights of stairs.  Only 
six of the units could therefore achieve compliance with Building Regulations 
Approved Document Part M, Optional Requirement M4(2) - Accessible and 
adaptable dwellings)  Of those eight M4(2) units that can achieve this standard, they 
can be conditioned to be built as such and retained in compliance with M4(2).  The 
staircases to access the upper floor units would, however, be suitable for ambulant 
disabled persons.   

 
122. The applicant has confirmed that they cannot provide a lift owing to viability 

reasons.  In particular, the extra cost and surcharge on rents with the Housing 
Association would make the scheme, as 100% affordable, unviable. 

 
123. The proposed buildings would be required to comply with the provisions of the 

Building Regulations Approved Document Part M4 (1) – Access to and use of 
buildings. 

 
124. The measures proposed to provide access to all, including those with a protected 

characteristic, are considered to be, on balance, an appropriate, practical and 
reasonable response to the equalities impacts of the scheme. On balance, the 
provision of eight accessible and adaptable M4(2) units at ground floor level and the 
other planning benefits of the scheme (including that it is 100% affordable housing, 
managed by a Registered Provider, which in turn means that additional costs being 
passed onto future residents should be avoided as far as possible), means that in 
this instance it is considered that the upper floor units not being to M4(2) standard is 
not sufficient to warrant a refusal of planning permission.   

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
125. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and comes 

under the category of ‘apartment’ development within a moderate charging zone, 
consequently the development will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £0 per square 
metre in line with Trafford’s CIL charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning 
Obligations (2014). 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 112



126. No other planning obligations are required. 

 
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Construction 
 
127. A detailed construction and environmental management plan (CEMP) can be 

conditioned to ensure an acceptable impact on the local highway network, 
environment (including air quality) and surrounding residential amenity.  Officers 
recommend that any CEMP should be approved by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to any on-site works commencing, and that any approved CEMP should be in 
place for the duration of the construction works on-site.  This condition has been 
recommended by the Local Highway Authority. 

 
128. Subject to the implementation of an acceptable CEMP, and the aforementioned 

conditions, the proposal would accord with policies L4 and L7 of the Core Strategy 
and the NPPF. 

 
SUMMARY AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 
129. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 2004 requires 

applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
130.  The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions, and as the 

Government’s expression of planning policy and how this should be applied, should 
be given significant weight in the decision making process. As the Council does not 
have a five year supply of housing land, paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. 
An assessment of the scheme against paragraph 11(d)(i) does not suggest that 
there is a clear reason for refusal of the application when considering the matters 
referred to in footnote 7.  The application therefore falls to be considered against 
Paragraph 11(d)(ii): granting permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 
the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 
Adverse Impacts 
 

 A limited mix of unit sizes is proposed and no larger homes (3+ beds) would be 
provided that would contribute towards the 30% target referred to in Policy L2.  
Limited weight is afforded to this harm given that scheme would provide 100% 
affordable housing and address a specific housing need and that the 30% target 
in L2 is Borough wide rather than scheme specific. 
 

 The level of car parking proposed is below the Council’s maximum parking 
standards and may result in some additional on-street parking in the vicinity of 
the site to the potential inconvenience of existing residents and others who rely 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 113



on on-street parking.  Limited weight is afforded to this harm as it is considered 
that the parking proposed is appropriate given the sustainability of this location 
and that the impacts would not be severe. 

 
Scheme Benefits 
 

 The delivery of 24 affordable homes, which exceeds the number required by 
policy and would help to meet an identified need for affordable housing in 
Urmston and the Borough.  Substantial weight is afforded to this benefit. 

 

 The delivery of 24 new homes which would contribute towards addressing the 
identified housing land supply shortfall generally.  Substantial weight is afforded 
to this benefit. 

 

 Re-use of previously developed land would contribute positively to the Council’s 
policy aspiration to maximise the use of previously developed land for housing. 
Substantial weight is afforded to this benefit; 

 

 Significant communal green space provided on-site for residents which would 
exceed the requirements set out in Trafford planning guidance for new residential 
developments.   Moderate weight is afforded to this benefit. 

 

 Economic benefits that will flow from construction and occupation. Additional 
expenditure into the local economy will support existing services in the area, 
limited weight is afforded to this benefit. 

 
131. Members may note that the separation distances (window to window) between 

Block B and no. 7 Broadlea would in some instances fall below the recommended 
distances as set out in Trafford’s Planning Guidance.  However, this impact is not 
considered to adversely affect the living conditions of no.7, which has been 
supported through the Inspectors Appeal decision in determining the previous 
planning application ref. 100658/FUL/20.  The Inspectors appeal decision and 
judgement in respect of residential amenity is given very significant weight.  The 
minor conflict with PG1 guidance would therefore weigh neutrally in this instance. 
 

132. The main adverse impacts relate to the limited housing mix which is proposed, 
and the provision of parking which is approximately 50% below the maximum 
parking standards set out in Trafford’s Planning Guidance.  Limited weight is 
attached to these harms.  However the benefits arising from the scheme in the 
provision of 24 affordable housing units on a vacant brownfield site are afforded 
substantial weight.  Moderate or limited weight is also afforded to the other benefits 
listed above.  
 

133. Having carried out the weighted balancing exercise under Paragraph 11 (d)(ii) of 
the NPPF, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission 
would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of doing so. Indeed 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 114



the benefits of the scheme are considered to significantly outweigh the adverse 
impacts identified above. None of the adverse impacts are considered significant 
enough to generate a conflict with the development plan and the scheme would 
comply with the development plan when taken as a whole. The application is 
therefore recommended for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
GRANT subject to conditions: 
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans, numbers: 
 
4138/001 rev.B - Existing Site Plan / Location Plan; 
4138/101 rev.J - Proposed Site Plan; 
4138/110 rev.E - Proposed Plans Block A; 
4138/111 rev.E - Proposed Plans Block B; 
4138/120 rev.D - Proposed Elevations Block A; 
4138/121 rev.D - Proposed Elevations Block B; 
4138/125 rev.B - Existing and Proposed Street Scene. 
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3. The residential units hereby permitted shall only be used for the purposes of 
providing affordable housing (as defined by the NPPF Annex 2, or any subsequent 
amendment thereof) to be occupied by households or individuals in housing need 
and shall not be offered for sale or rent on the open market. The units shall comprise 
24 x 2-bed units for affordable rent and/or shared ownership. Any affordable housing 
units provided for affordable rent shall only be occupied by individuals from within 
the boundaries of Trafford Borough in housing need and Trafford Borough Council 
shall be given at least 75% nomination rights. Provided that this planning condition 
shall not apply to the part of the property over which:- (i) a tenant has exercised the 
right to acquire, right to buy or any similar statutory provision and for the avoidance 
of doubt once such right to acquire or right to buy has been exercised, the proprietor 
of the property, mortgagee and subsequent proprietors and their mortgagees shall 
be permitted to sell or rent the property on the open market; (ii) a leaseholder of a 
shared ownership property has staircased to 100% and for the avoidance of doubt 
once such staircasing has taken place the proprietor of the property, mortgagee and 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 115



subsequent proprietors and their mortgagees shall be permitted to sell or rent the 
property on the open market. 
 
Reason: To comply with Policies L1, L2 and L8 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 1: Planning Obligations and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no works involving the 
use of any external facing materials shall take place until samples and / or full 
specification of materials to be used externally on the building have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include 
the type, colour and texture of the materials. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. No above-ground construction works shall take place unless and until a detailed 
façade schedule for all elevations of the building has first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The schedule shall be provided in 
tabulated form with cross referencing to submitted drawings, include the provision of 
further additional drawings and the building of sample panels on site as necessary 
and shall include: 
 
(i) All brickwork detailing and stone cills; 
(ii) all fenestration details and external reveals; 
(iii) all entrances into the buildings, and external reveals; 
(iv) the siting of any equipment on the roofs of the development; 
(v) the means of dealing with rainwater and any necessary rainwater goods that may 
be visible on the external façade of the building; 
(vi) the siting of any external façade structures such as meter boxes which shall 
have a suitable painted finish; 
(vii) the pergola roof indicated between the two apartment blocks. 
 
Development shall proceed in accordance with the approved detailed façade 
schedule. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in protecting the original design intent 
and quality of the proposed development, having regard to Core Strategy Policy L7 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

6. All window and door openings shall be constructed with minimum 90mm deep 
external reveals. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 116



Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation the 
windows in the first and second floors on the side elevations of both Block A and 
Block B shall be fitted with, to a height of no less than 1.7m above finished floor 
level, non-opening lights and textured glass which obscuration level is no less than 
Level 3 of the Pilkington Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as such thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8. The ground floor dwellings hereby approved, as shown on Drawing No. 4138/110 
(rev.E), and 4138/111 (rev.E) shall not be constructed other than in accordance with 
the Optional Requirement M4(2) 'Accessible and adaptable dwellings' of Part M of 
the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended).  The dwellings shall be retained only in 
compliance with M4(2) 'Accessible and adaptable dwellings' thereafter. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is fully accessible and useable by all 
section of the community, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

9. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 
hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall include the formation of any banks, terraces or 
other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials, boundary treatments, planting 
plans, specifications and schedules (including planting size, species and 
numbers/densities), existing plants / trees to be retained and a scheme for the timing 
/ phasing of implementation works.  
(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner.  
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition which 
are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become 
seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the next 
planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 117



R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

10. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a schedule of 
landscape maintenance for the lifetime of the development has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The schedule shall include 
details of the arrangements for its implementation. Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved schedule. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 
R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

11. No development or works of site preparation shall take place until all trees that are to 
be retained within or adjacent to the site have been enclosed with temporary 
protective fencing in accordance with BS: 5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction. Recommendations'. The fencing shall be retained 
throughout the period of construction and no activity prohibited by BS: 5837:2012 
shall take place within such protective fencing during the construction period.  
 
Reason: In order to protect the existing trees on the site in the interests of the 
amenities of the area having regard to Policies L7, R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. The fencing is required prior 
to development taking place on site as any works undertaken beforehand, including 
preliminary works, can damage the trees. 
 

12. The development shall only be carried out in strict accordance with Section 6.0 
(Method Statement) of the submitted Arboricultural Report (ref.PM/FULL/12/01/24). 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area having regard to Policies L7, R2 
and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

13. No development shall take place until details of existing and finished site levels 
relative to previously agreed off-site datum point(s) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

14. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until such time 
as a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 118



a) Parking arrangements for site operative and visitor vehicles; 
b) The management of deliveries to including details of any proposed delivery 
booking system. Best practice measures should be employed to restrict external 
construction traffic movements to off-peak traffic hours; 
c) Loading and unloading of plant and materials to include vehicle access and 
egress arrangements; 
d) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
e) The erection and maintenance of security hoardings including decorative displays 
and facilities for public viewing (where appropriate); 
f) Wheel washing facilities and any other relevant measures for keeping the highway 
clean during the works; 
g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt; 
h) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting the works (and the prohibition 
of fires on site); 
i) Days and hours of construction activity on site (in accordance with Trafford 
Council's recommended hours of operation for construction works); 
j) Contact details for the site manager are to be advertised at the site in case of 
issues arising; 
k) information on how asbestos material is to be identified and treated or disposed of 
in a manner that would not cause undue risk to adjacent receptors; and 
l) information to be made available for members of the public. 
 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site and 
to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and users of 
the highway, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

15. The approved development shall comply with the external noise mitigation scheme 
detailed within Table 5.1 and Appendix 3 to the supporting Noise Impact 
Assessment prepared by Environmental Noise Solutions Limited (ref: 
NIA/8345/19/8249/v3, date: 4th June 2020). Sufficient technical details of the final 
glazing and ventilation products selected shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to any construction commencing above 
ground level, in order to demonstrate: 
 
- compliance with the minimum acoustic performance targets of the aforementioned 
Table 5.1 and Appendix 3, 
- that the ventilation products can achieve suitable rates of room ventilation in 
accordance with current Building Regulations requirements, and 
- that continuously running mechanical ventilation systems will not exceed the 
recommended maximum internal noise levels for dwellings of current Building 
Regulations. 
 
Reason: To secure an acceptable standard of amenity for occupiers of this 
development, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 119



 
16. No external lighting shall be installed on the buildings or elsewhere on the site 

unless a scheme for such lighting has first been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the site shall only be lit in accordance 
with the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

17. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the means of 
access and the areas for the movement, loading, unloading and parking of vehicles 
have been provided, constructed and surfaced in complete accordance with the 
plans hereby approved. 
 
Reason. To ensure that satisfactory provision is made within the site for the 
accommodation of vehicles attracted to or generated by the proposed development, 
having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

18. No building hereby approved shall be occupied unless and until a scheme for secure 
cycle storage for at least 30 bicycles has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented 
before the development is brought into use and shall be retained at all times 
thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle parking provision is made in the interests 
of promoting sustainable development, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy, the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 3: 
Parking Standards and Design, and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

19. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a verification report 
demonstrating completion of remediation works set out in section 20.0 of the 
geoenvironmental report submitted with this application has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 
development of the site in the interests of the health of future occupiers in 
accordance with Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

20. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
submitted Drainage Strategy (ref.7558/02, dated September 2022), and the 
Microdrainage calculation (ref. 7558 SW02.MDX, Network 2020.1.3).  For the 
avoidance of doubt, surface water shall drain at the restricted rate of 5 l/s. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 120



Reason: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and disposal of 
surface water from the site having regard to Policy L5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

21. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
physical security measures set out in Section 4 of the submitted Crime Impact 
Statement (ref: 2019/0573/CIS/01, version B) with the exception of the boundary 
treatments, landscape details, and external lighting, set out in sections 4.6, 4.7 and 
4.8 of the submitted report. 
 
Reason: In the interest of security and reducing opportunities for crime having 
regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 

22. No clearance of trees and shrubs in preparation for (or during the course of) 
development shall take place during the bird nesting season (March-August 
inclusive) unless an ecological survey has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority to establish whether the site is utilised for bird 
nesting. Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no 
development shall take place during the period specified above unless a mitigation 
strategy has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority which provides for the protection of nesting birds during the period of works 
on site. The mitigation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds having regard to 
Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

23. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in strict accordance with 
Section 5.0 'Recommendations and Ecological Enhancement' of the submitted 
Ecological Survey and Assessment (ref. 2022-306), dated September 2022.  The 
enhancement measures shall be carried out prior to first occupation of the 
development hereby approved and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In order to secure biodiversity enhancement on-site having regard to Policy 
R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

24. The development hereby approved shall only be carried out in strict accordance with 
the reasonable avoidance measures set out in section 5.6.1 of the submitted 
Ecological Survey and Assessment (ref. 2022-306), dated September 2022.   

 
Reason: In order to safeguard biodiversity and prevent any habitat disturbance 
having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 121



25. Any felling of T2, as identified within the submitted Ecological Survey and 
Assessment (ref. 2022-306) dated September 2022, shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with sections 5.4.4 – 5.5.8 of this submitted report. 

 
Reason: In order to safeguard biodiversity and prevent any habitat disturbance 
having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

26. Notwithstanding conditions 23, 24 and 25 of this consent, prior to any development 
or works of site preparation taking place, an updated ecological survey and 
associated report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Any additional ecological measures set out within the submitted 
report shall be accompanied by a timetable for implementation.  The development 
shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved ecological measures and 
timetable. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard biodiversity and prevent any habitat disturbance 
having regard to Policy R2 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 
27. The noise rating level (LAeq,T) from all fixed plant and machinery associated with 

the development, when operating simultaneously, shall be selected and / or 
acoustically treated to achieve a rating level of 5dB (LAeq) below the typical 
background (LA90) level at the nearest noise sensitive location. Noise 
measurements and assessments shall be carried out in accordance with the latest 
published edition of BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 "Methods for rating and assessing 
industrial and commercial sound". Written validation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority confirming that the criteria for 
fixed plant and machinery has been met prior to the first occupation of the 
development. Any mitigation measures required to achieve compliance with this 
requirement shall be retained thereafter in working order. 
 
Reason: In the interest of amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
RCR 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 122



E

E

2

1

4

9

93

80

14

68

85

95

70

21.9m

Court

LB

15
a

PC
Pavilion

Tennis Courts

B
R

O
A

D
 L

E
A

C
R

O
F

T
S

 B
A

N
K

 R
O

A
D

TCB

21.7m

Bandstand

El Sub Sta

Sports Court

Tennis Court
BENDEMEER

2
4

2

1

14

LB

91

Arrandale

TCB

1 to

1

4

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

112242/FUL/23

Former 1-3, Old Crofts Bank, Davyhulme (site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee Date 15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 123



 
 

WARD: Longford 
 

112327/FUL/23 DEPARTURE: No 

 

Erection of two storey detached dwelling with associated garage, parking/cycle 
store and landscaping. 

 
Land Adjacent To 24 Erlington Avenue, Old Trafford, Manchester, M16 0FW 
 

APPLICANT:  Mr Ashraf 
AGENT:    Mr Falzon 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT  
 
 
This application has been reported to the Planning and Development 
Management Committee due to six or more representations being received 
contrary to Officer recommendation. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
The application relates to the development of land adjacent to 24 Erlington Avenue, 
Old Trafford. The site is currently vacant, comprising former garden land.  
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of 1 no. two storey detached dwelling 
with a detached garage accessed from Erlington Avenue. The proposed design 
would be in keeping with the immediate street scene. 
 
The application has received letters of objection from 6 different addresses. The 
main concerns raised relate to the impact on residential amenity, parking and the 
likelihood of the dwelling being converted into an HMO. All representations have 
been duly noted and considered as part of the application appraisal. 
 
The ‘tilted balance’ under NPPF paragraph 11d is engaged due to Core Strategy 
Policy L2 being out of date given the absence of a five year housing land supply. 
Substantial weight is given to the moderate contribution that the proposed 1 new 
family dwelling would make to the Council’s housing land supply. 
 
The proposal would furthermore achieve the Plan’s Strategic and Place Objectives 
with regard to the Old Trafford Priority Regeneration Area. 
 
Other benefits and harms have been taken into consideration as set out within the 
Planning Balance section of this report. 
 
It is considered that when applying the tilted balance, there are no adverse impacts 
that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposed 
scheme. The proposal is considered to comply with the development plan as a whole 
and is therefore recommended for approval subject to appropriately worded 
conditions. 
 
 Planning Committee - 15th February 24 124



 
 

SITE 
 
The application site consists of a currently vacant piece of land adjacent to (north of) 24 
Erlington Avenue. To the north of the site is a garage which sits within the rear garden 
of the neighbouring property, 35 Rye Bank Road. This garage cuts into the site making 
it irregular in shape. 
 
The properties along Erlington Avenue are generally uniform in type being semi-
detached, bay fronted units consisting of brick and render finish and are typical of the 
wider suburban area. 
 
The site is relatively level and open fronted to the road, the boundaries consist of brick 
walls and timber fence. 
 
The application site is located within the Old Trafford Priority Regeneration Area. 
 
PROPOSAL 
 
Permission is sought for the erection of a 4 bedroom detached dwelling with detached 
garage. The dwelling would be of a traditional design with architectural detailing and 
materials reflecting the semi-detached dwellings within the street scene. A detached 
garage with pitched roof, is to be sited in the south east corner of the site, accessed by 
a driveway from Erlington Avenue passing down the side of the house adjacent to 24 
Erlington Avenue. 
 
Accommodation is to be provided over three storeys with Bedroom 4 situated within the 
roof space. 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) 
development plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes 
the Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core 
Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 
2006; The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were 
saved in either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are 
superseded by policies within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
provides details as to how the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L1 – Land for New Homes 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 125



 
 

L2 – Meeting Housing Needs 
L3 – Regeneration and Reducing Inequalities 
L4 – Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
L7 – Design 
L8 – Planning Obligations 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Old Trafford Priority Regeneration Area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
None 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND GUIDANCE 
SPD3 – Parking Standards and Design 
PG1 – New Residential Development 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE 
Places for Everyone (PfE) is a Joint Development Plan Document being produced by 
nine Greater Manchester districts Development Plan Document being produced by nine 
Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, 
Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and 
employment development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects 
environmental assets. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced 
on 02 November 2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the 
Inspectors issued IN39 on 11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this 
stage of the examination that all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to 
make the Plan sound and/or legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard. 
Consultation on the Main Modifications started on 11 October 2023 and closed on 6 
December 2023. Consequently the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making 
process and substantial weight can be attached to its policies. 
 
Emerging policies relevant to this application are: 
JP-S1: Sustainable Development 
JP-P1: Sustainable Places 
JP-H1: Scale, Distribution and Phasing of New Development 
JP-H2: Affordability of New Housing 
JP-C7: Transport Requirements of New Development 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
DLUHC published the latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
on 20 December 2023.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 126



 
 

DLUHC published the National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014, and was 
last updated on 20 November 2023. The NPPG will be referred to as appropriate in the 
report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
107942/FUL/22 – Erection of 2 no. 3 bedroomed semi-detached homes with associated 
parking. 
Refused 5th December 2022 for the following reason: 
 

1. The proposed development, by reason of its scale, siting and design would result 
in a cramped form of development that would be out of character with the street 
scene with inadequate space for soft landscaping to the front. As such the 
proposal would result in a development that is not well designed, does not add to 
the overall quality of the area and would have a detrimental impact on the visual 
appearance and character of the street scene and surrounding area. The 
proposed development would therefore be contrary to Policy L7 of the Trafford 
Core Strategy, the Council’s adopted SPG1: New Residential Development, 
relevant sections of the National Planning Policy Framework, and the National 
Design Guide. 

 
The application was subsequently dismissed at appeal. 
 
107009/FUL/22 – Erection of 2 no. 4 bedroomed semi-detached homes with associated 
parking and inbuilt garages. 
Withdrawn 
 
105454/FUL/21 – Erection of a 3 storey apartment block consisting of 2 no. apartments 
and 2 no. duplex apartments with a new vehicular entrance from Erlington Avenue 
Withdrawn  
 
103286/FUL/21 – Erection of a pair of two storey semi-detached houses. 
Refused 24/03/21 for the following reason: 
 

1. The proposed development by reason of its contrived layout, design and scale 
would fail to make best use of opportunities to improve the character and quality 
of an area, being detrimental to the street scene and local character. Therefore 
the development would be contrary to policy of the Trafford Borough Council 
Core Strategy Policy L7 and the NPPF. 

 
102177/FUL/20 – Erection of a pair of two-storey semi-detached houses. 
Withdrawn 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
The following documents have been submitted as part of the application: 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 127



 
 

 - Planning Statement 
 - Façade Design Analysis 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Local Highway Authority – No objection subject to further clarification regarding garage 
dimensions, cycle and bin storage. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority – The site possesses no notable surface water flood risk 
and there are no records of flooding within 20m or Ordinary Watercourses within 5m. 
There will be no significant change to the impermeable area and so little change to the 
surface water runoff generated by the site. 
 
In the interest of managing flood risk and promoting sustainable development, a full 
investigation of the hierarchy of drainage as set out in Part H of the Building Regulations 
as seen below should be conducted. 
 

1. Into the ground (infiltration) 
2. To a surface water body 
3. To a surface water sewer 
4. To a combined sewer 

 
Any connection to a public sewer will require the appropriate permissions from United 
Utilities. 
 
Pollution and Licensing (Nuisance) – No objection subject to conditions relating to site 
working hours, lighting, noise from plant and EVCPs. 
 
Waste – No objection  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Letters of objection have been received from six different addresses. The main points 
raised are summarised below: 
 
- Potential to create a fifth bedroom out of the study even before any future permitted 

development; 
- Concerns the property will be converted into an HMO leading to a concentration 

within the immediate locality and associated increased parking and amenity 
impacts; 

- Preference for the site to remain as gardens; 
- Overlooking of neighbouring gardens and properties; 
- Loss of light to neighbouring dwellings; 
- Loss of light to neighbouring garden as a result of the siting of the proposed garage; 
- Proposed house already extends beyond the rear of neighbours and it is therefore 

requested that permitted development rights are withdrawn; 
- No soakaways; 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 128



 
 

OBSERVATIONS 
 
THE PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
The decision taking framework 
 

1. S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF at paragraphs 2 
and 47 reinforces this requirement. 

 
2. The NPPF, at paragraph 11, explains how the “presumption in favour” should be 

applied in the decision-taking process. It means approving development 
proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay, 
subsection 11c explains. Or, as advised by subsection 11d, where there are no 
relevant development plan policies or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, granting planning permission unless: 

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

 
3. The LPA cannot demonstrate that it has a five year supply of deliverable housing 

sites when assessed against its housing requirement. Paragraph 11(d)(ii) (the 
tilted balance) is automatically triggered by the absence of a five year housing 
supply, as confirmed by Footnote 8 of the NPPF. Whilst not a phrase used in the 
NPPF, the “tilted balance” refers to the presumption in paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the 
NPPF that, where the presumption applies, planning permission should be 
granted unless there are “adverse impacts which would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh its benefits.” The exercise under the tilted balance is 
therefore carried out in the assessment of the proposed development. 

 
4. There are no protected areas or assets affected by the proposals (in accordance 

with footnote 7 which excludes non-designated heritage assets) and therefore 
11(d)(i) is not applicable. 

 
Housing Land Supply 
 

5. The NPPF places great emphasis on the need to plan for and deliver new 
housing throughout the UK. Local planning authorities are required to support 
the Government’s objectives of significantly boosting the supply of homes. With 
reference to paragraph 60 of the NPPF, this means ensuring that a sufficient 
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 129



 
 

of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed, and that land with 
permission is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 
6. The site appears to comprise former garden land of neighbouring properties and 

whilst historically has included garages / outbuildings, it has mainly remained 
undeveloped. In accordance with the definition within the NPPF, ‘previously 
developed land’ excludes land in built-up areas such as residential gardens. 
Therefore, whilst the majority of the application site constitutes greenfield land 
and would not contribute towards the Council’s indicative target of providing 80% 
of new housing on brownfield land, this does not alter the principle position of 
the development of this vacant site and its contribution to the Council’s housing 
land supply. This is explored further in the following section of this report. 

 
7. Policy L2 (Meeting Housing Needs) of the Core Strategy is clear that all new 

residential proposals will be assessed for the contribution that would be made to 
meeting the Borough’s housing needs. The provision of 1 no. four bed dwelling 
would make only a small contribution to the overall housing supply but would 
nonetheless be a positive contribution providing additional housing suitable for 
families. The site is located in a sustainable urban location where there is good 
access to services and local shops and public transport with several bus stops 
and a tram stop within walking distance of the site. 

 
Old Trafford Priority Regeneration Area 
 

8. The application site lies within the Old Trafford Priority Regeneration Area. Within 
Regeneration Areas the Council will support appropriate developments which 
will reduce inequalities and secure regeneration benefits, create truly 
sustainable communities; and make a positive contribution(s) to achieving the 
Plan’s Strategic Objectives and relevant Place Objectives. It is considered that 
the proposal is consistent with the Regeneration framework of the Core Strategy 
and specifically will make a contribution to the following Strategic Objectives: 

 
SO1 – Meeting Housing Needs 
SO2 – Regenerate 
SO3 – Reduce the need to travel 

 
9. More specifically the proposal will contribute towards the following Place 

Objectives: 
 

OTO1 – To improve the quality, mix and type of residential offer 
OTO2 – To maximise the re-use and redevelopment of unused, under used or 
derelict land. 

 
10. The proposed residential development is therefore considered acceptable in 

principle subject to the design and its impact upon the street scene, residential 
amenity and highway matters. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 130



 
 

 
11. The application under consideration relates to the development of a single family 

dwelling and therefore that is what should be considered within this assessment. 
Trafford Council has an Article 4 Direction in place that would prevent the 
change of use of a dwellinghouse to an HMO unless planning permission is 
granted. 

 
12. Other matters to consider relate to design and visual amenity, residential 

amenity, parking and landscaping. 
 
DESIGN AND VISUAL AMENITY 
 

13. NPPF, PPG, the National Design Guide (NDG) and the National Model Design 
Code (NDC) set out the Government’s planning policies and guidance on 
matters of design. The NDG is considered to be a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications should be attributed significant weight. 
The current version of the NPPF (20 December 2023), highlights the increased 
importance given to the consideration of design by the Government. It is clear 
that a shortfall in housing land supply should not result in a ‘development at any 
cost’ approach to decision making. 

 
14. Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that “The creation of high quality, beautiful 

and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and 
helps make development acceptable to communities.” Paragraph 139 expands 
on this and is clear that “Development that is not well designed should be 
refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design guidance and 
supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes. 
Conversely, significant weight should be given to: 

 
a) Development which reflects local design policies and government 

guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and 
supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes; 
and/or 

b) Outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of 
sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more generally in an 
area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their 
surroundings.” 

 
15. Policy L7 advises that, in relation to matters of design, development must be 

appropriate in this context, make best use of opportunities to improve the 
character and quality of the area and enhance the street scene or character of 
the area by appropriately addressing scale, density, height, massing, layout, 
elevation treatment, materials, hard and soft landscaping works and boundary 
treatment. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 131



 
 

 
16. Emerging PfE Policy JP-P1 outlines an ambition to create a series of beautiful, 

healthy and varied places. Development should be distinctive, with a clear 
identity that respects and acknowledges the character and identity of the locality 
in terms of design, siting, scale and materials used. 

 
17. The Council’s Planning Guidelines within adopted “New Residential 

Development” paragraph 2.4, states that “Whilst the Council acknowledges that 
the development of smaller urban sites with small scale housing or flat 
developments makes a contribution towards the supply of new housing in the 
Borough, the way in which the new buildings relate to the existing will be of 
paramount importance. This type of development will not be accepted at the 
expense of the amenity of the surrounding properties or the character of the 
area. The resulting plot sizes and frontages should therefore be sympathetic to 
the character of the area as well as being satisfactorily related to each other and 
the street scene.” 

 
18. Paragraph 9.3 states that “Residents parking should normally be behind the 

building line, capable of accommodating a garage and be within the curtilage of 
the dwelling or conveniently adjoining it. Residents’ parking in front of the 
building line may be accepted if the need for this can be justified and if the result 
in terms of appearance is shown to be satisfactory and in character with the 
area.” 

 
19. Great emphasis in the PPG and the NDG is placed on the importance of context 

and identity. This is of course set against the need to support development that 
makes efficient use of land taking into account inter alia the desirability of 
maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting. 

 
20. The NDG repeatedly emphasises the importance of context and identity and at 

C1 and paragraphs 41-43 says that well-designed new development should 
understand and relate well to the site, its local and wider context, and respond 
well to the features of the site itself and the surrounding context beyond the site 
boundary. 

 
21. The application site is viewed in the context of Erlington Avenue which largely 

comprises traditional, two storey semi-detached properties with two storey bay 
windows to the front with a gabled roof and timber detail. The ground floor and 
gabled site elevation are constructed of red brick with white render to the first 
floor front elevation. Boundary treatment to the frontage comprises low brick 
walls. Space between the pairs of semis is generally comprised of parking or a 
garage. Some properties utilise hardstanding to the front of the dwellings to 
provide additional off-street parking. The road is tree-lined however due to the 
restricted space within the front gardens of the dwellings, there is limited planting 
and additional greenery. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 132



 
 

22. Design cues have been taken from the traditional semi-detached properties 
within the Erlington Avenue streetscene and the proposal includes many of the 
architectural features, including the timber gable, oriel window, arched front 
entrance and string course as well as matching materials. 

 
23. Whilst the proposed streetscene shows the dwelling to be marginally taller than 

the adjacent pair of semis at 24 and 22 Erlington Avenue, the overall scale and 
massing is reflective of the street scene.  

 
24. The proposal would represent a development that is attractively designed, 

incorporating interesting design features and is considered to be appropriate in 
its context. It is therefore considered to be in accordance with the principles of 
the NPPF, the draft Trafford Design Code and Policy L7. 

 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

25. Policy L7.3 of the Trafford Core Strategy states that development must not 
prejudice the amenity of occupants of adjacent properties by reason of 
overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking, visual intrusion, noise and/or 
disturbance, odour or in any other way. 

 
26. SPG1 New Residential Development sets out the guidelines that relate to all 

forms of new residential development. These are as follows: 
 

- 21m between facing habitable room windows across public highways 
(increased by 3m for three or more storeys); 
- 27m between facing habitable room windows across private gardens (increased 
by 3m for three or more storeys); 
- 15m between a main elevation with habitable room windows and a facing blank 

elevation; 
- 10.5m between habitable room windows and garden boundaries (increased by 

3m for three or more storeys). 
 

27. Consideration is given to the impact of the proposed development on 
neighbouring residential properties as well as the amenity for future occupiers of 
the development. 

 
Impact on Adjacent Properties 
 

28. At its closest point, the proposed dwelling would be approximately 5.5m away 
from the side elevation of 24 Erlington Avenue. The new dwelling would not 
project beyond the rear although the garage is sited on the boundary in the rear 
south east corner of the application site.  

 
29. The proposed new dwelling is not considered to have an adverse impact on the 

amenity of the neighbouring dwelling by any loss of light or overshadowing. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 133



 
 

 
30. There is a clear glazed window in the side of the single storey outrigger to the 

rear of 24 Erlington Avenue. It has not been ascertained whether this serves as 
a separate morning room or is a through room to the kitchen with a further 
window also on the rear. Nevertheless, it is considered that the proposal, with 
the proposed separation distance and the fact that the new dwelling would not 
project as far as this neighbouring projection, that there would be no unduly 
overbearing effect. 

 
31. There are 5 windows proposed in the side elevation of the proposed dwelling 

facing towards the side of no. 24. However none of these windows serve 
habitable rooms and therefore with the exception of the ground floor window, 
which has no elevated viewpoint for overlooking, all the windows would be 
conditioned as obscured to protect privacy. 

 
32. Existing boundary treatment between the sites comprises a low boundary wall 

with some missing fence panels. No new boundary treatment is shown on the 
proposed plans and a condition is therefore required to agree details.  

 
33. The proposed garage would be sited to the rear of the garage within the rear 

garden of 24 Erlington Road. Given that it would be a single storey structure, it is 
not considered that there would be any undue impact on light to the 
neighbouring property or garden. 

 
34.  In relation to properties on Rye Bank Road, there would be a separation 

distance between the side of the proposal and the rear of properties on Rye 
Bank Road of approximately 21m. The only window in the side elevation facing 
these neighbouring properties is to the second floor bedroom. Given the lack of 
any meaningful distance to the rear gardens and rear elevations, it is considered 
that this window should be fitted with obscure glazing to prevent undue 
overlooking and loss of privacy. Given that this is the fourth bedroom and is also 
served by rooflights, this is considered acceptable in this instance. 

 
35. To the rear of the proposed dwelling, a distance of approximately 16m is 

achieved. 
 

36. Window to window distances between the new dwelling and the rear of facing 
properties east of the site also meet PG1 guidelines.  

 
37. Conditions are recommended by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer in 

relation to lighting, plant noise and electric vehicle charging points (EVCPs). 
EVCPs are now required by the Building Regulations and a therefore a planning 
condition would not be necessary in this case. 

 
38. No plant is proposed as part of the application and therefore an informative 

would be more appropriate in this case. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 134



 
 

 
39. Representations received have requested that permitted development rights are 

removed to prevent the property from extending in the future. Having regard to 
the restrictions under permitted development rights (for example in relation to 
side extensions and windows in side elevations) and the space maintained to 
the side of the site adjacent to 24 Erlington Avenue, it is not considered 
necessary to remove permitted development rights in this instance. 

 
Amenity for Future Occupiers 
 

40. The proposed development comprises 1 no. 4 bed dwelling. The property would 
have a good level of internal and external space and complies with the 
Nationally Described Space Standards for a 4 bedroom property. All bedrooms 
and main habitable rooms within the dwellings would be served by windows or 
rooflights that provide an outlook and would be afforded an acceptable amount 
of daylight. 

 
Conclusion 
 

41. The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of 
residential amenity for both neighbouring occupants and future occupiers. It is 
therefore in accordance with Policy L7 of the Core Strategy and NPPF. 

 
PARKING AND HIGHWAYS 
 

42. Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy requires development to incorporate a 
vehicular access and egress which is satisfactorily located and laid out having 
regard to the need for highway safety, the provision of sufficient and appropriate 
off-street car and cycle parking, the provision of, and access to, waste recycling 
facilities. Matters of accessibility are also a material consideration in the 
promotion of sustainable forms of transportation. 

 
43. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that “Development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.” 

 
44. The car parking standards as detailed within SPD3 state that for a four or more-

bedroom dwelling unit, three off-street parking spaces are required. The plans 
demonstrate that these can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site 
including 1 no. space provided within the detached garage. 

 
45. The minimum cycle parking standards as detailed within SPD3 state a four or 

more-bedroom dwelling unit requires two communal or four allocated cycle 
spaces. The proposed garage provides sufficient space for the parking of a car 
and the required cycle parking provision. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 135



 
 

 
46. It is considered the works associated with the construction of the development 

will result in a temporary increase in the number and type of activities that take 
place at this location on a day-to-day basis, including access by heavy duty 
vehicles. The LHA therefore request a CEMP condition is attached to an 
approval. 

 
TREES AND LANDSCAPING 
 

47. Core Strategy Policy R2 states that developers are required to demonstrate how 
their proposal will protect and enhance the landscape character, biodiversity, 
geodiversity and conservation value of its natural surroundings both upon 
completion and through the construction process.  

 
48. Google Maps (2019) indicates that there was previously a garage on the site 

(there remains evidence of the hardstanding) and the frontage to Erlington 
Avenue was heavily planted. It is clear that the site contributed positively to the 
street scene through the presence of trees and landscaping. Notwithstanding 
this, no trees on site were protected by a TPO and the site is not within a 
Conservation Area. As such, clearance of the site in preparation for the 
submission of this planning application was undertaken lawfully. 

 
49. It is considered that there is scope within the site for new on-site planting and 

landscaping. A condition is recommended to this effect. 
 
ECOLOGY 
 

50. The existing site has been cleared and therefore it contains limited biodiversity. 
In line with NPPF a condition is attached requiring biodiversity enhancement. 

 
FLOOD RISK AND CLIMATE CHANGE 
 

51. Policy L5 of the Core Strategy relates to Climate Change and states that new 
development should mitigate and reduce its impact on climate change factors, 
such as pollution and flooding and maximise its sustainability through improved 
environmental performance of buildings, lower carbon emissions and renewable 
or decentralised energy generation. 

 
52. Having regard to consultation comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority, 

there are no drainage matters that need to be addressed. 
 
EQUALITIES 
 

53. The Equality Act became law in 2010. Its purpose is to legally protect people 
from discrimination in the workplace and in wider society. The Act introduced the 
term ‘protected characteristics’, which refers to groups that are protected under 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 136



 
 

the Act. These characteristics comprise: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnerships, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, 
sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
54. As part of the Act, the ‘public sector equality duty’ came into force in April 2011 

(Section 149 of the Act), and with it confirmed (via Section 19 of the Act) that this 
duty applies to local authorities (as well as other public bodies). The equality 
duty comprises three main aims: A public authority must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
55. Case law has established that appropriate consideration of equality issues is a 

requirement for local authorities in the determination of planning applications, 
and with this requirement directly stemming from the Equality Act 2010. The 
applicant has confirmed that the dwellings will comply with the Building 
Regulations Part M 4(1) (Visitable dwellings) which requires that reasonable 
provision should be made for people, including wheelchair users, to gain access 
to and use the dwelling and its facilities.  

 
56. The proposal has been designed with a level threshold. Having regard to these 

material considerations, it is therefore considered that the proposal is acceptable 
in this respect. No particular benefits or dis-benefits of the scheme have been 
identified in relation to any of the other protected characteristics in the Equality 
Act. As such, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable with 
regard to Policy L7 of the Core Strategy. 

 
DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

57. This proposal is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and is 
located in the ‘cold zone’ for residential development, consequently private 
market houses will be liable to a CIL charge rate of £20 in line with Trafford’s CIL 
charging schedule and revised SPD1: Planning Obligations (2014).  

 
58. No other planning obligations are required. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

59. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 137



 
 

material considerations indicate otherwise. That remains the starting point for 
decision making. The NPPF is an important material consideration. 

 
60. NPPF Paragraph 11d sets out the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 

development.’ To reiterate, paragraph 11d applies to the decision-taking process 
where there are no relevant development plan policies or the policies which are 
‘most important’ are out of date. The effect of paragraph 11d is that planning 
permission should be granted unless either paragraph 11d(i) or paragraph 
11d(ii) applies. 

 
61. Paragraph 11d(ii) is engaged due to Core Strategy Policy L2 being out-of-date 

given the absence of a five year housing land supply. The engaging of 
paragraph 11d(ii) in these circumstances is to introduce a ‘tilted balance’ in 
support of residential applications unless ‘any adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.’ The inference is 
that the lack of a five year housing land supply should be given significant weight 
by the decision-taker. 

 
62. In weighing the planning balance, the benefits of the proposal need to be 

weighed against the adverse impacts. 
 
Scheme benefits 
 

63. The provision of 1 no. family dwelling is a small number but would nonetheless 
contribute in a meaningful and positive way to the Council’s housing land supply 
and boost the supply of new homes in line with NPPF Paragraph 60. Even 
greater weight is attached to this benefit given that this is a Borough with an 
acknowledged shortage of housing. Furthermore, the proposed development is 
located within a sustainable location. In view of the Council’s current position of 
housing delivery in the Borough, this carries substantial weight. 

 
64. The scheme would bring about an appropriately designed scheme that is 

considered to be in keeping with the context and character of the streetscene 
and the surrounding area more generally. 

 
65. There are also acknowledged economic benefits of the development through 

short-term temporary jobs during construction. Given the scale of the 
development, these benefits are afforded limited weight. 

 
Scheme harms 
 

66. The main scheme harms arise from the loss of trees and planting on the site and 
the contribution that this made to the street scene. Nevertheless, it is important 
to reiterate that site clearance took place lawfully and that there is scope for 
landscaping within the proposed scheme. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 138



 
 

Conclusion 
 

67. Substantial weight is given to the contribution the scheme would make to the 
Borough’s housing land supply, in a situation where there is a shortfall below the 
5 year requirement, albeit it is recognised that the proposal would only make a 
small contribution with the creation of 1 no. additional unit. 

 
68. The exercise under the tilted balance has been carried out, and the harms 

arising from the proposal are considered to be outweighed by the benefits when 
tested against NPPF Paragraph 11d(ii). 

 
69. The proposal is considered to comply with the development plan as a whole. No 

adverse impacts are identified that would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits of the proposed scheme, when assessed against the 
policies within the NPPF. As such the application is recommended for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions  
 
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 

of this permission. 
 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on the amended plans, numbers: 

 
  - 11151/2B 
 - 11151/3 
 - 11151/4A 
 - 11151/5A 
 - 11151/6 
 - Site Location Plan 
 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity and protecting the character of the area having regard to Policy L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application, no above ground 

works shall take place unless and until samples and full specification of all materials 
(brickwork, render, windows, doors, roof covering, rainwater goods etc.) to be used 
externally on the building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 139



 
 

Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of 
the materials. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity and protecting the character of the area having regard to Policies L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
4. All window and door openings shall be constructed with minimum 90mm deep 

external reveals. 
 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development having 
regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the development 

hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall include the formation of any banks, terraces or 
other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications 
and schedules (including planting size, species and numbers/densities), existing 
plants/trees to be retained and a scheme for the timing/phasing of implementation 
works. 

 
b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
scheme for timing/phasing of implementation or within the next planting season 
following final occupation of the development hereby permitted, whichever is the 
sooner. 
 
c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this condition which 
are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become 
seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the next 
planting season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted. 

  
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having regard to its 
location, the nature of the proposed development and having regard to Policies L7, 
R2 and R3 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
6.  No part of the development shall be occupied until details of the type, siting, design 

and materials to be used in the construction of boundaries, screens or retaining 
walls have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the approved structures have been erected in accordance with the 
approved details. The structures shall thereafter be retained. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 140



 
 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7.  No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: 

 
 The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
 The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
 Wheel washing facilities, including measures for keeping the highway clean; 
 Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 
 A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works; 
 Hours of construction activity; 
 Information on how asbestos material is to be identified and treated or disposed 

of in a manner that would not cause undue risk to adjacent receptors; 
 Contact details of site manager to be advertised at the site in case of issues 

arising; 
 

Reason: To ensure that appropriate details are agreed before works start on site 
and to minimise disturbance and nuisance to occupiers of nearby properties and 
users of the highway, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy. 

 
8.  The site shall be drained via separate systems for the disposal of foul and 

surface water. 
 

Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of 
the water environment having regard to Policies L5 and L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9.  The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the means 

of access and the areas for the movement, loading, unloading and parking of 
vehicles have been provided, constructed and surfaced in complete accordance 
with the plans hereby approved. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made within the site for the 

accommodation of vehicles attracted to or generated by the proposed 
development, having regard to Policies L4 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 141



 
 

10.  No development shall take place until details of the bin stores, which shall 
include accommodation for separate recycling receptacles for paper, glass and 
cans in addition to other household waste, have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved bin stores shall be 
completed and made available for use prior to the first occupation of the dwelling 
and shall be retained thereafter.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that satisfactory provision is made for refuse and recycling 

storage facilities at the design stage of the development, having regard to Policy 
L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any equivalent Order following 
the amendment, re-enactment or revocation thereof) upon first installation the 
windows in the first and second floors on the north and south side elevations 
facing 33 and 35 Rye Bank Road and 24 Erlington Avenue, shall be fitted with, to 
a height of no less than 1.7m above finished floor level, non-opening lights and 
textured glass which obscuration level is no less than Level 3 of the Pilkington 
Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as such thereafter.  

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12.  No development shall take place until details of existing and finished site levels 

relative to previously agreed off-site datum point(s) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the approved details.  

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in compliance with Policy L7 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13.  Notwithstanding the plans hereby approved and prior to the creation of the 

parking area, a scheme identifying a porous material to be used in the hard 
standing (for the car parking area) or a scheme directing run-off water from that 
hard standing to a permeable or porous area or surface within the curtilage of the 
dwellinghouse, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 
approved.  

 
Reason: To prevent localised flooding in accordance with Policies L7, R3 and L5 
of the Trafford Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
14.  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until a 

scheme for biodiversity enhancement measures to be incorporated into the 
development (including bat boxes and bird boxes) have been submitted to and 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 142



 
 

approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved measures. 

 
Reason: To secure biodiversity improvements, having regard to Policy R2 of the 
Trafford Core Strategy and guidance in the NPPF. 

 
JE 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 143



E

7

4
2

5
1

3

8

6

17

32

35

29

10

55

45

12
22

37

20

30

19

34

21

24

4a

43

16

11

28.8m

FF

FB

34a 32a

Def

FW

34b

F
IR

S
 A

V
E

N
U

E

Und

RYE BANK ROAD

ERLINGTON AVENUE

1 to
 1

2

13 to 21

Pipeline

Boro Const &

17

7

1

12
4

2

55

2

11

FB

T
H

L
E

IG
H

 R
O

A
D

El Sub Sta

Met Dist Bdy

Trafford Man

B

7

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

112327/FUL/23

Land Adjacent To 24  Erlington Avenue, Old Trafford(site hatched on plan)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee Date 15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 144



 

 
 

WARD: Timperley North 
 

112334/FUL/23 DEPARTURE: No 

Removal of existing rear covered yard, erection of single storey rear extension 
and alterations to elevations 

 
203 Woodhouse Lane East, Timperley, Altrincham, WA15 6AS 
 

APPLICANT:  Trafford Liberal Democrats' Trust 
AGENT:     Prospetti 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT with conditions 
 
This application is reported to the Planning and Development Management 
Committee as the applicant is the Lead Trustee of the Trafford Liberal Democrats 
Trust, and two of the trustees within the Trust are elected members, namely 
Councillor Jane Brophy and Councillor William Frass.  
 
SITE 
 
The application property is a brick built terraced building, located on Woodhouse Lane 
East. The building consists of office use at the ground floor. The unit above the offices is 
used as a flat. The wider row of terraces comprises a range of commercial units with 
ground floor frontages, with many supporting residential use at 1st floor 
 
Bins are contained to the rear of the site, adjacent to the covered yard.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application is seeking planning permission for the removal of the existing rear 
covered yard, erection of a single storey rear extension, and alterations to elevations of 
the dwelling.  
 
The single storey rear extension would project approx. 3m from the rear elevation of the 
building, and would have an eaves height of 3m and ridge height of 3.3m. The extension 
would have a lean-to roof, with three rooflights. There would be two windows, and a set 
of doors within the rear elevation of the extension.  
 
The windows and door within the front elevation would be altered from white UPVC to 
charcoal grey UPVC.  
 
Value Added:  
 
Following a request from the LPA, amendments have been made to ensure that the 
building would be more accessible. Level access, and an internal ramp have been 
provided to the front of the building.   
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 145



 

 
 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
For the purposes of this application the Development Plan in Trafford comprises: 
 
• The Trafford Core Strategy, adopted 25th January 2012; The Trafford Core 

Strategy is the first of Trafford’s Local Development Framework (LDF) development 
plan documents to be adopted by the Council; it partially supersedes the Revised 
Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), see Appendix 5 of the Core Strategy. 

• The Revised Trafford Unitary Development Plan (UDP), adopted 19th June 2006; 
The majority of the policies contained in the Revised Trafford UDP were saved in 
either September 2007 or December 2008, in accordance with the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 until such time that they are superseded by policies 
within the (LDF). Appendix 5 of the Trafford Core Strategy provides details as to how 
the Revised UDP is being replaced by Trafford LDF.  

 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT CORE STRATEGY POLICIES 
L6 – Waste 
L7 – Design  
L8 – Planning obligations 
W2 – Town centres and retail 
 
For the purpose of the determination of this planning application, these policies are 
considered ‘up to date’ in NPPF Paragraph 11 terms. 
 
PROPOSALS MAP NOTATION 
Local and Neighbourhood shopping area 
 
PRINCIPAL RELEVANT REVISED UDP POLICIES/PROPOSALS 
S10 - Local and Neighbourhood Shopping Centres  
S14 - Non Shop Uses Within Local and Neighbourhood Shopping Centres 
 
PLACES FOR EVERYONE 
Places for Everyone (PfE) is a joint Development Plan Document being produced by nine 
Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, 
Tameside, Trafford and Wigan). It identifies the quantum of new housing and employment 
development, supports the delivery of key infrastructure, and protects environmental 
assets. The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities in February, and its Examination in Public commenced on 02 November 
2022. Hearings sessions concluded on 05 July 2023 and the Inspectors issued IN39 on 
11 September 2023 advising that they are satisfied at this stage of the examination that 
all of the proposed main modifications are necessary to make the Plan sound and/or 
legally compliant, and would be effective in that regard.   Consultation on the Main 
Modifications started on 11 October 2023 and closed on 6 December 2023. Consequently 
the plan is at a very advanced stage in the plan making process and substantial weight 
can be attached to its policies.  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 146



 

 
 

Emerging policies relevant to this application are: 
 
JP-P1 - Sustainable Places 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 
 
The DLUHC published the latest version of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in December 2023.  The NPPF will be referred to as appropriate in the report. 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
The NPPG was first published in March 2014, and it is regularly updated, with the most 
recent amendments made in November 2023. The NPPG will be referred to as 
appropriate in the report. 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

112027/ADV/23: Display of non-illuminated fascia sign. Approved with Conditions on 
05.12.2023. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUBMISSION 
 
CIL questions 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cadent Gas – no objection, informative.  

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

The application was advertised through notification letters sent to immediate neighbours. 
No representations were received in response to this application.  

OBSERVATIONS 
 

PRINCIPLE  
 

1. Policies relating to the impact on the neighbourhood shopping centre, design and 
amenity are considered to be ‘most important’ for determining this application when 
considering the application against NPPF paragraph 11, as they are most relevant 
to the likely impacts of the proposed development on the surrounding area. 

 
2. Policies L7 and W2 of the Core Strategy are considered to be compliant with the 

NPPF and therefore up-to-date as they comprise the local expression of the 
NPPF’s emphasis on good design and, together with associated SPDs, and the 
Borough’s design code; and the Council’s support for retail and office use in 
appropriate locations such as Local and Neighbourhood shopping areas. Full 
weight can be afforded to these policies. 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 147



 

 
 

 
3. The policies which are most important for determining the application are therefore 

up-to-date. For reasons set out elsewhere in this report, the development 
proposals are considered to accord with the development plan and should be 
approved without delay; the ‘tilted balance’ referred to in NPPF paragraph 11(d)(ii) 
is not engaged. 

 
IMPACT ON NEIGHBOURHOOD CENTRE 
 

4. The extension would be used as an office, and the existing office space to the front 
would be used as flexible space. The ground floor of the building would remain 
within use class E.   
 

5. The extension would simply offer additional office space. The proposal is not 
considered to undermine the function or character of this neighbourhood centre, 
or its ability to meet the needs of residents in the locality. 

 
6. The proposal would accord with policy W2 of the Core Strategy. Therefore in 

principle the extension is acceptable, subject to the impact on visual and residential 
amenity. 

 
DESIGN 
 

7. The extension would project 3m from the rear elevation, and would only extend 1m 
wider than the existing canopy. The extension is considered modest in scale, and 
would form a proportionate addition to the building. It is noted that other buildings 
along this terrace row also have single storey rear extensions, demonstrating that 
the extension would form a characteristic addition. 
 

8. The extension would contain two charcoal grey windows, and a door. These 
materials are considered to complement the main dwelling, and would be 
considered appropriate.   
 

9. Bins would remain located to the rear of the site, not visible from the public realm. 
This is considered appropriate, and consistent with the adjoining terraces.  

 
10. The windows and doors within the principal elevation of the building would be 

altered from white UPVC to a charcoal grey UPVC. The charcoal grey is 
considered to complement the brick-built building. It is acknowledged that the 
building is part of a wider terrace row, with all the terraces containing white UPVC 
windows/doors. The grey UPVC would differ from the surrounding window 
materials, but it is not considered that it would result in sufficient harm to the 
appearance of the terrace row, or the wider setting to warrant a refusal, so is 
therefore considered acceptable.  
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 148



 

 
 

11. Overall, it is concluded that the proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon 
the appearance and character of the existing building and wider area. It is therefore 
considered that the proposal would be acceptable in design terms and in 
accordance with Policy L7 in this respect. 

 
AMENITY 
 

12. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents has been considered in line with 
Policy L7 and guidance contained in SPD4. 

 
Impact upon the rear 

 
13. The extension is positioned well over 10.5m from the rear boundaries of dwellings 

along Raven Road. Whilst not strictly relevant as this is not a house extension it 
would nevertheless be in accordance with SPD4 guidance.  
 

Impact upon the no. 201 Woodhouse Lane East (adjacent) and no. 205 Woodhouse Lane 
East (adjoining) 

 
14. There would be no windows within the side elevation of the extension facing no. 

201 Woodhouse Lane East, ensuring there would be no impact to their privacy. 
The extension would be positioned approx. 8m from no. 201, ensuring no 
overbearing and/or loss of light impacts to this property.  
 

15. The adjoining terrace, no. 205 Woodhouse Lane East contains a café. The rear 
door serves a food preparation room, and the windows serve a kitchen, and WC. 
The existing rear canopy projects 3m from the rear elevation, along the shared 
boundary with no. 205. The proposed extension would also project 3m from the 
rear elevation, along this boundary. The extension would have a slightly higher 
ridge height compared to the existing canopy, but is not considered to give rise to 
any undue impacts to the amenity of the adjoining terrace. There would be no 
windows within the side elevation of the extension facing no. 205.   
 

16. The proposal would therefore comply with Policy L7, and would be considered 
acceptable on amenity grounds.  

 
HIGHWAYS 
 

17. The extension would have no impact on the existing parking arrangement.  
 
WASTE 
 

18. The existing bins are stored adjacent to the courtyard, outside of the site. It is noted 
that all the terraced units along this section similarly store waste outside of the site, 
which ensures that waste is screened from the streetscene. The development 
would not result in any change to this existing arrangement, with bins remaining 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 149



 

 
 

positioned externally to the rear of the site. Therefore, the extension would have 
no impact on the current waste arrangement.  

 
EQUALITIES 
 

19. The Equality Act became law in 2010. Its purpose is to legally protect people from 

discrimination in the workplace and in wider society. The Act introduced the term 

‘protected characteristics’, which refers to groups that are protected under the Act. 

These characteristics comprise: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 

and civil partnerships, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and 

sexual orientation. 

 

20. As part of the Act, the ‘public sector equality duty’ came into force in April 2011 

(Section 149 of the Act), and with it confirmed (via Section 19 of the Act) that this 

duty applies to local authorities (as well as other public bodies). The quality duty 

comprises three main aims: A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, 

have due regard to the need to: 

 

(i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act; 

(ii) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

(iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
21. Case law has established that appropriate consideration of equality issues is a 

requirement for local authorities in the determination of planning applications, and 

with this requirement directly stemming from the Equality Act 2010. 

 
22. The public would access the building through the front entrance. As part of the 

application, the applicant has removed the step from the front entrance, and made 

the door level with the external ground surface. There would be an internal, 

permanent ramp provided within the corridor, leading into the flexible space, which 

ensures that the building would be more accessible to those with mobility issues. 

Stepped access would also be provided, offering an alternate manner to access 

the flexible space.  

 

23. The plans indicate that the doors to the rear would be exclusively used for 

deliveries, and would not be used by users of the building. These doors have 

stepped access, but the applicant has indicated that a temporary ramp could be 

installed, in the instance that an individual with mobility issues wanted to access 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 150



 

 
 

the building through this entrance. As such, space has been allocated within the 

rear extension for the storage of a temporary ramp.  

 

24. An accessible WC would be created through the alterations to the ground floor 

layout, which would support the needs of individuals with protected characteristics. 

 

25. To conclude, the development would provide level access to the building, with an 

internal ramp, and an accessible WC. It is considered that the applicant has taken 

appropriate measures, proportionate to the scale of the development, to ensure 

that the building would be more accessible. 

 
26. No other benefits or dis-benefits have been identified to persons with any other 

protected characteristic. 

 

DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

27. The proposed development will increase the internal floor space of the unit by less 
than 100 m2 and therefore will be below the threshold for CIL charging. 

 
PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 

28. The proposed development would not cause any harm to the character and 
appearance of the application building, the street scene or the surrounding area 
by reason of its design and is considered appropriate in its context. In addition, the 
proposed development would not result in any undue impact on residential amenity 
or parking demand in the area. It therefore meets the aims of the Core Strategy, 
the emerging Places for Everyone and the NPPF in this respect.  

 
29. All relevant planning issues have been considered in concluding that the proposal 

comprises an appropriate form of development for the site. The application is 
therefore compliant with Policies W2 and L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, Policy 
JP-P1 of the emerging Places for Everyone, and national policy contained within 
the NPPF. The proposal complies with the development plan when taken as a 
whole. The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the following conditions  
 

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 
of this permission.  

 
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended).  

 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 151



 

 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete 
accordance with the details shown on plan number 0023-PR-B1-00-DR-0001 Rev 
02, dated 31.01.2024. 
 
Reason: To clarify the permission, having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core 
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. The materials used in any exterior work must be of a similar appearance to those 

used in the construction of the exterior of the main dwelling. 
 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual 
amenity having regard to Policy L7 of the Trafford Core Strategy, Policy JP-P1 of 
Places for Everyone, the Council's adopted Planning Guidance 1: Residential 
Development and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
AF 
 

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 152



2

1

28

16

86

21

13

12

42

73

31

25

11

El

217

186

219

231

191

215 HALTON DRIVE

RAVEN ROAD

FAIRBOURNE DRIVE

WOODHOUSE LANE EAST

P
u

m
p

 H
o

u
se

2

16

1

2

1

11
Brook

203

Shelter

Sub Sta

13

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

112334/FUL/23

203 Woodhouse Lane East, Timperley ( site hatched on map)

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date  15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)

Planning Committee - 15th February 24 153



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

 
Report to:   Planning and Development Management Committee 

Date:    15 February 2023 
Report for:    Decision 
Report of:  Head of Planning and Development  

 
Report Title 

 

 
Infrastructure and Development in New Carrington – Developer Contributions 

 

 

Summary 
 

 

This report provides an overview and update of the current planning and transport 
infrastructure position in New Carrington, which is one of two substantive Trafford 

allocations in the Places for Everyone (PfE) joint development plan proposing around 
5000 new homes and 350,000sqm of employment space. PfE is now highly advanced 
and should be given significant weight in the determination of planning applications. 

On adoption it should be given full weight.  
 

New Carrington is currently constrained by limited and over capacity road 
infrastructure and is isolated from the remainder of the conurbation as a result. PfE 
seeks to address this isolation by a package of comprehensive infrastructure 

improvements – including the Carrington Relief Road, but also other road, active 
travel, public transport and social infrastructure. This infrastructure is to be delivered 

in a comprehensive and equalised way via the New Carrington Masterplan, taking 
proportionate contributions from each development. Work on the New Carrington 
Masterplan is now underway. Alongside this a transport strategy for the area has been 

prepared and this will help guide the detailed design of measures such as the 
Carrington Relief Road. Nevertheless, it is vital that equalised contributions are sought 

from development with immediate effect to prevent prejudicing the overall 
infrastructure strategy in PfE which will be developed via the Masterplan over the next 
12 months.   

 
A recent report to the Council’s Executive set out a fresh Outline Transport Strategy 

for New Carrington and provided an update on the delivery of infrastructure in the 
locality. It also set out a Planning Strategy to ensure new development and 
infrastructure are suitably coordinated. The Executive requested that the Planning and 

Development Management Committee approve an updated interim formula for 
developer contributions, pending completion of the New Carrington Masterplan.  

 
This report sets out the background and the current and emerging policy framework 
for planning application decision making in New Carrington now PfE is so advanced. 

In the light of that framework and in order to facilitate the progress of applications 
pending the adoption of the masterplan it proposes a revised interim formula for 

equalised infrastructure contributions to apply with immediate effect and until such a 
time as it is replaced by the equalised contribution in the New Carrington Masterplan. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 7



  

 
Recommendation(s) 

 

That the Planning and Development Management Committee: 

 
(i) note the content of this report; 

 

(ii) approve the formula for the calculation of interim developer contributions in 
New Carrington for the purposes of the determination of planning 

applications and with immediate effect.  
 
 

 
 

Contact person for access to background papers and further information: 
 
Name:  Rebecca Coley – Head of Planning and Development 

  

Background Papers: None 
 

Appendices:  Appendix 1 – Consideration of Places for Everyone against the criteria in 
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF 
Appendix 2 – Interim Contributions Calculation Formula 

 
1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 On 15 October 2020 the Planning and Development Management Committee 

approved a methodology for gathering contributions to the Carrington Relief Road 

(CRR). An updated methodology was approved at the January 2021 meeting of the 
same Committee. This approach included a formula for seeking funding for the 

Carrington Relief Road from new developments based on their trip generation. It has 
operated successfully since that time and approximately £5.4m of contributions have 
been secured. 

 
1.2 On 29 January 2024 the Executive considered a report which provided a 

comprehensive update on planning, transport strategy and infrastructure in and 
around Carrington. This report provided details of the current master planning for New 
Carrington, as required by the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan (PfE); the 

first phase of this master planning will establish proportionate contributions for all types 
of infrastructure (economic, social and environmental) necessary to support the 

planned development. It also set out a proposed approach for managing planning 
applications ahead of the completion of this work – alongside a recommendation that 
the Planning and Development Management Committee considers an updated interim 

formula for developer contributions. 
 

1.3 This report amplifies that interim planning approach in more detail and also seeks 
approval for the interim contributions formula that will be applied pending completion 
of the masterplan work so as to potentially facilitate permissions being granted in 

advance of the masterplan which may not otherwise be possible. 
 

2.0 Highway and Infrastructure Constraints 

 
2.1 The current highway network that supports access to Carrington is primarily via the 

A6144 which runs from the Carrington Spur junction close to the western edge of Sale 



  

through Carrington and Partington and on towards Lymm. There are also routes to 
Altrincham but via narrow, rural roads. Consequently, highway links in the area are 

poor and relatively congested, which is also partly due to physical constraints in terms 
of railways, rivers and canals. The closest rail and Metrolink services are at Flixton 

and Altrincham, respectively, and bus services are relatively infrequent. This means 
that the existing communities at Carrington and Partington, including new 
development coming forward, are relatively isolated. 

 
2.2 Improvements to key junctions within the development area at Banky Lane and 

Isherwood Road have been undertaken recently however, these are only short-term 
improvements and the need for further improvements to the A6144 and the provision 
of the CRR (and other road and active travel infrastructure) is the key to unlocking the 

area and improving accessibility of all forms of transport. The need for substantive 
infrastructure improvements to come forward with development in New Carrington is 

well understood. Conversely, the absence of appropriate infrastructure risks 
constraining development and would undermine the principles set out in Places for 
Everyone. 

 
3.0 Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 

 

3.1 The Places for Everyone (PfE) Joint Development Plan is a long-term plan of nine 
Greater Manchester districts (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, 

Tameside, Trafford and Wigan) for jobs, new homes, and sustainable growth.  
 

3.2 The Places for Everyone Plan is the strategic spatial plan for the nine constituent 
boroughs and as such sets out a collective planning policy framework. All policies 
within the plan are ‘strategic policies’. Once the Places for Everyone Plan is adopted 

it will form part of the Council’s development plan. As such the forthcoming Trafford 
Local Plan will need to be consistent with it and Neighbourhood Plans will need to be 

in general conformity with the strategic policies. 
 
3.3 The plan was submitted to the Government in February 2022 for ‘examination’ 

together with all the representations received during the Regulation 19 stage of public 
consultation, which took place from 9 August to 3 October 2021. Hearing sessions 

started at the beginning of November 2022. The examination hearings sat for 12 
weeks in total, including a final session at the beginning of July 2023. 

 

3.4 The Inspectors’ post hearing letter was published on 11 August 2023. It stated that 
they were now satisfied, at that stage of the examination, that all of the proposed Main 

Modifications were necessary to make the Plan sound and would be effective in that 
regard, without prejudice to the outcome of consultation on the Main Modifications. 
That consultation ran between 1 October and 6 December 2023. 

 
3.5  The Inspectors will consider all the representations made on the proposed Main 

Modifications before finalising the examination report. A response from the Inspectors 
is expected shortly and if there is any update to the position this will be reported in the 
Additional Information Report.  

 
3.6 Once the Inspectors consider that no further consultation is necessary and the Plan is 

sound, the ultimate decision to adopt must be taken by each of the Full Councils of the 
nine participating districts. Adoption is expected in March 2024. 

 

 
 



  

4.0  Carrington Relief Road Programme and Funding 
 

4.1 In September 2021, following an options appraisal study, the Council’s Executive 
approved a recommended preferred route option for the Carrington Relief Road to be 

developed in detail and taken forward to the submission of a planning application. On 
the 25 July 2022, the Executive approved the use of Compulsory Purchase Order 
(CPO) powers to acquire sufficient land to deliver the scheme and to facilitate the 

construction phase. Since then detailed design of the road has been ongoing. 
 

4.2 The current programme anticipates achieving a fixed design by the summer of 2024, 
and this will enable land acquisition and planning boundaries to be formally defined. 
The overall milestones for delivery of the scheme are: 

 
Activity  Date 

Commence Public Engagement January 2024 

Submit Planning Application December 2024 

Planning Consent Autumn 2025 

CPO Public Inquiry Spring 2026 

Design and Pricing Complete Spring 2027 

Executive approvals and Business Case Summer 2027 

Start on site January 2028 

Road Open Spring 2030 

 
4.3 As the project has developed, the Council has engaged with a range of funding 

partners to secure both development and delivery funds for the project. The anticipated 
delivery costs have been calculated and profiled over the project lifetime and the table 
below indicates the overall funding requirement. 

 
Total 
Budget 

23/24 
£k 

FY 
24/25 
£k 

FY 
25/26 
£k 

FY 
26/27 
£k 

FY 27/28 
£k 

FY 28/29 
£k 

FY 29/30 
£k 

FY 
30/31 
£k 

FY 31/32 £k 

£76,461 £3,495 £874 £555 £1,200 £17,899 £26,221 £17,135 £7,043 £2,040 

 Funding Secured Funding Requirement 

 
4.4 Full details of the road programme and existing funding are set out in the Executive 

Report of 29 January 2024. However it is evident that even with the funding already 

secured, development in the locality will need to make proportionate contributions to 
the CRR in order for it to be delivered. 

 
5.0 New Carrington Transport Strategy 
 

5.1 Although the Carrington Relief Road and other road infrastructure is key to unlocking 
further development potential at New Carrington, road infrastructure is only part of the 

solution. The overall goal is to develop a new sustainable community at New 
Carrington with high levels of internal walking and cycling connectivity, provision of on-
site infrastructure and good public transport connections, including to the wider 

Greater Manchester network. Consequently an Outline Transport Strategy for New 
Carrington has been prepared which looks at all forms of transport and accessibility. 

This was endorsed by the Executive on 29 January. 
 
6.0 The Development Plan and New Carrington 

 

6.1 The statutory framework for planning decision making is based on a ‘plan led’ system. 

This means that planning decisions should be made in accordance with the 



  

development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise (S38, 
Planning and Compensation Act 2004). This statutory framework is reinforced by 

government policy in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which is itself 
an important material consideration. The relative weight to be given to adopted and 

emerging development plan policy can often underpin the overall planning balance of 
harms and benefits arising from a proposal, as well as providing a framework for the 
issues to be considered. The development plan position to be taken into account is the 

one in place on the day of determination of the application; not on the day of 
submission. It may change substantively between the two.  

 
6.2 Paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities may give weight to 

relevant policies in emerging plans according to a) the stage of preparation of the 

emerging plan; b) the extent of unresolved objections to relevant policies; and c) the 
degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies to the NPPF. The advancing 

of the Places for Everyone (PfE) joint development plan through Examination and Main 
Modifications consultation means that it is now a significant material consideration in 
the determination of planning applications. Counsel advice is that PfE should now be 

given substantial weight in decision making. On adoption, PfE will be given full weight 
in decision making i.e. it should normally be the primary factor determining the 

outcome of a planning application. Appendix 1 considers in detail progress thus far on 
PfE against each of the criteria in Paragraph 48 of the NPPF  

 

6.3 The current adopted statutory development plan comprises the adopted Trafford Core 
Strategy (2012) and various saved Trafford Unitary Development Plan (2006) policies, 

as well as other development plan documents not relevant to this report. On adoption 
PfE will replace a number of Core Strategy and UDP policies, including the whole of 
the Strategic Location policy for Carrington – Policy SL5. Consequently, as PfE 

advances and gains more weight in the decision making process, naturally, where it 
conflicts with or is intended to clearly supersede policies in the adopted development 

plan (such as SL5), those policies must inevitably carry less weight.  
 
6.4 The New Carrington PfE allocation (Policy JPA33) is much more extensive than the 

SL5 Carrington Strategic Location. Although development at and around Carrington 
and Partington has been part of the Council’s growth and regeneration strategy for 

many years, the geographical extent and amount of that development has always been 
more limited than PfE now seeks to deliver. The PfE allocation includes areas of 
Protected Open Land and Green Belt which were not allocated for development in the 

Core Strategy or Unitary Development Plan. It assimilates the previous SL5 area into 
a much larger allocation with around 5000 homes (4300 in plan period) and 350,000 

sqm of B2 / B8 employment floorspace proposed, effectively subsuming the previous 
allocation of 1560 homes and 75ha of employment land, much of which has already 
been consented.  

 
6.5 In order to deliver the amount of development put forward by PfE at Carrington, it is 

acknowledged that significant new and improved infrastructure is required. The CRR 
is required by Policy SL5 to deliver that smaller allocation, and almost inevitably the 
larger JPA33 allocation requires both the CRR and further significant transport 

infrastructure interventions. These are set out in PfE at Appendix D and are considered 
in more detail in the Locality Assessment which comprises part of the evidence base 

for that plan.  



  

   
Taken from PfE – New Carrington Indicative Allocation Plan (picture 11.48) 

 

6.6 PfE Policy JPA33 (as amended by the Main Modifications) consequently grapples with 
the issue of infrastructure delivery head on and states in JPA33(1): 

 
 ‘…development of this site will be required to be in accordance with a masterplan…the 

masterplan will be prepared in partnership with key stakeholders to ensure the whole 

allocation is planned and delivered in a coordinated and comprehensive manner with 
proportionate contributions to fund necessary infrastructure’.  

 
6.7 JPA33(14) states that development of New Carrington shall: 
 

 ‘Make provision for new and improved sustainable transport and highways 
infrastructure having regard to the indicative transport interventions set out in Appendix 

D in accordance with Policy JP-C7 [Transport Requirements of New Development]’. 
 
6.8 The supporting justification to Policy JPA33 continues this thread (paragraph 11.321):  

 
 ‘The delivery strategy [in the New Carrington Masterplan] must ensure that a 

mechanism is put in place to secure proportionate contributions from all developers in 
the New Carrington allocation and deliver the wide ranging infrastructure required. All 
developments will be expected to make a proportionate contribution to necessary 

infrastructure, including transport, social and green infrastructure’.  
 

6.9 The cost of all the interventions in Appendix D is estimated to come to c. £60m and 
includes (among other things) new link roads, junction improvements, road widening, 
new bus priority measures, cycling and walking improvements and an element of the 

Carrington Relief Road. 
 

6.10 Whilst Core Strategy Policy SL5 remains the statutorily adopted policy for Carrington 
until PfE is formally adopted, given the stage PfE has now reached it is now considered 



  

that all development within the JPA33 allocation should comply with it. To the extent 
that PfE Policy JPA33 and Core Strategy Policy SL5 are inconsistent, more weight 

should be given to JPA33. This is in accordance with the principles set out in 
Paragraphs 6.1 – 6.3 above. Central to Policy JPA33 is that a scheme must be in 

accordance with the New Carrington Masterplan and (and with this mechanism also 
identified by the masterplan) make a proportionate contribution to necessary 
infrastructure.  

 
6.11 It is also vitally important that the PfE plan-making process, now so advanced, is not 

prejudiced by the granting of planning applications which would undermine the plan 
There is not yet a Masterplan setting out the equalisation process so that all 
development may make a proportionate contribution. However, separate from the 

Masterplan requirement in Policy JPA33 (1), JPA33 (14) requires development to 
make provision for new infrastructure having regard to the indicative transport 

interventions in Appendix D of PfE including the Carrington Relief Road. Furthermore, 
it is considered that there is no current spare capacity in the highway system serving 
Carrington and that the CRR is the identified response to that in PfE. Any ad hoc 

piecemeal highway improvements are unlikely to be appropriate and will in any event 
be abortive when the CRR is delivered.  

 
6.12 In the light of that but especially in the light of JPA33 (14) it is considered that it is 

appropriate now to identify an interim formula approach so as to potentially enable 

permissions to be granted pending the adoption of the Masterplan. This will ensure 
that any developments which are brought forward in advance of the Masterplan make 

the required proportionate contributions as currently understood. In the event that the 
final Masterplan apportionment would have resulted in lower sums being payable the 
S106 agreements can make provision for the difference to be repayable or to be 

reapportioned and directed to increased affordable housing up to the policy 
requirement.  

 
7.0 A New Masterplan for New Carrington 

 

7.1 A site wide Masterplan is critical for New Carrington to create a holistic and 
comprehensive plan for the whole of the site that facilitates a clear path to the delivery 

of a significant number of new homes and employment floorspace, whilst also ensuring 
that the necessary and supporting infrastructure is in place or planned for at the right 
time, and appropriately funded.  

 
7.2 To provide as much certainty to local communities and the development industry that 

the proposed JPA33 allocation will be delivered and provide the benefits, 
improvements and enhancements upon which it has been predicated, the Council has 
begun preparing a Masterplan for New Carrington; ahead of the anticipated adoption 

of Places for Everyone. The Masterplan project started on 4 December 2023. 
 

7.3 Although high level masterplanning work took place to inform the PfE allocation and 
formed part of the evidence base for the plan, this did not deliver the list of outputs 
required by a JPA33 compliant masterplan. In particular, although some high level 

work has been undertaken, it remains unknown at this stage where precisely 
supporting infrastructure will be accommodated, the cost of this infrastructure, and the 

equalised proportionate contribution payable by each scheme. This information will 
emerge as part of the New Carrington Masterplan.  

 



  

7.4 It is likely that due to the complexities and scale of the New Carrington allocation that 
the Masterplan will need to be prepared in stages. The indicative timetable for the first 

stage of the Masterplan is set out in the table below: 
 

Stage Month 

Procurement of Specialist Consultants January 2024 

Appointment(s) February 2024 

Project Inception meeting February 2024 

Review baseline / Initial engagement with local 
community and key stakeholders  

February - April 2024 

Undertake all elements of Delivery Strategy April – November 2024 

Produce final Delivery Strategy December 2024 

 
7.5 Further stages of the Masterplan will be undertaken as soon as the necessary 

information and data is available. 
 

7.6 In the interim and to deliver the intent behind PfE Policy JPA33 (1) and (14) pending 
completion of the Masterplan an interim formula is required and is appropriate. This is 
in order to facilitate the granting of planning permissions pending the adoption of the 

Masterplan. This contribution formula therefore provides a route for developers to 
comply with JPA33 even though the Masterplan and the ‘proportionate contributions’ 

to it have not yet been fixed. Otherwise planning applications would need to be refused 
on the basis that they did not comply with Policy JPA33.  

 
8.0 The need for equalisation 
 

8.1 A continuous theme of planning policy relating to Carrington and Partington is that 
transport infrastructure (in particular) is poor and over capacity and that significant 
improvements and additions to transport and other infrastructure are required for the 

location. This would both deliver the development capacity and significant regenerative 
benefits in reducing the relative isolation of Carrington and Partington from the 
remainder of the conurbation. This infrastructure has not been delivered to date due 

to a combination of factors, one of which is that developer contributions have not been 
consistently sought or obtained. The highway is now at the limit of i ts capacity, which 

is starting to hold development back. Therefore it is imperative that the opportunity to 
deliver infrastructure given by PfE is not threatened in any way. 

 

8.2 Consequently, in the period before the New Carrington Masterplan is adopted there 
will need to be an interim approach to developer contributions to ensure that all new 

development in the JPA33 allocation is contributing to the whole. The plan is 
predicated on the whole of the allocation paying towards the whole of the infrastructure 
so that both are deliverable. This interim calculation approach avoids delaying 

permissions whilst ensuring appropriate contributions are made and this appropriately 
addresses JPA33 (14).  

 
8.3 This approach avoids a repetition of the current position under SL5 with non-delivery 

thus far of the CRR and the various Grampian conditions and other restrictions on 

extant planning consents, with development effectively stalled as a result of a lack of 
infrastructure. All necessary steps should be taken to avoid infrastructure being a 

future constraint to development in Carrington. The Council also has to take care not 



  

to grant consent for development on land that might be needed for future transport or 
social infrastructure, especially ahead of the completion of the master planning. Such 

a move could also place in doubt the successful development of the allocation as a 
whole. 

 
8.4 Although there is a social and economic benefit in ensuring the timely development of 

Carrington, if development is to come forward ahead of the PfE masterplan, then there 

needs to be an acceptance of the policy constraints which accompany the allocation, 
especially regarding infrastructure. 

 
9.0 Planning Applications in New Carrington 

 

9.1 The consequence of the progression of PfE towards adoption is that there are live 
planning applications approaching determination now which need to be determined 

under a much altered planning policy framework from the previous Core Strategy / 
Policy SL5 position in place when they were submitted. Each application will be 
considered on its merits, but as Policy JPA33 will go to the heart of their consideration, 

the outcome of those applications is also likely to be different in some respects, 
whether that be in the overall decision to approve or refuse, or with regard to more 

detailed matters such as S106 heads of terms or the range and type of planning 
conditions.   

 

9.2 Additionally, the adoption of PfE will encourage the submission of planning 
applications within the allocation as it gives greater planning certainty. A future 

application is anticipated at land at Warburton Lane, where an outline planning 
application for up to 400 dwellings was dismissed at appeal in 2021. There will almost 
certainly be other developers keen to progress sites, once PfE is adopted. 

Consequently, it is likely that planning applications will be submitted and determined 
within the time period whilst the New Carrington Masterplan is being drafted and 

adopted.  
 
9.3 The strategy and timeline for the approval of the New Carrington Masterplan is set out 

in detail above. With approval of the first stage of the masterplan being around 
December 2024, there is now inevitably a period of time where planning applications 

could be determined in accordance with PfE (either pre or post adoption), but without 
the masterplan supporting the allocation being in place. Compliance with the 
masterplan goes to the very heart of determining whether a planning application in the 

JPA33 allocation is acceptable or otherwise and a planning application cannot comply 
with a masterplan which does not exist (yet). There would therefore, absent an interim 

framework, be a significant hurdle to any grant of any permission. This interim 
calculation avoids that hurdle in respect of the infrastructure provision. With a 
contribution calculated under this approach, the Council can proceed on the basis that 

the proposal is making an appropriate contribution towards infrastructure requirements 
and thus, in that respect, can appropriately be progressed in advance of the 

Masterplan.  
 
9.4 Getting the Masterplan to an advanced stage where it can be accorded significant 

weight requires significant time. Work could not begin on the masterplan without a firm 
expectation that PfE would be adopted, which in turn needed the PfE Inspectors’ 

confirmation (given in September 2023) that they consider the plan can be made 
sound subject to the Main Modifications..  

 

9.5 As work on the masterplan progresses, alongside the necessary community and 
stakeholder consultation, there will be more certainty about its outputs. This means 



  

that planning applications which are submitted / determined once the masterplan is at 
an advanced stage are more likely to be able to demonstrate that they will comply with 

it.  
  

9.6 The critical issue facing the Council is how to encourage and facilitate the development 
the Borough requires, whilst a full programme of infrastructure delivery is being 
devised via the PfE master planning. A potential means of addressing this is to employ 

an interim approach to infrastructure contributions. This would mean developments 
could be approved in the short term, but subject to a simpler, temporary calculation of 

Infrastructure costs. Without this, the Council could face the prospect of delaying or 
refusing all developments in and around Carrington pending the conclusion of the 
master planning process. 

 
9.7 The essence of an interim approach is that it will be a simple calculation, based on 

work already undertaken to support the PfE plan. As a consequence it will inevitably 
be less sophisticated and detailed than the work to be carried out under the master 
plan. In order to avoid any under-contribution a significant ‘buffer’ will need to be added 

to the calculation. It is also suggested that any applications approved under this 
approach are subject to a clause that enables contributions to be returned or adjusted 

if they exceed the calculation determined by the masterplan. 
 
9.8 This approach has the benefit of enabling some development proposals to proceed in 

the short term and others to constructively plan for applications in the wake of the 
masterplan. Whilst PfE is the only joint city region plan to have progressed this far, it 

has never the less had a long gestation. It is therefore in the interest of the Borough 
that further delay with necessary development is mitigated and the social, economic 
and environmental benefits of the new Plan are realised in a timely fashion. 

 
9.9 The current position with the progress of PfE, the status and progress of the 

Masterplan and the need for a comprehensive approach to supporting infrastructure 
mean that it can be anticipated that at least until the planning application for the 
Carrington Relief Road is approved and the land required is secured, planning 

applications for new development will generally be determined in line with one of the 
following options.  

  

Option A Approve development but with the interim contribution to 
infrastructure (to be replaced by Masterplan compliant contribution 
in due course). 

 

Option B As above but subject to a Grampian condition1, linked to 
infrastructure delivery. 

 

Option C Refuse development –because there is no Masterplan, because 
temporary impacts are so great, it obstructs future infrastructure 

provision – or because other planning harms justify refusal. 
 

 
9.10 It is expected that Option A will be used most often, as this will enable development 

to proceed whilst securing the necessary contributions to infrastructure and without 
prejudicing the delivery of the JPA33 allocation. There may however be 

                                                 
1 A ‘Grampian’ condition is a negatively worded planning condition prohibiting development authorised by a 
planning permission taking place until a specified action has been taken. The most common use of a Grampian 

condition is to prevent development coming forward before the necessary infrastructure to support it is in place.  



  

circumstances where Options B and C are necessary. Option C will need to be used 
where a development proposal utilises land which it is anticipated will be needed for 

physical infrastructure. This will require a precautionary approach ahead of the 
Masterplan which is also intended to identify the location and phasing of 

infrastructure. However as the merits of each development proposal are different, it 
will be for each planning application report to set out the particular approach to be 
applied in each case.  

 
9.11 A number of the sites in the SL5 allocation have already come forward and are 

consented, including Carrington Village (c. 620 homes / 60,000 sqm employment 
space / village centre), Heath Farm Lane (600 homes), Voltage Park (62,000sqm 
employment space) and a cluster of energy uses including a gas fired power station 

and battery energy storage system to the north of Manchester Road. Some of these 
consents come with financial contributions to the Carrington Relief Road secured via 

S106, as do the Lock Lane / Hall Lane and Oak Road site in Partington. These 
permissions cannot be revisited except at the request of the applicant and it should 
be assumed that the maximum contribution from these sites has already been 

secured unless the applicants return to change the terms of their existing 
permissions. 

 
10.0 The Interim Contribution  
 

10.1 The detailed formula for calculating interim contributions can be found at Appendix 2. 
A contribution of £33,258.81 would be required per residential unit. For employment 

development a sum of £346.80 per sqm would be sought.  

 
10.2 Each of the inputs into the interim contribution formula can be found in the table at 

Appendix 2. In short, the formula takes the net amount of development proposed in 
New Carrington (including that which might come forward beyond the plan period) and 

apportions it between residential (60%) and employment (40%). This apportionment 
is based on the overall relative quantums of development proposed by Policy JPA33 
and yet to be delivered. As the residential development in PfE is (as is usual) quantified 

using the number of dwellings rather than floorspace, the equivalent residential 
floorspace has been calculated for the purposes of the formula.  This is on the basis 

that the ‘average’ dwelling will be a Nationally Described Space Standards compliant 
3 bed 4 person dwelling at 84sqm. The total likely infrastructure costs for New 
Carrington are then calculated. A 30% contingency is then added. This contingency is 

significant because of the substantive unknowns in respect of the cost of infrastructure 
beyond the Carrington Relief Road. Then existing and known future funding and 

contributions (including CIL) are netted off against the total infrastructure cost. This 
net figure for infrastructure is then divided by the net amount of new development. 

 

10.3 The assumptions made against each line of the formula can also be found in the table 
in Appendix 2. Costs have been taken from the PfE viability assessment, or for the 

CRR, from the latest costings available. Several inputs are only relevant for residential 
development and therefore only influence that calculation. Adjustments have been 
made for inflation and for already committed / constructed development.  

 
10.4 No adjustment has been made for viability and it is accepted that the sums sought are 

substantive. Detailed work on viability will be carried out as part of the first stage of the 
Masterplan.  However this is the trade-off for the benefit to an applicant of a 
development coming forward quickly and ahead of the Masterplan. This is a high level 

and worst case scenario but it is appropriate to plan for that worst case, given the 
alternative would either require refusals of planning permission on the grounds of non-



  

compliance with Policy JPA33 (1) and (14) or prejudice the overall delivery of the 
allocation.  

 
10.5 The Council will be making all possible effort to secure further public monies from 

appropriate funding streams to assist in bringing forward the New Carrington 
allocation. It is anticipated that public monies will be required to deliver the allocation 
in full. Thus as the Masterplan progresses the developer contributions will reduce; both 

because further sources of funding can offset the costs, and also because the 
necessary contingency will reduce as the cost of infrastructure beyond the Carrington 

Relief Road is better understood.  
 
10.6 To reflect this position there will be a re-proportioning mechanism in any S106 

agreement which would enable the reduction and / or redistribution of contributions on 
a case by case basis if the output from the first stage of the Masterplan work is that 

the equalised contribution is less than the interim contribution. In the case of residential 
development, some contributions may be redirected to affordable housing.  

 

10.7 It is anticipated that some of the necessary infrastructure will be delivered as an 
integral part of development schemes coming forward. In circumstances where a 

developer bears the cost of direct delivery of infrastructure, the contribution will be 
adjusted accordingly to take account of this.  

 

11.0  Conclusion 
 

11.1 Carrington and Partington have been part of the Council’s growth and regeneration 
strategy for many years. Alongside this, it has been recognised that new road (and 
other) infrastructure is needed to reduce the isolation of these settlements and deliver 

sustainable development.  
 

11.2 However, a substantive part of the reason that the Carrington Relief Road has not yet 
been delivered has been the inability of the Council to obtain developer contributions 
towards it. Development is now beginning to stall as a result. The Council needs to 

take all necessary steps to prevent this situation arising again with the larger New 
Carrington allocation.  

 
11.3 It is therefore imperative that the Council has an immediate strategy for seeking 

developer contributions for the whole of the necessary infrastructure to bring the New 

Carrington allocation forward. It is to the benefit of developers to enable them to bring 
sites forward quickly and ahead of the Masterplan. Otherwise planning applications 

may have to be refused on the basis of non-compliance with Policy JPA33 of PfE.  
 
11.4 The first stage of the Masterplan, which will set out an equalised contribution 

mechanism, will not be complete for around 12 months. An interim contributions 
formula is therefore necessary. That formula is necessarily not as sophisticated as the 

mechanism which will come forward via the Masterplan.  It is a worst case scenario 
but it goes as far as it can with the information currently available to the Council and 
includes a substantial contingency and no provision for future public funding. S106 

agreements will include a re-proportioning mechanism to reflect this.  
 
12.0 Recommendation 

 
12.1 That the Planning and Development Management Committee notes the content of this 

report. 
 



  

12.2 That the Planning and Development Management Committee approves the formula 
for the calculation of interim developer contributions in New Carrington for the 

purposes of the determination of planning applications with immediate effect.  
 

 
 



  

APPENDIX 1 – CONSIDERATION OF PLACES FOR EVERYONE AGAINST THE 
CRITERIA IN PARAGRAPH 48 OF THE NPPF 

 

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF sets out three criteria by which Local Planning Authorities may 

give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans. The Places for Everyone joint 
development plan is considered against each of these criteria which leads to the conclusion 
that its policies now must carry substantial weight. 

 
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, the 

greater the weight that may be given; 
 

(i) The Places for Everyone joint development plan was submitted for examination in 

February 2022 and has undergone 12 weeks of public hearings as part of the 
Examination in Public. 

 
(ii) The Inspectors’ post hearing letter was published on 11th August 2023. In it they 

advised that the proposed main modifications be subject to a period of consultation, 

reflecting the time allowed under the previous consultation stage (Regulation 19) of 
eight weeks.  

 
(iii) Public consultation on the main modifications ran from 11 October – 6 December 

2023. 

 
(iv) There remain two principal stages of plan-making left to complete. The first is for the 

Inspectors to issue their report and conclusions as to whether they find the plan 
‘sound’ and legally compliant. The second (assuming the Inspectors consider that no 
further consultation is necessary) is for each of the nine participating local authorities 

to formally adopt the plan. 
 

(v) The Places for Everyone plan is therefore undeniably at a significantly advanced 
stage of preparation. 

 

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); 

 
(i)   Places for Everyone has undergone 12 weeks of public hearing sessions, prior to 

which there were several months of questions and answers to and from the 

Inspectors.  
 

(ii)   In terms of the proposed New Carrington allocation, there was a day-long hearing 
session on 18 March 2023, followed by a further day-long session on the matter of 
peat, across several sites in the plan, of which a significant amount of time was spent 

discussing the New Carrington allocation.   
 

(iii) Notwithstanding that there still remained objections to the Plan and the proposed 
allocation at New Carrington, the Inspectors’ post hearing letter of 11 August 2023 
stated that the Inspectors were satisfied, at that stage of the examination, that all of 

the proposed main modifications were necessary to make the Plan sound and would 
be effective in that regard. That conclusion was, however, without prejudice to their 

final conclusions that they will reach following consideration of responses to the 
public consultation on the main modifications. 

 



  

(iv) This position was reaffirmed in the Inspectors’ letter of 11 September 2023, which 
confirmed that they were satisfied with the materials to be the subject of the required 

main modifications public consultation.  
 

(v)   Planning and plan-making is an often-contentious matter, and it is impossible to fully 
satisfy the views and needs of everyone affected and/or involved. Consequently, 
there will always be unresolved objections to Places for Everyone and the proposed 

allocation of New Carrington. However, given the length and level of public scrutiny 
through which the plan has undergone, together with the affirmations from the 

Inspectors’ that the proposed main modifications are required to make the plan sound 
and/or legally compliant, it is considered that the remaining unresolved objections will 
largely be resolved or dismissed in the Inspectors examination report. Any 

unresolved objections that remain thereafter are products of the plan-making system 
which cannot satisfy all and every interest. 

 
 c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the NPPF (the 

closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the 

weight that may be given. 
 

(i)   A revised NPPF was published on 19 December 2023; however, the transitional 
arrangements set out in Annex 1, state at paragraph 230: 

 

The policies in this Framework (published on 19 December 2023) will apply for the 
purpose of examining plans, where those plans reach regulation 19 of the Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (pre-
submission) stage after 19 March 2024. Plans that reach pre-submission 
consultation on or before this date will be examined under the relevant previous 

version of the Framework in accordance with the above arrangements.  
 

 
(ii)    Places for Everyone reached the pre-submission consultation stage (Regulation 

19) in 2021 and was subject to a period of eight weeks consultation between 9 

August and 3 October 2021. It must therefore be consistent with the 2021 version 
of the NPPF. 

 
(iii) The examination was undertaken on this basis, and the Inspectors were satisfied 

that the plan was consistent with the 2021 NPPF. 

 
It is clear therefore, that the Places for Everyone plan is a) at a significantly advanced stage 

of preparation; b) not subject to any significant soundness or legal related unresolved 
objections; and c) is fully consistent with the relevant version of the NPPF, and must therefore 
be given substantial weight in the planning balance. 

 



  

APPENDIX 2 – INTERIM NEW CARRINGTON DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS FORMULA 

 

 

Minimum Indicative Infrastructure Costs Associated with Development of New Carrington  
Indicative Infrastructure Required  Cost  Notes 

a 
Places for Everyone (PfE) Transport 
Costs Less CRR  £               44,110,000.00  

PfE Viability Assessment identified £59.6m of interventions including £15.5m for CRR 

b Carrington Relief Road (CRR)  £               75,000,000.00  
Latest cost of scheme £75m includes all elements of design, planning and construction 
through to completion in 2030. Scheme is inclusive of Build Cost Inflation (BCI) until 2030, 
and excludes rationalisation works and any cross-subsidy that may become available. 

c Rationalisation to Support CRR  £                 2,000,000.00    

d Education  £               11,626,648.00  Cost identified in the PfE Viability Assessment. 

e Open Space (m x 2322)  £                 8,433,504.00  Per dwelling cost of £2,322 identified PfE Viability Assessment.  

f Other S106/ 278 (m x 5000)  £               18,160,000.00  Per dwelling cost of £5,000 identified PfE Viability Assessment. 

g 
Sub-Total Indicative Minimum 
Infrastructure Costs 

 £            159,330,152.00  
  

Amount of Development Proposed and Approved in New Carrington  

  Amount of Development 
Notes 

h 
PfE Policy JPA 33 Employment Figure 
(sqm) 

350000  As set out in PfE Policy JPA 33  

i 
PfE Policy JPA 33 Housing Figure 
(number of homes) 

5000  As set out in PfE Policy JPA 33  

j 
Employment Floorspace with Planning 
Permission/ Built 

143136 
All approved and built/ partially built employment and residential development within area 
covered by New Carrington allocation since Core Strategy adoption in 2012  

k 
Number of Homes with Planning 
Permission/ Built 

1368 

l 
PfE Policy JPA 33 Net Employment 
Floorspace (sqm) (h - j) 

206864 
Amount of employment floorspace and homes remaining to be approved/ built and 
therefore subject to updated infrastructure contributions  

m 
PfE Policy JPA 33 Net Number of Homes 
(i - k) 

3632 



  

Indicative Infrastructure Costs + Inflation/ Indexation and Apportionment (60% Residential Development and 40% Employment Development)  
Indicative Infrastructure Required plus 

Inflation/ Indexation 
Residential Development  Employment Development  Total Contribution Notes 

n 
PfE Transport Interventions (a + Build 
Cost Inflation) 

 £               36,195,722.05   £                   24,130,481.36   £            60,326,203.41  

BCI applied at 11% p.a. 2021 - 
2023. BCI not applied to CRR as 
already included in the cost of the 
scheme 

o Carrington Relief Road (CRR) (b)  
 £               45,000,000.00   £                   30,000,000.00  

 £            75,000,000.00  
Apportionment of £75m CRR 
scheme cost 

p 
Rationalisation Costs of CRR (c x 
apportionment)  £                 1,200,000.00   £                         800,000.00  

 £              2,000,000.00  
Apportionment of £2m 
rationalisation costs 

q 
Education Contributions (d CPI indexed 
to 2023)  £               13,733,179.20   £                                           -    

 £            13,733,179.20  
Only applicable to residential 
development 

r 
Open Space Contributions (e CPI 
indexed to 2023)  £                 9,961,497.22   £                                           -    

 £              9,961,497.22  
Only applicable to residential 
development 

s 
Other S106 and 278 Agreements (f CPI 
indexed to 2023)  £               12,556,245.31   £                      8,370,830.21  

 £            20,927,075.52  Apportionment of f 

t 
Sub-Total Indicative Minimum 
Infrastructure Costs (n+o+p+q+r+s) 

 £            118,646,643.78   £                   63,301,311.57   £          181,947,955.35  
Cost of CRR and PfE transport 
interventions (m) excluded as 
included in n 

u 30% Risk Factor/ Contingency (u x 0.3)  £               35,593,993.13   £                   18,990,393.47   £            54,584,386.60    

v 
Total Gross Indicative Minimum 
Infrastructure Costs (t+u) 

 £            154,240,636.91   £                   82,291,705.04   £          236,532,341.95    

Existing and Future (Known) Funding and Contributions and Apportionment (60% Residential Development and 40% Employment Development)  

Funding Source Residential Development  Employment Development  Total Contribution Notes 

w 
City Region Sustainable Transport 
Settlement 1 (CRSTS 1)  £                 7,560,000.00   £                      5,040,000.00   £            12,600,000.00  

Secured funding  

x Growth Deal 3 (TfGM) (GD3)  £                 3,600,000.00   £                      2,400,000.00   £              6,000,000.00  Secured funding  

y 
Housing Infrastructure Fund (Homes 
England) (HIF) 

 £                 1,000,000.00   £                                           -     £              1,000,000.00  

Secured funding. HIF only 
applicable to residential 
development.  

z Evergreen Funding  £                     162,000.00   £                         108,000.00   £                  270,000.00  Secured funding  



  

aa GMCA Brownfield Funding  £                     120,000.00   £                            80,000.00   £                  200,000.00  Secured funding  

ab 
Strategic Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) at 31/03/20223  £                     634,053.62   £                         422,702.42   £              1,056,756.04  

Secured funding  

ac 
S106 Infrastructure Contributions 
Secured/ Agreed at 31/03/2023  £                 2,967,624.00   £                      2,499,638.98   £              5,467,262.98  

Secured funding. Apportioned 
according to planning approvals 

ad 
Likely Future CIL Contributions 
(£50/sqm + CIL Indexation) 

 £               17,400,977.25   £                                           -     £            17,400,977.25  

Based on average residential 
development CIL charge of 
£50/sqm. Industry and 
warehousing not currently CIL 
chargeable 

ae 
Gross (Known) Financial Contributions 
Secured/ Likely to be Secured 
(w+x+y+z+aa+ab+ac+ad) 

 £               33,444,654.87   £                   10,550,341.40   £            43,994,996.27    

af 
Total Net Indicative Minimum 
Infrastructure Costs (v - ae)  £            120,795,982.04   £                   71,741,363.65   £          192,537,345.69    

ag Contribution Per Home (af/m)  £                       33,258.81   N/A      

ah 
Contribution Per sqm of Employment 
(af/ l)  N/A   £                                  346.80      

 

 



 

TRAFFORD COUNCIL 

Report to:   Planning and Development Management Committee 

Date:    15 February 2024 
Report for:    Decision 

Report of:  Head of Planning and Development  

 
 

Report Title 

Basford House (Stretford Memorial Hospital), 226 Seymour Grove, Manchester, 

M16 0DU: Making of immediate Article 4 direction to remove permitted 
development rights for the demolition of the building and the front boundary 
wall and gatepiers. 

 

Summary 

This report sets out the reasons behind the proposal to make an immediate Article 4 
Direction removing permitted development rights for the demolition of 226 Seymour 
Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers. This report seeks approval from the 

Committee to make the immediate Article 4 Direction including undertaking statutory 
consultation requirements. 

Recommendation 

That the Planning and Development Management Committee: 

(i) Resolve that the making of an immediate Direction pursuant to Article 4(1) of 

the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 to withdraw the permitted development rights to demolish Basford 

House, 226 Seymour Grove and its associated front boundary wall and 
gateposts is appropriate, and justified, as demolition of Basford House, 226 
Seymour Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers would be prejudicial 

to the proper planning of the area and constitutes a threat to the amenities of 
the area. 

(ii) Approve the making of the Article 4(1) Direction for Basford House, 226 
Seymour Grove Manchester, the extent of which is shown in Appendix 2. 

(iii) Delegate authority to the Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer to make the Article 4(1) Direction for the land at Basford House,226 
Seymour Grove, as shown on the plan attached at Appendix  1 and delegate 

to the Corporate Director of Place authority to carry out all necessary 
consultation following the making of the Direction, to notify the Secretary of 
State in accordance with statutory requirements and to take all other action 

considered necessary or expedient to give effect to the matters set out in this 
report. 

(iv) Confirm that the Article 4(1) Direction will be effective with immediate effect 
once made. 

(v) Delegate authority to the Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer to confirm the Direction in due course if there are no objections.  

Agenda Item 8



 

(vi) Request that subsequent planning applications involving the demolition of 
Basford House, 226 Seymour Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers 

and where the Article 4 Direction remains in force to be referred to the Planning 
and Development Management Committee for determination. 

 

Contact person for access to background papers and further information:  

Name:    Rebecca Coley    

Extension:   4788  

  

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

1.1 Stretford Memorial Hospital has been vacant for nine years and was disposed of 

by the Manchester NHS Foundation Trust in 2021. The making of an immediate 

Article 4 direction at Basford House has been prompted by ongoing discussions 

between the developer of the site and the local planning authority. There are no 

current planning applications pending consideration on this site.  

 

1.2 The 1.2 ha site is located between Northleigh Road / Basford Road to the west 

and Seymour Grove to the east but with a main frontage onto Seymour Grove. 

Extensive areas of the site are occupied by buildings predominately erected in 

20th century, with the exception of Basford House, and all were formerly in use 

by the Stretford Memorial Hospital. The site is accessed via Seymour Grove and 

retains two sets of original stone gatepiers and low stone wall, forming the 

eastern boundary. There are a number of mature trees, particularly around the 

periphery and the site is subject to a Tree Preservation Order - TPO 402 

‘Stretford Memorial Hospital’. The location of Basford House and its boundary 

wall and gateposts can be found in Appendix 2, a plan showing the extent of the 

whole of the Stretford Memorial Hospital site can be found in Appendix 3.  

1.3 Demolition is development permitted under Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 11 of the 

GPDO. This requires the applicant to apply to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) 

for a determination as to whether the prior approval of the authority is required 

as to the method of demolition and any proposed restoration of the site. The LPA 

is not able to object to the demolition of a building in principle through this 

process. 

1.4 Article 4 of the GPDO allows for an LPA to make a Direction that certain classes 

of development set out in this Order should not be carried out unless permission 

is granted for it on application to the LPA. An immediate Article 4 Direction can 

be made if the Council considers that the development would be prejudicial to 

the proper planning of the area or would constitute a threat to the amenities of 

the area. 



 

1.5 Schedule 3 of the GPDO sets out the procedure for the making of an Article 4 

Direction, including the requirement to publicise such a direction. 

1.6 It is the view of officers that the demolition of Basford House, 226 Seymour Grove 

and / or associated stone boundary wall and gate piers would be prejudicial to 

the proper planning of the area and constitutes a threat to the amenities of the 

area. The making of the Article 4 Direction is proposed only for Basford House 

and the associated stone boundary wall and gate piers. The Article 4 Direction 

will not be served on the remainder of the buildings on the site including the single 

storey extension to the west elevation of Basford House. Whilst there is some 

architectural and historic significance to the 1930s hospital additions this is 

considered low and not sufficient to justify including within the Article 4 Direction.  

1.7 It is therefore proposed to make a Direction with immediate effect under Article 

4 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended).  

1.8 The proposed Direction under Article 4 and Paragraph 2 of Schedule 3 of the 

GPDO will have the effect of withdrawing the permitted development rights 

conferred by the GPDO Class B & Class C of Part 11 of Schedule 2, relating to 

the demolition of the building, front boundary wall and gate piers.  The Direction 

will cease to have effect after six months unless confirmed by the Council during 

that period. Under Class B of Part 11 of Schedule 2, development is permitted 

for any building operation consisting of the demolition of a building. Under Class 

C development is permitted for any building operation consisting of the 

demolition of the whole or any part of any gate, fence, wall or other means of 

enclosure.  

1.9 The effect of the immediate Article 4 Direction is that the building, boundary wall 

and gate piers cannot be demolished unless a planning application is made and 

permission granted. 

2.0 JUSTIFICATION FOR IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 

2.1 Basford House (Stretford Memorial Hospital) is a former detached villa built in the 

mid-19th century.  The building is two storeys in height, constructed from red brick 

laid in a Flemish bond with painted stone dressings and classical detailing 

concentrated in particular on the principal (east) elevation. The former villa is 

elevated on a grassed embankment accessed by two flights of stone steps. The 

effect of this is to elevate the building, increasing its prominence in views from 

Seymour Grove.  

2.2 Basford House is not a listed building and is not located within a conservation 

area. Nevertheless, following investigation of the site and its history it is the view 

of officers that the property is a non-designated heritage asset in that it has a 



 

degree of heritage significance meriting consideration in planning decisions but 

does not meet the criteria for designated heritage assets (as confirmed by 

Historic England). The building was subsequently added to the draft List of Local 

Heritage Assets for Trafford on 16th May 2023.  

2.3 The significance of Basford House derives from the following: There is a good 

level of architectural integrity and survival of external historic fabric. The former 

villa was built in 1860 by Henry Beecroft Jackson a retired merchant and director 

of a plate glass factory. Designed in the Italianate style, Basford House was 

provides a splendid example of an early Victorian villa residence. It was lent to 

the Old Trafford Divisional Committee of the Red Cross Hospital Society as an 

auxiliary hospital during the First World War and opened with 20 beds on 28th 

October 1914. Trustees of Stretford War Memorial Public Nursing Service local 

trust acquired the building in 1925 and converted into a maternity hospital as a 

lasting memorial to soldiers who died in the First World War. Substantial 

additions were undertaken in the Interwar period thought to be by local architect, 

Percy Scott Worthington with further extensions in the late 20th century. The 

Hospital was closed between 1983 and 1985 before reopening as a geriatric 

hospital, although this closed in 2015. 

2.4  A low sandstone wall, shaped stone coping and two sets of corresponding solid 

stone gate piers with mature planting and spaciousness also contribute to the 

significance of the site and wider street scene fronting Seymour Grove.  The 

association with aviation pioneer Sir John William Alcock (b1892) and musician 

Andy Gibb (b1958) is also notable and contributes to the historic significance of 

the site.  

2.5  Historic England assessed the building in 2020 and confirmed although 

relatively   intact externally, the extent of internal alteration has compromised the 

integrity of the mid-C19 design therefore in a national context the design does 

not demonstrate exceptional quality or innovation for the period. Nevertheless, it 

was confirmed this “should not be taken to undermine the building’s clear interest 

in a more local context”. 

2.6  The demolition of the building would lead to the total loss of its significance. It is 

therefore the view of officers that the demolition of Basford House would be 

prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitutes a threat to the 

amenities of the area and as such a planning application should be required to 

assess any proposal for demolition in full. 

3.0 USE OF AN IMMEDIATE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 

3.1 An Article 4 Direction can be used to remove specific permitted development 

rights from all or part of a local authority’s area. It does not restrict development 

altogether but means that planning permission is required. The proposed Article 



 

4 Direction does not seek to prevent any demolition, rather it seeks to ensure 

that any demolition is thoroughly assessed against the Development Plan and 

the future redevelopment of this site is managed to take account of and with a 

full understanding of the significance of the existing property. Should an 

application come forward to redevelop the site it would allow for a proper survey 

of the property and assessment of the most significant elements to assist in 

understanding to what extent the existing buildings could or should be retained 

and converted. There clearly needs to be a future viable use for this building and 

site and the Article 4 Direction will not prevent the Local Planning Authority from 

taking a pragmatic and balanced view but with all the necessary information 

available to it.  

 

3.2 Paragraph 53 of the NPPF states that “The use of Article 4 directions to remove 

national permitted development rights should be limited to situations where this 

is necessary to protect local amenity or the well-being of the area (this could 

include the use of Article 4 directions to require planning permission for the 

demolition of local facilities). Similarly, planning conditions should not be used to 

restrict national permitted development rights unless there is clear justification to 

do so.” 

 

3.3 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that “The use of article 4 directions to 

remove national permitted development rights should be limited to situations 

where this is necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the area. The 

potential harm that the direction is intended to address will need to be clearly 

identified, and there will need to be a particularly strong justification for the 

withdrawal of permitted development rights relating to:” … cases where prior 

approval powers are available to control permitted development”. 

 

3.4 In relation to immediate Article 4 Directions, the PPG states “The circumstances 

in which an immediate direction can restrict development are limited. Immediate 

directions can be made in relation to development permitted by Parts 1 to 4 and 

11 of Schedule 2 to the General Permitted Development Order, where the 

development presents an immediate threat to local amenity or prejudices the 

proper planning of an area.” 

 

3.5 PPG also states that “If a local planning authority makes an article 4 direction, it 

can be liable to pay compensation to those whose permitted development rights 

have been withdrawn, but only if it then subsequently: 

 refuses planning permission for development which would otherwise have been 

permitted development; or 

 grants planning permission subject to more limiting conditions than the General 

Permitted Development Order. 



 

The grounds on which compensation can be claimed are limited to abortive 

expenditure or other loss or damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of 

permitted development rights.” 

3.6 Article 4 Directions can be either immediate or non-immediate. A non-immediate 

Direction requires the local planning authority to serve notice by way of a local 

advertisement, site notice and by writing to the owner and occupier of the land. 

The site notices must be in place for a period of not less than 6 weeks.  

3.7 An immediate Article 4 Direction can be issued by the Planning and Development 

Management Committee and will take effect straight away. This will immediately 

remove the permitted development rights relating to demolition at Basford House 

and will last for a 6 month period before which the Direction will either expire or 

be confirmed. A draft Direction can be found in Appendix 1.  

3.8 Following an immediate Article 4 Direction, the Council is required to give notice 

of the decision by way of local advertisement, site notice and by serving notice 

to owners and occupiers of the land. The Direction must also be referred to the 

Secretary of State. After a period of 28 days, and no longer than 6 months, the 

Council decides whether to go ahead and confirm the Direction, taking into 

account any representations which have been received and depending on the 

outcome the Council can confirm the Direction to permanently withdraw the 

permitted development right. 

3.9 The issue of compensation is considered further in sections 6.0 and 7.0 below. 

3.10 There is no formal right of appeal against the making of an immediate Article 4 

Direction.   However, the owner or proposed developer of a building the subject 

of an Article 4 Direction may apply for planning permission for its demolition. If, 

following the making of an immediate Article 4 Direction, such an application was 

made it would have to be considered by the Council in the proper manner. 

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS 

4.1 Option 1- Do nothing 

Basford House could be lost from the Seymour Grove street-scene without full 

consideration to the impact this would have on the character and appearance of 

the area. 

4.2 Option 2- Make a non-immediate  Article 4 Direction 

A non-immediate Direction could be made which, if it comes into force 12 months 

after the Direction being issued, would remove the possibility of paying 

compensation. However, a further demolition notification may be submitted, 

which could address the reasons for refusal.  In this circumstance, it would be 



 

likely that Basford House would be demolished within the intervening 12 months 

with the visual and heritage harm that that would entail. 

4.3 Option 3 – Make an Article 4 Direction only in relation to either the house or the 

front boundary wall and gatepiers. 

Both are considered to have architectural and historic significance and clear 

interest in the local context. 

4.4 Option 4 – Make an Article 4 Direction that covers all the buildings currently on 

site.  

This is considered disproportionate and may have implications for finding a future 

viable use for Basford House. 

5.0 CONSULTATION 

5.1 Consultation has been carried out with the LPA’s Heritage & Urban Design 

Manager for the purpose of providing evidence for this report. 

5.2 Consultation is required to be carried out with the owners and occupiers of 

Basford House, 226 Seymour Grove in line with the regulations set out in the 

GPDO. 

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There is no statutory appeal against the making of an Article 4 Direction. 

However, such a decision would be open to challenge by way of judicial review. 

In order to make an Article 4 Direction, the LPA must be satisfied that it is 

expedient that the permitted change of use should not be carried out unless 

permission is granted for it (see Article 4(1)). In making any such decision, it is 

important that the LPA takes into account all relevant guidance. Overall, provided 

that a LPA takes into account all relevant considerations, and applies the correct 

test, it is unlikely there would be a successful judicial review of an Article 4 

direction.  

6.2 Section 108 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 includes a provision that 

compensation can be sought where (i) the LPA makes an Article 4 Direction, (ii) 

an application is made for planning permission to carry out development that 

would formerly have been permitted by the GPDO and (iii) the LPA refuses that 

application or grants permission subject to conditions differing from those in the 

GPDO. 

6.3 However, where 12 months’ notice is given in advance of a Direction taking effect 

there will be no liability to pay compensation (provided that the development 

authorised by the new changes had not started before the notice was published). 



 

Where Directions are made with immediate effect or less than 12 months’ notice, 

compensation will only be payable in relation to planning applications which are 

submitted within 12 months of the effective date of the Direction and which are 

subsequently refused or where permission is granted subject to conditions. 

6.4 Compensation may only be claimed for abortive expenditure or other loss or 

damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of permitted development rights. 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The preparation of the Article 4 Direction can be undertaken using existing officer 

resource. 

7.2 A claim for compensation can only arise if a subsequent planning application for 

demolition is refused. The level of compensation would be a material 

consideration in the determination of a subsequent planning application and so 

is an issue that would be considered at that point. There is no direct risk of 

compensation from the issuing of an immediate Article 4 Direction alone. It is 

therefore recommended that future planning applications for the demolition of 

Basford House, 226 Seymour Grove be referred back to the Committee to allow 

appropriate oversight of this issue. 

7.3 Any future report to the Committee in association with a relevant planning 

application would set out the level of compensation likely to be payable, 

underpinned by specialist advice from the Council’s Development and Estates 

Service. Members will be able to take this information into account in the 

determination of that application.  

8.0 HUMAN RIGHTS AND EQUALITIES 

8.1 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 requires public authorities to act in a 

way that is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. Various 

Rights may be relevant to this direction including Article 1 (protection of property) 

and Article 8 (Right to respect for a private and family life). The European Court 

has recognised that “regard must be had to the fair balance that has to be struck 

between the competing interests of the individual and of the community as a 

whole”. Any interference must be necessary and proportionate. 

8.2 The rights of the individual have been considered against the wider public interest 

and it is determined that the Articles will not be triggered. 

8.3 The Local Planning Authority has had regard to the provisions of the Equality Act 

2010 in making this recommendation. The issuing of an Article 4 Direction would 

not have an adverse impact on protected groups. 

9.0    RECOMMENDATIONS 



 

That the Planning and Development Management Committee: 

(i) Resolve that the making of an immediate Direction pursuant to Article 4(1) of the 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 

2015 to withdraw the permitted development rights to demolish Basford House, 

226 Seymour Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers is appropriate, 

and justified, as demolition of Basford House and the front boundary wall and 

gatepiers would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitutes 

a threat to the amenities of the area. 

(ii) Approve the making of the Article 4(1) Direction for Basford House, 226 Seymour 

Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers the extent of which is shown in 

Appendix 2. 

(iii) Delegate authority to the Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer to make the Article 4(1) Direction for the land at Basford House, 226 

Seymour Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers shown on the plan 

attached at Appendix  1 and delegate to the Corporate Director of Place authority 

to carry out all necessary consultation following the making of the Direction, to 

notify the Secretary of State in accordance with statutory requirements and to 

take all other action considered necessary or expedient to give effect to the 

matters set out in this report. 

(iv) Confirm that the Article 4(1) Direction will be effective with immediate effect once 

made. 

(v) Delegate authority to the Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring 

Officer to confirm the Direction in due course if there are no objections.  

(vi) Request that subsequent planning applications involving the demolition of 

Basford House, 226 Seymour Grove and the front boundary wall and gatepiers 

and where the Article 4 Direction remains in force to be referred to the Planning 

and Development Management Committee for determination. 

Background Papers 

None. 

  



 

APPENDIX 1 

DRAFT ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 

  



 

 
 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) 

ORDER 2015, AS AMENDED  
 

DIRECTION MADE UNDER ARTICLE 4(1) TO WHICH PARAGRAPH 2 OF 
SCHEDULE 3 APPLIES 
 

Basford House (Stretford Memorial Hospital), 226 Seymour Grove, Manchester, 
M16 0DU 

 
WHEREAS Trafford Borough Council being the appropriate Local Planning 
Authority within the meaning of Article 4(5) of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015, as amended, are satisfied that it 
is expedient that development of the description(s) set out in the Schedule 

below should not be carried out on the land shown edged in red on the attached 
plan, unless planning permission is granted on an application made under Part 
III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended.  

 
NOW THEREFORE the said Council in pursuance of the power conferred on 

them by Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015, as amended, hereby direct that the permission 
granted by Article 3 of the said Order shall not apply to development on the said 

land of the description(s) set out in the Schedule below.  
 

THIS DIRECTION is made under Article 4(1) of the said Order and, in accordance 
with Paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 3, shall remain in force until 
……………………(insert date) (being six months from the date of this direction) 

and shall then expire unless it has been confirmed by the appropriate Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with Paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 before the end 

of the six month period.  
 
SCHEDULE 

 
Any building operation consisting of the demolition of a building being 

development comprised within Class B & Class C of Part 11 of Schedule 2 to the 
said Order and not being development comprised within any other Class.   
 

1. Made under the Common Seal of Trafford Borough Council  
this ……………..day of…………….2024 

The Common Seal of the Council was affixed to this Direction in the presence 
of .………………………................................  
Authorised Signatory 

 
2. Confirmed under the Common Seal of Trafford Borough Council 

this ……………..day of…………….2024  



 

The Common Seal of the Council was affixed to this Direction in the presence 
of .………………………................................  

Authorised Signatory  
  



 

APPENDIX 2 

ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION PLAN BOUNDARY 

Basford House (Stretford Memorial Hospital), 226 Seymour Grove, 

Manchester, M16 0DU 

 

  



 

APPENDIX 3 

 

SITE BOUNDARY 

Basford House (Stretford Memorial Hospital), 226 Seymour Grove, 

Manchester, M16 0DU 

 



E

1

2

3

6

4

7

8 8a

1a

17
15

25
94

1b

11

28.9m

245

166
168

243
239

255
253

251
247

N
O

R
T

H
L

E
IG

H
 R

O
A

D

Rixton Court

ABBEY LAWN

2 to
 8

Stretford Memorial Hospital

10 to 32 Shelter

1

Shelter

2

1

3

6

1

1

17

15

9

226

Y
M

O
U

R
 G

R
O

V
E

1 to 36
W

ard
 B

d
y

S
W

O
R

T
H

 R
O

A
D

WELNEY ROAD

El Sub Sta

B
A

S
F

O
R

D
 

2

2

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

Stretford Memorial Hospital, Stretford 

 

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date - 15/02/24

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)



This page is intentionally left blank



E

E

E2

1

4

317

84

15

14

12

57

24

19
21

32

28.9m

28.8m

245
257

232

243
239

255
253

251
247

2 to
 8

Shelter

1

2

2

1

28.9m

7

15
2526

94

28

11

226

N
O

R
T

H
L

E
IG

H
 R

O
A

D

Rixton Court

ABBEY LAWN

Stretford Memorial Hospital

1 to 36

10 to 32

El Sub Sta

1

17

Shelter

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller 
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or 
civil proceedings.

Scale:

Stretford Memorial Hospital 

Not Set

1:1,250

Organisation
Department
Comments

Date

MSA Number

Planning Service
Committee date 15/02/2024

Trafford Council

05/02/2024

AC0000809316 (2022)



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	6 APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION TO DEVELOP ETC
	Agenda Item 6 - Applications for permission to develop etc
	107465D
	107465P
	111866D
	111866P
	111870D
	111870P
	112142D
	112142P
	112242D
	112242P
	112327D
	112327P
	112334D
	112334P


	7 INFRASTRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENT IN NEW CARRINGTON - DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS
	8 PROPOSED ARTICLE 4(1) DIRECTION - FORMER STRETFORD MEMORIAL HOSPITAL / BASFORD HOUSE, SEYMOUR GROVE, OLD TRAFFORD
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 2
	Agenda Item 8 - Appendix 3




